


Founded in Middlebury, Indiana in 1964, Coachmen Industries, Inc. is one of America’s leading manufacturers of

recreational vehicles (RVs), systems-built homes and multi-family residential structures. Coachmen Industries’

stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker COA.

The Coachmen RV Group produces a complete line of RVs, including Class A and Class C motorhomes, fifth wheels,

travel trailers and folding camping trailers at its manufacturing facilities in Indiana, Georgia and Michigan. The RV Group

markets its products through a network of independent dealers throughout the United States and Canada. 

The Coachmen Housing Group produces an

array of systems-built structures. All American

Homes, LLC is one of the nation’s largest

builders of systems-built homes. Mod-U-Kraf

is a major regional builder in the Southeast.

All American Building Systems, LLC builds

apartments, condominiums, dormitories and

military housing. The Housing Group's manufacturing

facilities are located in Colorado, Indiana, Iowa,

North Carolina and Virginia.

Corporate Profile
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SUMMARY OF SALES
(dollars in millions)

2007 % 2006 % 2005 % 2004 % 2003 % 2002 %

Recreational Vehicles

Motorhomes $235.9 49.1 $266.2 47.2 $350.9 50.0 $421.3 52.5 $303.6 47.7 $262.8 45.1

Travel Trailers and Fifth Wheels 106.8 22.2 118.4 21.0 149.3 21.2 143.3 17.9 135.1 21.2 118.6 20.3

Camping Trailers 13.6 2.8 13.6 2.4 15.1 2.1 22.8 2.8 17.5 2.7 21.6 3.7

Parts and Supplies 5.3 1.1 6.5 1.1 6.9 1.0 6.4 0.8 5.5 0.9 5.1 0.9

361.6 75.2 404.7 71.7 522.2 74.3 593.8 74.0 461.7 72.5 408.1 70.0

Modular Housing and Buildings 119.2 24.8 159.7 28.3 180.2 25.7 208.6 26.0 175.2 27.5 174.8 30.0

Total $480.8 100.4 $564.4 100.4 $702.4 100.0 $802.4 100.0 $636.9 100.0 $582.9 100.0

The summary of sales has been restated to reflect continuing operations only.

HIGHLIGHTS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $480,840 $564,382 $702,425 $802,346 $636,891 $582,921

Gross profit 12,717 49,421 55,960 112,826 92,395 88,585

Net income (loss) (38,752) (31,805) (26,350) 15,334 7,365 9,929

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic (2.46) (2.03) (1.69) 0.99 0.48 0.62

Diluted (2.46) (2.03) (1.69) 0.99 0.48 0.62

Working capital (1) 25,336 62,784 93,308 121,312 95,963 93,574

Total assets 207,668 243,134 322,816 357,723 310,688 293,195

Long-term debt 3,010 3,862 12,913 14,943 9,419 10,097

Shareholders’ equity 121,133 160,331 193,803 224,418 211,151 209,426

Book value per share 7.70 10.20 12.30 14.27 13.58 13.37

Number of employees 2,305 2,655 3,677 4,416 4,490 4,233

Net sales and gross profit have been restated to reflect continuing operations only.
(1) Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities.

COMMON STOCK DATA
High and Low Sales Prices Dividends Declared

2007 2006 2005 2004 2007 2006 2005 2004

1st Quarter $11.74 - $10.53 $13.28 - $10.71 $17.49 - $13.46 $20.19 - $14.92 $0.03 $0.06 $0.06 $0.06

2nd Quarter $11.20 - $  9.66 $11.95 - $10.30 $14.11 - $11.22 $18.01 - $13.70 $0.03 $0.06 $0.06 $0.06

3rd Quarter $ 9.76 - $  6.35 $12.16 - $ 8.90 $14.50 - $11.23 $16.54 - $13.22 $ - $0.03 $0.06 $0.06

4th Quarter $ 7.02 - $  5.00 $12.90 - $10.09 $12.63 - $10.76 $17.99 - $13.70 $ - $0.03 $0.06 $0.06

The Company’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange: symbol COA . The number of shareholders of record as of January 31, 2008 was 1,728.
The total number of common shares issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2008 was 15.8 million.
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Shareholders’ Message

Fellow Shareholders

The charts on the previous pages

present a disturbing pattern of declining

sales and earnings since 2004. In last

year’s report, I used the image of the

Pathfinder® motorcoach and a jagged,

surf pounded coastline as metaphors

for the challenges facing the new

management team at it assumed the

helm. Despite this pattern and dreadful

business conditions, we had to define a

new direction. We did it. At Coachmen,

2007 was a year of intense change and

radical cost adjustment.

Business conditions did not improve in

2007. To the contrary, they deteriorated,

even worse than projected, in both of our

business segments. Overall, single-family

housing starts were down 29% after

“only” being down 15% in 2006;

December over December, new home

sales dropped a staggering 41%, and

in terms of months supply, new home

inventory increased by 55%! Family

home values actually decreased for the

first time since the Great Depression.

RV markets also continued their

contraction. Motorized wholesale

shipments overall have fallen 25% since

2004, with Class A’s down 29%. In 2007,

towables joined the trend, falling 11%

from 2006. If conditions were dreadful in

2006, they were abysmal in 2007 – and

we turned in a significant loss for the

third consecutive year.

However, as we outlined in several

conference calls during the year,

Coachmen remains financially sound and

emerged from 2007 bruised and battered,

but changed – actually stronger – and

in much better condition to prosper in

these business conditions.

We exercised the discipline to steadily

make operational improvements

throughout the year. Although at times

we felt as if we were caught in a

whirlpool pulling us to the bottom,

in the end we put a floor under the

business by drastically cutting our costs

of operations. Through a combination

of strategic sourcing, staff reductions,

product standardization, process

simplification, focus on SG&A, product

repricing, and production consolidation,

we reduced the break even point of our
2



Mirada…changing the game with

one-of-a-kind appeal, yacht styling,

practical innovations, and thoughtful

living amenities.
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RV Group by over 50%, to approximately

$350 million per year. This required

many very difficult decisions affecting

vendors, employees and facilities. It is

truly a remarkable achievement,

particularly while coping with this

business environment.

In late 2006, faced with declining market

share caused principally by a significant

warranty issue related to our sidewalls,

we changed the focus of the RV Group

with a new vision that emphasizes quality,

practical innovation and advanced

design. Throughout 2007, we executed

through the filter of that vision. Our new

product lineup barely resembles our

2005 products. Our quality now leads

the industry, as evidenced by an

extraordinary 31% improvement in our

internal quality metrics, consecutive near

perfect RVIA compliance audits at all our

manufacturing plants, a near perfect

score in our Ford QVM audit, and,

at the bottom line, a massive 29%

reduction in warranty costs as a

percent of sales. We introduced over 30

new products in 2007, and garnered an

incredible 4 of the 12 “must sees” at

the Louisville RV Show from among

over 100 manufacturers with more

than 1,000 units on display. We created a

new “look” for Coachmen RV’s with

the yacht styling of the Leprechaun®

and Prism™ Class C’s, and fulfilled the

commitment to practical innovation

with industry firsts in the laminated

sidewall aluminum cage construction of

our entry-level Spirit of America trailer,

the “Murphy” bed “dual living space”

Mirada™, and the rear wall slide Class C.

The market responded. We finished the

year with substantial retail market share

gains in Class C’s, Travel Trailers, and

5th Wheels, and wholesale market share

gains in Camping Trailers, reflecting the

recovery of dealer shelf space lost during

the lift system issues of 2005-2006.

In down markets, the name of the game

is market share, and we’re winning that

game. Nevertheless, the fact that we

increased market share while top line

sales declined says volumes about the

condition of the RV markets in 2007.



Shareholders’ Message continued

On the housing side, we also out

performed the market. While housing

starts were down 29%, our sales

were down “only” 25%. This is directly

attributable to the time we spent

during the first part of the year

molding our new management team,

and developing and articulating a new

vision for housing. Essential to that

vision is the transformation of major

projects from a “red-headed stepchild”

into an integral part of our business

strategy. We performed impeccably

on our first major barracks projects

at Fort Bliss, Texas, which directly led

to a much larger project at Fort

Carson, Colorado, which we began

building in December 2007 and

started shipping this January. 

We also applied our principles of

product standardization, process

simplification, strategic sourcing, and

improved capacity utilization to the

Housing Group, which resulted in

the closure of the Ohio plant in the

4th quarter, a reduction of 70% in

the floorplans we offer, and projected

sourcing savings of more than 

$1 million, net of inflation.

We also launched several initiatives

that are extremely important for our

future in the housing industry. First, we

are selling directly to the homebuyer

in selected venues where we do not

have strong builder representation,

with two “home stores” offering

turn-key houses at Mod-U-Kraf and

at All American Homes of Indiana.

At Grey Hawk, we are also introducing

high-end modular homes to the long

ignored subdivision sector, where 80%

of overall housing sales occur. Second,

we are proactively improving the

quality of our builder network, which

for years has been the envy of the

industry. We have vigorously reviewed,

screened and upgraded our builders,

swapping out and adding over 50

qualified builders in 2007. Third, we

are going to market in entirely new

ways. We are touting the very real

eco-friendly advantages of modular

construction over traditional site-built

construction, as evidenced by our

own green catalog and building a

Michelle Kaufmann designed home to

be displayed in a high-profile location

at the Museum of Science & Industry

in Chicago. Compared to site-built,

modular construction offers more

quality control, less waste as well as

4

The Fort Bliss barracks were built to a LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design) silver-level certification.
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fewer emissions, more predictable cost,

less disruption to the neighborhood and

usually much shorter time to occupancy –

and we are telling our customers about

these advantages. For the first time,

we are using television advertising in

selected markets, as part of a multi-media

advertising campaign to get our message

across. These steps will help our builders

increase their sales while creating an

entirely new image for our housing brands.

On both sides of our business, we

have rediscovered and emphasized our

brands. Some believe houses and RVs

are commodities, where brands have

no value; I don’t. If you can brand the

ultimate commodity, water, you can

brand an RV and a home. “Coachmen”

and “All American” are two of the

strongest brands in

their respective

industries.

Rebuilding

our reputation

for RV quality, 

innovation and design,

and “greening” our

image with sustainable construction

technologies, are part of the ground

work laid in 2007 for exploiting our

brand advantages in 2008.

There is no denying

that we lost money in

2007. But beneath the

surface of the sea of red

ink, our direction really was up.

Trying to change course in heavy seas

risks disaster, swamping the boat.

Sailors know that when a ship enters

stormy weather, the safest course is to

stay the course – but we did not have

a choice: we had to alter our course.

Ship Coachmen definitely took on

water in 2007, but we emerged turned

in a new direction.

The adverse business conditions

that plagued us in 2007 have not

abated in 2008. The housing market

is the worst it has been in decades,

and the latest RVIA forecast implies

a fourth consecutive RV shipment

decline in 2008, the longest decline

on record. Significant recovery appears

unlikely until 2009 at the earliest.

Simply put, it's brutal out there.

However, the Coachmen RV Group

enters 2008 with a new product

line-up, a unique new product look,

a reinvigorated brand, and drastically

reduced costs of operations.

The Coachmen Housing

Group enters 2008 with

several major projects

already underway, improved

costs of operations, a stronger builder

network, and entirely new approaches

to the market. Our task is now to

execute on our 2008 plan. Regardless

of market conditions and economic

downturn, our mission is to regain

profitability in 2008.

Sincerely,

Richard M. Lavers
President & Chief Executive Officer

“Rebuilding our reputation for RV quality, innovation and 
design, and ‘greening’ our image with sustainable construction 

technologies, are part of the ground work laid in 2007 for 
exploiting our brand advantages in 2008.”



Recreational Vehicle Group

The Recreational Vehicle Group faced

another difficult year in 2007. However,

we underwent a transformation that has

created the basis for a very different

future. We accomplished many of our

goals for the year, including significantly

improving our product quality, introducing

a number of innovative, market-leading

products and floorplans, consolidating

production facilities and enhancing

capacity utilization, and perhaps most

importantly, reducing the RV Group’s

break even point by more than half to

$350 million. It is important to note that

the reduction in the RV Group’s break

even did not come solely from cuts and

reductions, but rather from a strategic

combination of reductions, investments,

process enhancements and organizational

streamlining. In our marketing efforts we

launched new advertising and even

refreshed our iconic image of “Pete” the

Coachmen Dalmatian, showing that you

really can teach an old dog new tricks.

It was also another difficult year for the

industry, affecting both motorized and

towable products. The RV Group’s sales

fell 11% to $362 million, resulting in a

pre-tax loss of $33.9 million. However,

these numbers obscure the real story

of 2007 for the RV Group.At the

gross profit line, we turned

in results that were only

$0.4 million lower than 2006, even in

the face of a $43 million, or an eleven

percent decrease in revenues. While RV

operating expenses increased to $33.8

million from $25.7 million last year, this

was primarily due to the impact of

several non-recurring items. Specifically,

in 2006 we had a legal recovery of

approximately $3.6 million which

served to reduce operating expenses.

In addition, in 2007, we had a goodwill

impairment of $3.9 million and 

consulting fees associated with our

strategic sourcing efforts of about

$0.8 million, all of which served to

inflate 2007 operating expenses by

$4.7 million. The total effect of

these items represents an $8.3

million swing year-over-year.
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Motorhomes - $235.9 million

Travel Trailers/5th Wheels - $106.8 million

Camping Trailers - $13.6 million

2007 RV GROUP 
REVENUES by PRODUCT TYPE

TEACHING AN OLD DOG NEW TRICKS



Easy to drive and easy on the pump…Prism is truly inspired

style with a host of exclusive easy-living features. An estimated

17-19 miles per gallon is just icing on the cake.

7

The RV Group’s pre-tax loss increased

to $33.9 million for 2007, compared

with a loss of $25.4 million the prior

year. After adjusting for the non-

recurring items adversely affecting the

year-over-year comparison, the pretax

profit performance was relatively flat

on 11% lower sales.

ACTIONS AND RESULTS

We were not profitable in 2007, and

this is not acceptable to any of us.

In 2007, we accomplished many goals

that provide a foundation for our

return to profitability. Many of the

actions we took to increase capacity

utilization and reduce operating

expenses were not completed until

late in the year, so these effects will

be recognized in 2008. Last year, 

we wrote of the renewed focus on

the quality of our products including

new incentive programs for our

production team and new quality

metrics. In 2007, the quality of our

product radically improved and now

leads the Industry. Our quality metrics

reflect an improvement of 31% for

the year, since the implementation of

our new quality program. These

improvements in quality have been

validated by sources outside of the

RV Group. As part of our RVIA

membership requirement, we are

subject to several random audits in

a year’s time. RVIA inspectors show

up unannounced with a checklist of

over 850 specific code requirements,

and any code requirement not met by

the recreational vehicle manufacturer

receives a deviation listing. In 2007,

our average points per audit have

improved by 71% when compared to

the 2006 average. Ford also conducts

an annual audit to ensure manufacturers

are meeting the requirements of the

Ford Quality Program. For this year’s

audit, Coachmen easily surpassed

Ford’s qualifying score with 104 out

of 105 total points (over 99% of the

maximum possible). This was our

highest Ford QVM score ever! 

As reported in the overall assessment

from the Ford Inspection Leader,

“It is clear that Coachmen’s approach

to Ford’s QVM program, and quality

in general, is positive, dynamic and it

is getting results.”

This concentration on quality, along

with tighter controls around our

warranty administration, has resulted

in steadily reduced warranty expense

over the last year. Additionally, our

warranty experience has benefited

from the decline of the warranty

claims related to the sidewalls on our

RVs. This decline has been steadily

occurring since a vendor change was

made in the first quarter of 2006. 



Recreat ional  Vehic le  Group continued

Total Warranty Expense in 2007 was

$15.5 million compared to $19.1

million in 2006. More impressive is that

total warranty expense in the second

six months of 2007 was $5.5 million

compared to $10 million in the first

six months of 2007. As a percent of

sales, our warranty dropped each

consecutive quarter throughout 2007

from a high of 5.1% in the first quarter

to 3.6% in the fourth quarter.

In 2007, we fully implemented our new

product development process. Our newly

established advanced design team, in

conjunction with our product specific

engineering teams, worked hard to

develop innovative new designs and

features for our 2008 and 2009 model

year products.That hard work paid off

at the RVIA National Trade Show in

Louisville last November. Our new

product offerings captured 4 of the 12

“must see products” identified out of

over a thousand units on display at the

show. Some of the highlights include:

The new Prism Class C, a touring coach

built on the Freightliner Sprinter™

chassis features an interior design with

smooth flowing lines and contemporary

décor. The new chassis includes a diesel

power train boasting an estimated fuel

economy up to 19 miles per gallon on the

highway, which is important from both an

economical and ecological standpoint.

Our new Mirada floorplan includes a rear

living room/bedroom with a fold-down

“Murphy” bed that converts to a second

living area, maximizing usable space in the

coach, all while emphasizing contemporary

interior décor.

We introduced an exciting new

Leprechaun Class C motorhome with an

interior design inspired by the marine

industry. This modern design features a

number of new space-saving ideas

including a bedroom television hidden in

the vanity. Push on the vanity top and the

LCD TV automatically rises.

Our newly re-engineered Spirit of America®

entry-level travel trailer line now has

laminated sidewalls with an aluminum

cage construction, providing high line

features and reduced weight, all at an

entry-level price point.

We continued to develop new, innovative

floorplans and features for our Adrenaline®

sport utility trailer product lines, which

increased total shipments by 426% in

2007 versus 2006.

After tremendous effort and expense, we

have finally begun to repair the damage

to our market share caused principally by

warranty and quality related concerns

related to the sidewalls on our RVs. 

The efforts we made in product design and

quality paid dividends in growing market

share in a number of product categories,

even in the face of an overall decline in

industry shipments.At wholesale, our

market share increased in Class C

motorhomes and Camping Trailers.

Fifth Wheel share was flat, but we

experienced decreased share in travel

trailers and Class A motorhomes. At retail,

we gained significant market share in

Class C motorhomes, Travel Trailers and

Fifth Wheels, but lost ground in Class A

motorhomes and Camping Trailers.

Turning to our cost structure, our

strategic sourcing team has done a

stellar job in driving our improved margins,

and reduced break even through our

strategic sourcing project, which began

in early 2007. We have been successful

in reducing our SKU’s by 29% through

standardization and accomplishing supplier

consolidation of 29%, both of which 
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Motorhomes – 3,544

Travel Trailers/5th Wheels – 6,267

Camping Trailers – 2,647

2007 RV GROUP SALES 
UNITS by PRODUCT TYPE

Adrenaline…Get going! Ramp up for a
weekend of racing. Take on the trails.
Fuel your passion for the perfect ride.
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Class C Motorhome – $65,000 - $103,300 Class A Gas Motorhome – $100,800 - $136,500 Class A Diesel Motorhome – $161,000 - $277,000

Camping Trailer – $5,100 - $14,900 Sport Utility Trailer – $12,900 - $48,900 Travel Trailer – $11,100 - $24,150

Re-engineered…Spirit of America is taking entry-level travel

trailers in a whole new direction with premium vacuum-bond

laminated sidewalls at conventional prices. A longer lasting,

easier to clean, and better looking trailer at a similar price.

Coachmen’s RV Group Produces the Most Popular RV types at a Range of Affordable Prices (base retail prices)

assist us in managing our spend much

more efficiently. Despite inflationary

pressures on certain key components

and materials, we generated meaningful

material cost reductions over the last

6 months of 2007 that will carry forward

throughout 2008.

One of the key drivers to our operating

losses has been the unfavorable operating

leverage due to lower sales and production

volumes. To address this, we executed a

large-scale consolidation of our assembly

and support plants. We consolidated all

Class A production into one plant and all

Travel Trailer production for our Indiana

facilities into one plant. In addition, we

consolidated two of our support plants

on our north Middlebury complex to

our primary Middlebury complex and

moved our paint operation in Elkhart

to Middlebury, selling the Elkhart paint

facility. We also significantly downsized

our West Coast service center and

subleased the 65,000 square-foot plant

we were operating. These actions

have improved our overall capacity

utilization to approximately 70% from

the prior utilization of less than 50%.

A TIME FOR EXECUTION

Coachmen remains one of the most

recognized and respected names in the

RV industry, and with the efforts we’ve

made on product design and quality, our

brands will remain a key to our strength.

Even though 2007 was another challenging

year for the RV Group, as we enter 2008,

our team is energized and committed to

reaching our ultimate goal of profitability.

Over the past year, we made significant

progress and accomplished many of our

goals, establishing a solid foundation for

2008. We reduced the RV Group’s break

even by more than half to approximately

$350 million and we will continue to

reduce operating costs and maintain the

improvements we’ve achieved in our

operating cost structure. Certainly we will

continue to face significant challenges,

as the RV market continues to contract

and we encounter broader economic

headwinds. Despite these challenges, our

overriding goal is to achieve profitability

for the RV Group and every member of

our team is committed to achieving that

goal. The time for simply making progress

has ended, now is the time for executing

our plans and achieving profitability.

Step up to the diesel club…Cross Country
provides the benefits of a diesel coach at a
price comparable to many gas motorhomes.

The perfect fifth wheel for today’s trucks.
Chaparral™ is loaded with thoughtful,
easy-living amenities for over-the-road
comfort and convenience.

Sincerely,

Michael R. Terlep, Jr.
President

Coachmen RV Group

Fifth Wheel – $27,100 - $50,400



Housing Group

PROVIDING A PLACE TO LIVE
Shelter is a common need for every

American, a fundamental requirement

for a place to call home. Whether a

traditional single-family home, a college

dormitory room, a hotel room while

traveling, modern living space for

America’s heroes, or a place to retire

comfortably, our business comes down to

a simple proposition of providing quality

homes to our customers at a cost and

speed that exceed their expectations.

For individual families, our homes offer

shorter building times, faster occupancy,

and a sturdier, higher quality construction

than traditional site-built homes. For

the developer of larger residential 

projects, systems-built structures offer

extraordinary flexibility, and quicker

occupancy which translates into lower

overall construction costs and a revenue

stream that comes on line much sooner.

THE BURSTING OF THE BUBBLE

The “Housing Bubble” officially burst

in 2007, with significant declines in new

home construction and falling home

prices culminating with the credit

crunch that took the markets by storm

in the third quarter. The weakness in

housing affected all areas of the

country, from the Midwest, where we

have been dealing with a downturn in

housing for three years, to the

Southeast and Middle Atlantic regions

which had previously experienced

rather robust markets. This weakness

put considerable strain on our business,

from our regional production hubs to

our network of independent builders,

to individual consumers.

Given the worst housing market in over

25 years, it’s no surprise that our results

were nothing to write home about.

For the full year, Housing Group revenues

fell 25% to $119 million. As dismal as

this decline in sales was, it compared

favorably to the 29% decline in overall

single-family housing starts as reported

by the U.S. Census Bureau. With the

sizable fall in revenues, the Housing

Group generated a pre-tax loss of $7.4

million, due in large part to under-

utilization of all our plants, which we

have addressed through the consolidation

of our Ohio facility into the Indiana

facility in the fourth quarter as well as

the addition of major projects.

SHORING UP THE FOUNDATION

We are faced with the choice of waiting

for the market to improve, which is

really no option at all, or taking the

actions necessary to ensure the success

of our Housing Group regardless of

market conditions. We have chosen to

take the bold steps needed to ensure

our own success. Our strategic sourcing

efforts will save over $1 million at 2007

purchasing levels; increasing our

purchasing volume, as our marketing

efforts begin to show results, will only

increase our incremental savings. We have

streamlined our product offerings from

nearly 300 floorplans to just over 90,

making it easier for our customers to

choose their new home design while

reducing the costs associated with

maintaining additional plans. We have

simplified and revised our specifications

and pricing strategies in order to remain

competitive and increase our margins,

which also allows our builders to

up-sell on specification upgrades.

The consolidation of our Ohio and

Indiana facilities along with increased

capacity utilization with the addition of

major projects at our other facilities is

expected to make a positive contribution

to the bottom line in 2008 and beyond.
10

The Ameri-Log Homes Mountain View, is
2,996 square feet with 3 bedrooms, 2.5
baths and built in less than half the time
of a site-built log home.



GOING “GREEN”

Whether referred to as “eco-friendly,”

“sustainable,” or “green” we believe that

this growing trend is much more than

a passing fad or movement. We believe

that without question, it will become the

new standard for residential construction.

With high energy costs, concerns about

indoor air quality and the effects of

traditional construction methods on

the environment, it is clear that the

industry must change to meet these

new challenges. It is our intention to

take the lead in this area.

By its very nature, modular or systems-

built construction meets many of the

requirements to be considered green.

None other than Michelle Kaufmann,

one of the nation’s leading architects

specializing in green design, supports

this statement. In identifying the “Top Ten

Benefits of Modular Construction” she

points specifically to the environment:

“Less waste. The factory allows for more

precise cutting and use of materials,

resulting in 50%-75% less waste as

compared to site-built construction.”

Michelle Kaufmann is the founder of

Michelle Kaufmann Designs, a full service

design/build architectural firm that

specializes in sustainable, innovative,

high-quality modular architecture.

Add to this, the reduced impact of modular

methods to the local environment due

to the speed of construction and we

clearly have an advantage over traditional,

site-built construction methods. Beyond

the inherent ecological benefit of modular

construction, the Housing Group also

routinely utilizes sustainable materials in

our operations, such as finger-jointed

studs and re-laminated lumber. Most, if

not all of these materials have the added

feature of increasing the quality and

appearance of our products.

During 2007, the Housing Group devoted

a large amount of time to strategizing and

developing our green initiatives. In early

2008, we launched our Green Catalog,

which will enable our customers to choose

for themselves technologies and earth-

friendly materials they would like

included in their new homes while

remaining within their budgets. One

example of our commitment

to green construction is

Icynene® insulation.

During the last half

of 2007, Coachmen

and Icynene jointly

developed a new injection technique

that greatly reduces the labor and

waste involved in applying foam

insulation. We believe that this new

system will also increase the structural

rigidity of our homes. Because this

was a joint effort, this technology is

exclusive and proprietary to the

Housing Group within our market areas.

We are also very excited about the

construction of the “Smart Home:

Green + Wired” exhibit for the

Museum of Science and Industry in

Chicago. We are working on this project

with Michelle Kaufmann Designs in

conjunction with our team at All American

Homes of Indiana. The exhibit home,

called the mkSolaire™ will be prominently

located on the grounds of the museum,

which itself attracts over

one million visitors

The 2,500 square-foot, Smart Home: Green + Wired
built by All American Homes, Decatur, Indiana, opens at
the Museum of Science and Industry on May 8, 2008

and runs through January 4, 2009. 11

We have adopted a butterfly as

the symbol of our commitment to

sustainable construction. 



per year. This entire endeavor puts

modular construction in a new light for

the general public and fits well with our

commitment to sustainable construction.

The house has now been set and is

planned to be open from May 2008

through January 2009.

DELIVERING OUR MESSAGE

Differentiating ourselves will have a

limited impact on our bottom line unless

we effectively communicate the advantages

the Housing Group provides to builders

and consumers. During the fourth quarter

of 2007, we began testing the first

component of our new marketing

program with good results. Based on

those results, during the first quarter

of 2008, we have expanded the program

to several of our markets. The marketing

program includes billboard, television,

and print media advertising. We have

never attempted such a campaign

before and we will proceed with all due

caution as we make the public aware

of our capabilities and the benefits of

purchasing a state of the art home from

Coachmen’s Housing Group.

Part of our new marketing campaign is

directed at attracting new top quality

builders to our organization. Although

our current builder network is second

to none, we still have areas within our

marketing reach that are under-served.

Because the independent builders are

such a vital part of our past and future

success, it is crucial that we continually

add new, highly qualified builders to fill

the gaps in our market areas. To address

such gaps where builders with our desired

qualities cannot be found, we have

established home stores to sell directly to

consumers. As we develop the business

models for such retail locations, we will

be afforded critical insights into how we

might better market our homes while

garnering increased margins by selling

finished homes direct to consumers.

In summary, 2007 marked the most

difficult year for the Housing Group in

memory. The single-family housing market

in the United States showed its worst

performance in the last quarter century,

and in our market areas, this marked the

second and, in some cases, the third

consecutive year of market declines.

Despite these difficult markets, the

Housing Group has made the critical

decisions and taken the appropriate

actions to mitigate these broad market

conditions and get back on the path to

profitable growth. We will continue to

pursue new markets, products, technologies

and methods to differentiate the

Housing Group, in both our traditional

single-family homes and major projects.

In 2008 we will execute our plans and

translate our actions into positive results

at the bottom line.

Housing Group continued
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Sincerely,

Rick Bedell
President

Coachmen Housing Group

The 2,157 square-foot, 3-bedroom, 2.5-
bath Belmont is a beautiful ranch. Arched
entrances with columns, along with a
spacious great room give the home an
elegant feel.

The Charleston is a five-bedroom, 3.5-
bath home designed for large families.
There is plenty of space for everyone in
this 2,729 square-foot home.

This is the living room of the Orleans, a
3-bedroom, 2.5-bath, 2,460 square-foot
two-story home that is a staple of the 
All American Homes line.
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Part I

Coachmen Industries, Inc. (the "Company" or the "Registrant") was incorporated under the laws of the State of Indiana on December 31, 1964, 
as the successor to a proprietorship established earlier that year. All references to the Company include its wholly-owned subsidiaries and 
divisions. The Company is publicly held with stock listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the ticker symbol COA. 

The Company operates in two primary business segments, recreational vehicles and housing. The Recreational Vehicle ("RV") Segment
manufactures and distributes Class A and Class C motorhomes, travel trailers, fifth wheels, and camping trailers. The Housing Segment
manufactures and distributes system-built modules for residential buildings. 

The Company is one of America's leading manufacturers of recreational vehicles with well-known brand names including Coachmen®, Georgie
Boy®, Adrenaline™, Sportscoach®, and Viking®. Through its Housing Group, Coachmen Industries also comprises one of the nation's largest 
producers of system-built homes and residential structures with its All American Homes®, Mod-U-Kraf®, and All American Building 
Systems™. During 2006, the Company sold all of the operating assets of Prodesign, LLC and its Miller Building Systems subsidiary; therefore,
these entities, along with the All American Homes of Kansas operation, which was sold in December 2005, are considered discontinued
operations and have been reported as such in the accompanying financial statements. 

The Company's annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports 
are made available free of charge through the Investor Relations section of the Company's Internet website (http://www.coachmen.com) as soon 
as practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

Recreational Vehicle Segment

RV Segment Products

The RV Segment consists of recreational vehicles. At December 31, 2007, this Group consisted of the following operating companies: Coachmen 
RV Company, LLC; Coachmen RV Company of Georgia, LLC; Viking Recreational Vehicles, LLC and a Company-owned retail dealership located 
in Elkhart, Indiana. In addition, the Company operates a service facility located in Chino, California. 

The principal brand names for the RV Group are Coachmen®, Georgie Boy™, Sportscoach®, Adrenaline™ and Viking®.

Recreational vehicles are either driven or towed and serve as temporary living quarters for camping, travel and other leisure activities.
Recreational vehicles manufactured by the Company may be categorized as motorhomes, travel trailers or camping trailers. A motorhome is a 
self-powered mobile dwelling built on a special heavy-duty motor vehicle chassis. A travel trailer is a non-motorized mobile dwelling designed 
to be towed behind another vehicle. Camping trailers are smaller towed units constructed with sidewalls that may be raised up and folded out. 

The RV Group currently produces recreational vehicles on an assembly line basis in Indiana, Michigan, and Georgia. Components used in the 
manufacturing of recreational vehicles are primarily purchased from outside sources. The RV Group depends on the availability of chassis from 
a limited number of manufacturers. Occasionally, chassis availability has limited the Group's production (see Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements for information concerning the use of converter pool agreements to purchase vehicle chassis). 

RV Segment Marketing

Recreational vehicles are generally manufactured against orders received from RV dealers, who are responsible for the retail sale of the product. 
These products are marketed through approximately 757 independent dealers located in 49 states and internationally and through a Company-
owned dealership located in Indiana. Subject to applicable laws, agreements with most of its dealers are cancelable on short notice, provide for 
minimum inventory levels and establish sales territories. A single recreational vehicle dealer network accounts for approximately 12% of the 
Company's consolidated net sales. 

The RV Group considers itself customer driven. Representatives from sales and service regularly visit dealers in their regions, and respond to 
questions and suggestions. Plant charters are established for each manufacturing facility, aligning defined brand charters for each product line 
with the manufacturing capabilities of each facility. Divisions host dealer advisory groups and conduct informative dealer seminars and 
specialized training classes in areas such as sales and service. Open forum meetings with owners are held at campouts, providing ongoing 
focus group feedback for product improvements. Engineers and product development team members are encouraged to travel and vacation in 
Company recreational vehicles to gain a complete understanding and appreciation for the products. The RV Group continuously endeavors to 
improve its product offerings and reduce product complexity. The Group has achieved a significant transformation of product with its new 
product development process utilizing its Advanced Design Team. 

Item 1. Business
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As a result of these efforts, the RV Group believes it has the ability to adapt to changes in market conditions. Most of the manufacturing
facilities can be changed over to the assembly of other existing products in five to eight weeks. In addition, these facilities may be used for 
other types of light manufacturing or assembly operations. This flexibility enables the RV Group to adjust its manufacturing capabilities in 
response to changes in demand for its products. 

Most dealers' purchases of RV's from the RV Group are financed through "floorplan" arrangements. Under these arrangements, a bank or other 
financial institution agrees to lend the dealer all or most of the purchase price of its recreational vehicle inventory, collateralized by a lien on 
such inventory. The RV Group generally executes repurchase agreements at the request of the financing institution. These agreements typically 
provide that, for up to twelve to fifteen months after a unit is financed, the Company will repurchase a unit that has been repossessed by the 
financing institution for the amount then due to the financing institution. Risk of loss resulting from these agreements is spread over the 
Company's numerous dealers and is further reduced by the resale value of the products repurchased (see Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements). Resulting mainly from periodic business conditions negatively affecting the recreational vehicle industry, the Company 
has previously experienced losses under repurchase agreements. Accordingly, the Company has recorded an accrual for estimated losses under 
repurchase agreements. In addition to the standard repurchase agreement described above, as of December 31, 2007 the Company was
contingently liable to the financial institutions up to a maximum of $2.0 million of aggregate losses annually, as defined by the agreement, 
incurred by the financial institutions on designated dealers with higher credit risks that are accepted into the reserve pool financing program. 
The RV Group does not finance retail consumer purchases of its products, nor does it guarantee consumer financing. 

RV Segment Business Factors

Many recreational vehicles produced by the RV Group require gasoline or diesel fuel for their operation. Gasoline and diesel fuel have, at 
various times in the past, been difficult to obtain, and there can be no assurance that the supply of gasoline and diesel fuel will continue 
uninterrupted, that rationing will not be imposed or that the price of, or tax on fuel will not significantly increase in the future. Shortages of 
gasoline or diesel fuel and significant increases in fuel prices have had a substantial adverse effect on the demand for recreational vehicles in 
the past and could have a material adverse effect on demand in the future. 

Recreational vehicle businesses are dependent upon the availability and terms of financing used by dealers and retail purchasers.
Consequently, increases in interest rates and the tightening of credit through governmental action, economic conditions or other causes have 
adversely affected recreational vehicle sales in the past and could do so in the future. 

Recreational vehicles are high-cost discretionary consumer durables. In the past, recreational vehicle sales have fluctuated in a generally direct 
relationship to overall consumer confidence and economic prosperity. It appears that the price of gasoline can also affect the demand for 
recreational vehicles when gas prices reach unusually high levels. 

RV Segment Competition and Regulation

The RV industry is highly competitive, and the RV Group has numerous competitors and potential competitors in each of its classes of 
products, some of which have greater financial and other resources than the Company. Initial capital requirements for entry into the 
manufacture of recreational vehicles, particularly towables, are comparatively small; however, codes, standards, and safety requirements
enacted in recent years may act as deterrents to potential competitors. 

The RV Group's recreational vehicles generally compete at most price points except the ultra high-end, concentrating on the entry to mid level. 
The RV Group strives to be a quality and value leader in the RV industry. The RV Group emphasizes a quality product and a strong commitment 
to competitive pricing in the markets it serves. The RV Group estimates that its current overall share of the recreational vehicle market is 
approximately 3.5% of wholesale shipments, on a unit basis. 

The recreational vehicle industry is fairly heavily regulated. The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA), the Transportation
Recall Enhancement, Accountability, and Documentation Act (TREAD), state lemon law statutes, laws regulating the operation of vehicles on 
highways, state and federal product warranty statutes, and state legislation protecting motor vehicle dealerships all impact the way the RV 
Group conducts its recreational vehicle business. 

State and federal environmental laws also impact both the production and operation of the Company's products. The Company has an
Environmental Department dedicated to efforts to comply with applicable environmental regulations. To date, the RV Group has not experienced 
any material adverse effect from existing federal, state, or local environmental regulations. 
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Housing Segment

Housing Segment Products

The Housing Segment consists of residential structures. The Company's housing subsidiaries (the All American Homes Group, All American
Building Systems, LLC, and Mod-U-Kraf Homes, LLC) produce system-built modules for single-family residences, multi-family duplexes, 
apartments, condominiums, hotels and specialized structures for military use. 

All American Homes and Mod-U-Kraf Homes design, manufacture and market system-built housing structures. All American Homes is one of 
the largest producers of system-built homes in the United States and has four operations strategically located in Colorado, Indiana, Iowa and 
North Carolina. Mod-U-Kraf operates from a plant in Virginia. Together these plants serve approximately 530 independent builders in 32 states. 
System-built homes are built to the same local building codes as site-built homes by skilled craftsmen in a factory environment unaffected by 
weather conditions during production. Production takes place on an assembly line, with components moving from workstation to workstation
for framing, electrical, plumbing, drywall, roofing, and cabinet setting, among other operations. An average two-module home can be produced 
in just a few days. As nearly completed homes when they leave the plant, home modules are delivered to their final locations, typically in two to 
seven sections, and are crane set onto a waiting basement or crawl space foundation. 

All American Building Systems, LLC (AABS) was established by the Company in 2003 to pursue opportunities beyond the Company’s core 
single-family residential housing business. AABS designs and markets system-built living facilities such as single-family home subdivisions, 
apartments, condominiums, townhouses, senior housing facilities and military housing facilities manufactured by the Company’s
housing plants. The modules are delivered to the site location for final installation. 

Due to transportation requirements, system-built structures are often built with more structural lumber and/or steel than site-assembled
structures. Faster construction times also allow our customers to occupy buildings much sooner when compared to site-built buildings. 

The Company announced on September 21, 2007 that it would consolidate its All American Homes production facility located in Zanesville,
Ohio with its larger facility located in Decatur, Indiana. This will increase production backlogs and capacity utilization at the Indiana plant as all 
builders previously served by the Ohio plant will now be served from Indiana. This consolidation was completed during the fourth quarter of 
2007.

On March 31, 2006, the Company sold 100% of its interest in the capital stock of Miller Building Systems, Inc. for $11.5 million, consisting of 
cash of $9.0 million and a $2.5 million secured note. The note, which is included in other long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, is 
to be repaid over 5 years and bears interest at the 1 year LIBOR rate plus 2.75% per annum with quarterly interest payments beginning
September 30, 2006. Principal payments of $125,000 per quarter commence on June 30, 2009 and continue through the maturity date of March 31, 
2011. In addition, the Company accepted a $2.0 million contingent earn-out note. In October 2007, a subsequent agreement with Miller Building 
Systems waived the interest on the secured $2.5 million note for two years; hence no interest will be earned from March 31, 2007 to March 31, 
2009. The subsequent agreement with Miller Building Systems also canceled the $2.0 million contingent earn-out note. There is no financial 
impact as a result of this cancellation. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, the division qualified as a 
separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, the operating results of the division have been accounted for as a discontinued 
operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods presented have been restated to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. 
Net sales of Miller Building Systems, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $7.5 million and $41.6 million, respectively, and 
the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $1.5 million and $(8.2) million, respectively. In connection with 
this sale, $1.7 million of industrial revenue bonds were paid off as of March 31, 2006. During April 2006, the Company terminated the $1.5 million 
and $235,000 interest rate swaps that had been associated with these revenue bonds. 

Housing Segment Marketing

The Housing Group participates in the system-built or modular subset of the overall housing market. Housing is marketed directly to 
approximately 530 builders in 32 states who will sell, rent or lease the buildings to the end-user.

The Housing Group regularly conducts builder meetings to review the latest in new design options and component upgrades. These meetings
provide an opportunity for valuable builder input and suggestions at the planning stage. The system-built traditional homes business has 
historically been concentrated in the rural, scattered-lot markets in the geographic regions served. The Company has also successfully 
launched initiatives to supply product into additional markets, including various forms of single and multi-family residential products for more 
urban-suburban markets, group living facilities, military housing, motels/hotels and other residential structures. 

In 2003, the Company formed All American Building Systems, LLC. All American Building Systems is responsible for expanding sales into new 
markets for the Company's products through channels other than the traditional builder/dealer network. Many of these new markets are “large 
project” markets such as dormitories, military barracks and apartments that typically have a long incubation period, but can result in contracts 
of a substantial size. We also launched several initiatives going direct in selected venues, with two “home stores” offering turn-key houses to 
consumers at Mod-U-Kraf and at All American Homes of Indiana. In addition, we are also introducing high-end modular homes to the long 
ignored subdivision sector, where 80% of housing sales occur. 
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The success of system-built buildings in the commercial market is the result of innovative designs that are created by listening to customer 
needs and taking advantage of advancements in technology. While price is often a key factor in the purchase decision, other factors may also 
apply, including delivery time, quality and prior experience with manufacturers. A significant benefit to the customer is the speed with which 
system-built buildings can be made available for use compared to on-site construction. The sales staff calls on prospective customers in 
addition to maintaining continuing contact with existing customers and assists its customers in developing building specifications to facilitate 
the preparation of a quotation. The sales staff, in conjunction with the engineering staff, maintains ongoing contact with the customer for the 
duration of the building project. 

Housing Segment Business Factors

As a result of transportation costs, the effective distribution range of system-built homes and residential buildings is limited. The normal 
shipping area from each manufacturing facility is typically 200 to 300 miles for system-built homes and 600 miles for major projects. 

The overall strength of the economy and the availability and terms of financing used by builders, general contractors and end-users have a 
direct impact on the sales of the Housing Group. Consequently, increases in interest rates and the tightening of credit due to government
action, economic conditions or other causes have adversely affected the Group's sales in the past and could do so in the future. The Housing 
Group continued to face a challenging housing market in 2007. The December figures on housing starts from the U.S. Census Bureau show a 
28.6% year to year decline in new single-family homes nationwide, and a 27.2% decline in the Midwest region served by the Group’s plants in 
Indiana and Iowa. The softening of the home markets includes the Southeastern and middle Atlantic markets, which are served by the Group’s
plants in Virginia and North Carolina. Single-family housing starts in the South region showed a year to year decline of 28.7% in December. 

Housing Segment Competition and Regulation

Competition in the system-built building industry is intense, and the Housing Group competes with a number of entities, some of which have 
greater financial and other resources than the Company. The demand for system-built homes may be impacted by the ultimate purchaser's 
acceptance of system-built homes as an alternative to site-built homes. To the extent that system-built buildings become more widely accepted 
as an alternative to conventional on-site construction, competition from local contractors and manufacturers of other pre-engineered building 
systems may increase. In addition to the competition from companies designing and constructing on-site buildings, the Housing Group 
competes with numerous system-built building manufacturers and manufactured home producers that operate in particular geographical 
regions.

The Housing Group competes for orders from its customers primarily on the basis of quality, design, timely delivery, engineering capability, 
reliability and price. The Group believes that the principal basis on which it competes with on-site construction is the combination of: the 
timeliness of factory versus on-site construction, the cost of its products relative to on-site construction, the quality and appearance of its 
buildings, its ability to design and engineer buildings to meet unique customer requirements, and reliability in terms of completion time. 
Manufacturing efficiencies, quantity purchasing and generally lower wage rates of factory construction, even with the added transportation
expense, result in the cost of system-built buildings being equal to or lower than the cost of on-site construction of comparable quality. This 
process of manufacturing the building modules in a controlled environment, while the builder prepares the site, can significantly increase the 
quality of the end product and reduce the time to completion on a customer's project. 

Customers of the Housing Group are generally required to obtain building installation permits from applicable governmental agencies. Buildings 
completed by the Group are manufactured and installed in accordance with applicable building codes set forth by the particular state or local 
regulatory agencies. 

State building code regulations applicable to system-built buildings vary from state to state. Many states have adopted codes that apply to the 
design and manufacture of system-built buildings, even if the buildings are manufactured outside the state and delivered to a site within that 
state's boundaries. Generally, obtaining state approvals is the responsibility of the manufacturer. Some states require certain customers to be 
licensed in order to sell or lease system-built buildings. Additionally, certain states require a contractor's license from customers for the 
construction of the foundation, building installation, and other on-site work. On occasion, the Housing Group has experienced regulatory 
delays in obtaining the various required building plan approvals. In addition to some of its customers, the Group actively seeks assistance from 
various regulatory agencies in order to facilitate the approval process and reduce the regulatory delays. 

Competition in the major projects arena is comprised primarily of traditional site builders and other system-built producers. Major projects are 
typically awarded through a bid process and in the case of large government contracts, such as military barracks projects, a larger prime 
contractor with adequate bonding capacity will submit bids for all phases of the contract. Once awarded, the prime contractor will arrange for 
the construction of buildings for the project to various subcontractors, including the Housing Group. Typically, system-built producers have a 
cost advantage over site builders, particularly relating to the Federal wage requirements of the Davis-Bacon Act, speed of building completion 
and minimization of weather-related construction delays. With non-government contracts such as apartments and dormitories, the Housing 
Group may act as a subcontractor or as the prime contractor for the project. In such cases, advantages are held in the overall cost of the project 
through the speed of completion afforded by the Housing Group’s production methods. 
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General
(Applicable to all of the Company's principal markets)

Business Segments

The table below sets forth the composition of the Company's net sales from continuing operations for each of the last three years (dollar 
amounts in millions): 

Additional information concerning business segments is included in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Seasonality

Historically, the Company has experienced greater sales during the second and third quarters with lesser sales during the first and fourth 
quarters. This reflects the seasonality of RV sales for products used during the summer camping season and also the adverse impact of weather 
on general construction for the system-built building applications. 

Employees

At December 31, 2007, Coachmen employed 2,305 people, 609 of whom are salaried and involved in operations, engineering, purchasing,
manufacturing, service and warranty, sales, distribution, marketing, human resources, accounting and administration. The Company provides 
group life, dental, vision services, hospitalization, and major medical plans under which the employee pays a portion of the cost. In addition, 
employees can participate in a 401(k) plan and a stock purchase plan. Certain employees also participate in deferred and supplemental deferred 
compensation plans (see Notes 8 and 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). The Company considers its relations with employees to 
be good. 

Research and Development

During 2007, the Company’s continuing operations spent approximately $6.3 million on research related to the development of new products 
and improvement of existing products. The amounts spent in 2006 and 2005 were approximately $6.7 million and $7.2 million, respectively.

(References to "we", "us" or "our" in the following discussion refer to the Company.)

Risks Relating to Our Business

If any of the following risks actually occur, they could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results. 

The recreational vehicle and housing industries are highly competitive, and some of our competitors have significantly greater resources
than us.

The recreational vehicle industry is highly competitive. In the calendar year 2007, sales from the ten largest manufacturers represented
approximately 92.7% of the retail market for motorhomes, while our sales represented approximately 7.8% of the total retail market. The market for 
motorized products is highly concentrated. This concentration is due in part to the higher barriers to entry within the motorized market, 
including the significant capital required for fixed asset investment, higher level of government regulation and dependence on a limited number 
of chassis suppliers. 

    2007   2006  2005   
Amount % Amount % Amount %

Recreational Vehicles $ 361.6 75.2 $ 404.7 71.7 $ 522.2 74.3

Housing 119.2 24.8 159.7 28.3 180.2 25.7

Total $ 480.8 100.0 $ 564.4 100.0 $ 702.4 100.0

Item 1A. Risk Factors
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In towable products, the ten largest manufacturers accounted for approximately 80.2% of retail sales, while our sales represented approximately 
3.2% of total retail sales in 2007. The towable market is much more fragmented, partially due to the lower barriers to entry. New competitors enter 
this market each year, causing increased competitive pressures for existing manufacturers. Towables made in China are also now being offered 
for sale in the United States. Competitive pressures, especially at the entry-level for travel trailers, have resulted in a reduction of overall profit 
margins. Increased competition could have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations. 

Consolidation within the industry may also increase overall competitive pressure. A number of our competitors have made acquisitions over the 
last five years that have increased their market share. Existing or new competitors could adversely affect our revenues and profit margins. For 
example, these competitors could develop products that are superior to our recreational vehicle offerings. Or, existing or new competitors’
products could achieve better consumer acceptance than those we offer. Therefore, we cannot assure that we will maintain our current market 
share.

The housing industry is also highly competitive. Although we produce system-built homes and residential structures, management considers 
competition in the Housing Segment to come from four sources: 

Among system-built competitors, management believes that we are one of the largest competitors in the industry, which is characterized by 
numerous small, local manufacturers throughout the country. Recently, consolidation is an increasing trend among system-built manufacturers, 
resulting in competitors that are larger and potentially better capitalized. Many of the largest nationwide traditional homebuilders are much 
larger than we, with much greater access to cash and other resources. As these large competitors expand into our markets, added competitive 
pressure may adversely affect revenues and margins in the Housing Segment. 

In addition to large national competitors, we also compete with smaller local builders. These local builders can often offer prices and other 
products and services that are competitive with those we offer because of their lower fixed asset investment and smaller cost structure. These 
competitors may also have an adverse impact on our builder partners in affected markets resulting in reduced revenues and profitability of the 
Housing Segment. 

Actions taken pursuant to our restructuring plan may have an adverse impact on our earnings and financial position.

A number of actions to reduce expenses and improve capacity utilization were largely implemented by the close of 2007. These actions included 
the sale of unprofitable units, the closure or consolidation of certain production facilities, the sale of non-operating assets and a reduction in 
salaried and hourly workforce. The success of these initiatives depends on our ability to realize estimated cost savings resulting from the 
restructuring. Inability to realize these cost savings may materially adversely affect our future operating results and financial position. 

The ability to attract and retain qualified senior managers may adversely affect our operating results.

Over the last three years we have experienced significant changes in senior management throughout the Company. The current management
team has been in place since late 2006. Although we strive to offer competitive salaries, benefit programs and effective succession plans, there 
can be no assurance that we will be able to attract and retain effective senior managers. Any inability to retain qualified senior managers may 
adversely impact our ability to execute current and future operating plans. 

The recreational vehicle and housing businesses are cyclical, which can lead to fluctuations in our operating results.

The industries in which we operate are highly cyclical and there can be substantial fluctuations in production, shipments, wholesale and retail 
sales and operating results, and the results for any prior period may not be indicative of results for any future period. Both the recreational 
vehicle and housing industries are subject to volatility due to external factors such as economic, demographic and political changes.

We cannot assure that the factors currently adversely affecting our business will not continue, or have an adverse effect beyond their present 
scope.

· traditional site-built homebuilders,
· traditional building contractors
· other system-built housing producers, and
· manufactured home producers.
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Our businesses are seasonal, leading to fluctuations in sales, production and operating results at various times during the calendar year.

We have experienced, and will likely continue to experience, significant variability in sales, production and net income as a result of seasonality 
in our two business segments. Demand for recreational vehicles and housing generally declines during the winter season, while sales and 
profits in both segments are generally highest during the spring and summer seasons. In addition, unusually severe weather conditions in some 
markets may cause delays in laying foundations or other site preparation work which may result in delayed deliveries of our system-built homes. 
In some markets, so-called “frost laws” may limit the size and weight of vehicles permitted on roadways, thus limiting our ability to deliver and 
set our homes. Consequently, we may experience lower production, revenues and profitability with higher inventory levels in the Housing 
Segment due to weather and weather-related factors. 

A rise in the frequency and size of product liability, wrongful death, workers’ compensation and other claims against us may result in a 
material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

We are frequently subject, in the ordinary course of business, to litigation involving product liability and other claims, related to personal injury 
and/or property damage. Our self-insurance retention is currently $250,000, and we maintain insurance coverage through our primary insurance 
carrier, as well as excess carriers, above the self-insurance retention. An increase in frequency in claims below the self-insurance retention level 
may adversely affect our financial results. In addition, insurance is not available for some kinds of claims, such as exposure to mold or 
formaldehyde, or punitive damages and occasionally an insurance carrier may deny coverage resulting in potential litigation expenses and 
additional exposure to losses. Workers’ compensation insurance costs are directly attributable to experience in the workplace. In the past, we 
have experienced wrongful death claims and work practices claims arising from alleged workplace injuries. 

We cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover all future claims against us. Any increase in the frequency and size 
of such claims, as compared to our experience in prior years, may cause the premiums required for insurance to rise significantly. Further, sizable 
product liability claims may damage our reputation among dealers, builders and consumers that may adversely affect our future operating and 
financial results. 

Significant warranty and “lemon law” claims against us may result in a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and 
financial condition.

We provide customers of our products with a warranty covering defects in material or workmanship for periods generally ranging from one to 
two years in length, and up to ten years on certain structural components. We record a liability based on our estimate of the amounts necessary 
to settle future and existing claims on products sold. Such costs are accrued at the time products are sold and included in the cost of sales. 
Such claims are generally not insurable, and in some cases may give rise to a repurchase of an RV unit and payment of other damages under 
“lemon laws.” Should warranty claims arise which exceed our historical experience and associated accrued liabilities, such costs may have a 
material adverse effect on our cost of sales and profitability. During 2005, we experienced a $14.0 million increase in warranty costs related to 
continuing operations due to specific warranty reserves established and costs incurred for the recall of camping trailer lift systems and the 
repair of laminated sidewalls of certain of our recreational vehicles. The sizable product warranty claims relating to sidewalls and camping trailer 
lift systems damaged our reputation among RV dealers and consumers, which impacted our operating and financial results in 2006 and 2007, and 
may continue to do so in the future. Further, some jurisdictions have laws providing for a multiple recovery on warranty claims in some 
circumstances. The possibility for class actions also exists. 

Increased costs, including costs of component parts and labor may adversely affect our profitability if such costs cannot be offset because of 
market forces or price-protected contracts with builders.

Our financial results may be significantly adversely affected by the availability and pricing of manufacturing components (particularly those 
with substantial steel, copper, plastic or lumber content) and labor. We attempt to mitigate the effect of any cost inflation in raw materials, 
components and labor by negotiating with current or new suppliers, contract price escalators, increasing labor productivity or increasing the 
sales prices of our products. However, we cannot assure that such actions will not have an adverse impact on the competitiveness of our 
products and result in declining revenues. If we are unable to successfully offset increases in manufacturing costs, this could have a material 
adverse impact on margins, operating income and cash flows. If we increase prices to offset higher manufacturing costs, the benefit of such 
increases may lag behind the rise in manufacturing costs. Specifically, in the Housing Segment, it takes time to implement such price increases. 
Further, we make a commitment to builders and consumers to provide a minimum level of price protection during the period when consumers are 
arranging financing for their home purchases. 

During the period of rapid material cost inflation in early 2004 and again with unusual commodity increases in 2006 and 2007, our margins were 
adversely affected by the number of price protected sales contracts with builders. Although we took steps to mitigate this risk in the future, 
there can be no assurance that rapid material or labor cost inflation will not have a negative impact on our future operating or financial results. 
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Changes to, or increases in, the regulations governing our businesses could have a material impact on operating and financial results.

Both the Recreational Vehicle and Housing Segments are subject to extensive federal, state and local regulations, including: 

Amendments to any of these regulations and the implementation of new regulations could significantly increase the costs of manufacturing,
purchasing, operating or selling our products and could have a material adverse impact on our operating and financial results. Any failure to 
comply with present or future regulations could result in fines, potential civil and criminal liability, suspension of sales or production, or 
cessation of operations. 

Changes in favorable tax laws could adversely affect our results of operations.

Certain U.S. tax laws currently afford favorable tax treatment for the purchase and sale of recreational vehicles that are used as the equivalent of 
second homes. These laws and regulations have historically been amended frequently, and it is likely that further amendments and additional 
regulations affecting us or our products may be enacted in the future. Amendments to these laws and regulations and the implementation of 
new regulations could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. 

We may not be able to fully utilize our deferred tax assets.

We have historically carried as assets on our books tax loss carry-forwards from past results and other deferred tax assets from continuing 
operations, which can be used to offset taxes on future income for periods of up to 20 years. However, because of the losses incurred in 2007, 
2006 and 2005, financial accounting standards required us to write down all of these deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2007 and December 
31, 2006 since we were not certain that we could take full advantage of them over the next few years. In fact, the majority of the Company’s
operating loss carry-forwards do not begin to expire until 2026, and may continue to be used to offset taxes on any potential income the 
Company may generate until at least that time. As of December 31, 2007, the Company has $38.0 million of deferred tax assets available for future 
use (see Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 

Failure to comply with environmental regulations could result in significantly increased costs and capital expenditures.

State and federal environmental laws also impact both the production and operation of our products. We have an Environmental Department
dedicated to efforts to comply with applicable environmental regulations. To date, the Company has not experienced any material adverse effect 
from existing federal, state, or local environmental regulations. Failure to comply with present or future environmental regulations may result in 
fines, potential civil and criminal liability, and suspension of production or operations, alterations to the manufacturing process, costly cleanup 
efforts or increased capital expenditures. 

Changes in labor practices could adversely affect our labor costs and profitability.

Currently, none of our employees are members of any union or covered under any collective bargaining agreement. We provide competitive
wages and a variety of benefits to our employees, including group life, dental, vision services, hospitalization, and major medical plans, a 401(k) 
plan and a stock purchase plan. Although we consider our relations with employees to be good, any material changes in labor costs or 
practices, including those resulting from union activity may have a negative impact on our profitability. 

· the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA),
· the Transportation Recall Enhancement, Accountability, and Documentation Act (TREAD),
· state lemon law statutes,
· laws regulating the operation of vehicles on highways,
· state and federal product warranty statutes,
· state legislation protecting motor vehicle dealerships, and
· state and local zoning laws and building codes.
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Reduced availability of financing for our dealers or retail customers could adversely affect revenues and margins.

Our RV dealers, as well as retail buyers of RV products, generally secure financing from third party lenders. Any reduction in the availability of 
such financing or significant increase in the cost of such financing resulting from higher interest rates may have an adverse effect on our 
business. Availability of financing is dependent on the lending practices of financial institutions, financial markets, governmental policies and 
economic conditions, all of which are largely beyond our control. For example, in the recent past, floorplan lenders have tightened credit 
availability, which has negatively affected the timing and accomplishment of our sales to our RV dealers, resulting in higher levels of finished 
goods inventory and associated financing costs. Increasing interest rates since mid-2004 have negatively impacted demand for our RV 
products. In response to this lower demand, we offered retail financing incentives to consumers resulting in increased selling expenses which 
negatively affected profitability. Although rates have begun to decline in late 2007 and early 2008, it is too early to see the benefits of these rate 
reductions.

Repurchase agreements with floorplan lenders could result in increased costs.

In accordance with customary practice in the RV industry, we enter into repurchase agreements with various financial institutions under 
which we agree to repurchase product at declining prices over the term of the agreements (typically 12 to 15 months), if an independent retailer 
defaults in its obligation to these credit sources. The difference between the gross repurchase price we pay and the price at which the 
repurchased product can then be resold, which is typically at a discount to the original sale price, represents a financial expense to us. As a 
result, if we were obligated to repurchase a large number of recreational vehicles in the future, this could increase costs, which could have a 
negative effect on earnings. A tightening of credit standards by lenders and more aggressive collection efforts by lenders could result in more 
defaults by dealers. These defaults could trigger repurchase obligations on us that may be higher than historical levels. In 2007, we repurchased 
78 recreational vehicles at an aggregate purchase price of $3.3 million, incurring an additional discount of about $327,000, compared to 
repurchases of 93 recreational vehicles at an aggregate gross purchase price of $5.0 million, incurring an additional discount of approximately 
$496,000 in 2006. Based on losses previously experienced under these obligations, the Company has established a reserve for estimated losses 
under repurchase agreements. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, $0.7 million and $0.3 million, respectively, were recorded as an accrual for 
estimated losses under repurchase agreements (see Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 

High inventories of recreational vehicles among dealers could continue to negatively affect our sales volume and profit margins.

The level of recreational vehicle inventories among dealers can have a significant impact on manufacturing, shipments, inventory levels and 
operating results. As wholesale shipments of recreational vehicles within the industry exceed retail sales of vehicles, inventories at the dealer 
level expand to a point where dealers significantly cut orders from manufacturers. As manufacturers respond to reduced demand, many offer 
wholesale and retail discounts and incentives in an effort to maintain production volumes. As a result, dealer inventories may expand further 
resulting in increasing need for discounts and incentives, or in the alternative, a need for dramatic reduction in overall production levels by 
manufacturers. Both increased discounts and incentives, and reduced production levels negatively affect our revenues and profitability.

Fuel shortages, or higher prices for fuel, could have a negative effect on sales of recreational vehicles.

The motorized recreational vehicles produced by us require gasoline or diesel fuel for their operation, while our towable products often require 
the use of a vehicle requiring gasoline or diesel fuel for their operation. Gasoline and diesel fuel have, at various times in the past, been difficult 
to obtain, and there can be no assurance that the supply of gasoline and diesel fuel will continue uninterrupted, that rationing will not be 
imposed or that the price of, or tax on fuel will not significantly increase in the future. Shortages of gasoline and diesel fuel have had a 
significant adverse effect on the demand for recreational vehicles in the past and could have a material adverse effect on demand in the future. 
Rapid significant increases in fuel prices appear to affect the demand for recreational vehicles when gasoline prices reach unusually high levels. 
Such a reduction in overall demand for recreational vehicles could have a materially adverse impact on our revenues and profitability.

Changes in consumer preferences and our ability to effectively adapt to those preferences may adversely affect revenues and profitability.

Consumer preferences for our recreational vehicles are likely to change over time, and as a result, we continually introduce new features, 
designs and models to meet changing consumer demand. Delays in the introduction of new models or product features, or a lack of market 
acceptance of new features, designs or models, could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results. As a result, we may 
incur significant additional costs in designing or redesigning models that are not accepted in the marketplace. We may also experience
production difficulties, such as inefficiencies in purchasing and increased labor costs, as new models are introduced. In addition, new product 
introductions may reduce revenues from existing models and adversely affect operating results. There can be no assurance that any new 
models or products will be introduced to the market on time or that they will be successful when introduced. 
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New product introductions may result in unanticipated expenses resulting in reduced earnings.

The introduction of new products is critical to the success of our RV Segment. We incur additional costs when new products are introduced,
such as research and development costs, engineering costs, and initial labor or purchasing inefficiencies. Additionally, we may incur 
unexpected expenses, including those associated with unexpected engineering or design flaws that will force a recall of a new product. In the 
past, we have experienced recalls that resulted in temporary plant shutdowns and disruptions of the supply of finished product to the wholesale 
market. In addition, we may be prompted to offer additional incentives to stimulate the sales of products not adequately accepted by the market, 
or to stimulate sales of older or obsolete products. These types of costs could be substantial and could have a significant adverse effect on our 
financial results. 

We depend on a small group of suppliers for some of our components, and any business interruption among these suppliers could adversely
affect our production costs and profitability.

Most commodity components for both of our business segments are readily available from a variety of sources. However, a small group of 
suppliers produce a few proprietary or specialty components, primarily in the case of motorhome chassis. Freightliner is the primary supplier of 
diesel powered chassis for Class A diesel motorhomes, while Workhorse Custom Chassis and Ford Motor Company are the primary suppliers of 
gasoline powered chassis for Class A gas motorhomes. Ford Motor Company and General Motors Corporation are the primary suppliers of 
Class C chassis. In the past, we have also experienced supply disruptions among other suppliers, such as appliance manufacturers. Shortages, 
production delays or labor disputes at such suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our revenues. Our inability to obtain adequate 
supplies of needed components could negatively impact our revenues and profitability. 

The consolidation of distribution channels within the RV industry could have a material negative effect on revenues and profitability.

Over the last several years, several large scale recreational vehicle dealers have grown to represent a significant presence in the industry. In 
addition, one major consolidator of RV dealers has grown through acquisition to 56 retail locations throughout the United States.

The expansion of large scale dealers and the continued consolidation of dealerships among large players may result in increased pricing 
pressures in the industry in general and on us in particular. Such pressure exerted by the distribution channel may have a material adverse effect 
on the RV Group’s revenues and profitability. 

A single RV dealer network accounts for approximately 12% of the Company's 2007 consolidated net sales. 

The market for our Housing Segment is heavily concentrated in the Midwestern United States, and a continued weakness in demand in that 
area could have a material negative effect on revenues and profitability.

Our Housing Segment is geographically concentrated, with two of its largest production facilities located in the Midwest. Softness in the 
housing market within the Midwest negatively impacted revenues and profitability at our production facilities in Indiana and Iowa in 
2007. Softness in the housing market also spread in 2006 and 2007 to the rest of the country, including the Southeast and Middle Atlantic 
regions, which has negatively impacted revenues and profitability at our production facilities in Virginia and North Carolina. We can offer no 
assurance that the demand for housing will not remain weak in the areas in which we have a high sales concentration. Any decline in traditional 
home sales could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and profitability. 

The performance of our Housing Segment in new markets may adversely affect revenues and profitability.

Beginning in 2003, our Housing Segment formed All American Building Systems to pursue opportunities beyond its core single-family housing 
market. While we have experience in producing multi-family residential structures, and experience in managing large-scale construction projects, 
these markets present a number of risks, including the following: 

Further, the per-project risks are higher for large-scale projects than with single-family homes. If we fail to mitigate these risks, they may have a 
material adverse effect on revenues and profitability. 

· potential inability to meet contract specifications and timetables for large-scale projects,
· performance of our business partners and (sub) contractors on large-scale projects,
· potential increased liability from possible larger claims resulting from large-scale projects,
· construction of new products with significantly different designs from single-family homes,
· compliance with state and local building codes and zoning laws, and
· production scheduling to meet demand from existing builders and large projects.
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Litigation and recent Congressional inquiries regarding the use of materials containing formaldehyde in the Company’s products may 
adversely affect the future financial results.

In 2007, the Company was named in one lawsuit alleging damages resulting from the use of the Company’s travel trailers for temporary shelter in 
hurricane-affected areas of the Gulf Coast resulting from formaldehyde contained in components used in the construction of the Company’s
travel trailers. In addition, the Company is aware of other litigation regarding formaldehyde in which it may become a party. The Company has 
also received an inquiry by the Committee on Oversight and Government Reform of the United States House of Representatives relating to 
certain of its products used as temporary housing by the Federal Emergency Management Agency in the wake of Gulf hurricanes in late
2005. The results of such litigation and inquiries cannot be known at this time, however the outcome may have a direct material adverse impact 
on the Company’s financial results and may also have an indirect adverse affect on the Company’s results arising from negative publicity, 
damage to the Company’s reputation in the marketplace and negative perceptions of the Company’s product by the public. 

None.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
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We own or lease 2,823,311 square feet of plant and office space, located on 708.5 acres, of which 2,323,191 square feet are used for 
manufacturing, 222,476 square feet are used for warehousing and distribution, 10,024 square feet are used for research and development, 128,940 
square feet are used for customer service and 138,680 square feet are offices. Included in these numbers are 39,310 square feet leased to others 
and 331,183 square feet available for sale or lease. The properties that are shown as available for sale or lease are not classified as real estate 
held for sale in the consolidated financial statements as they do no meet the criteria for such classification outlined in SFAS No. 144, 
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We believe that our present facilities, consisting primarily of steel clad, steel 
frame or wood frame construction and the machinery and equipment contained therein, are well maintained and in good condition. 

The following table indicates the location, number and size of our properties by segment as of December 31, 2007: 

Item 2. Properties

Location Acreage
No. of

Buildings
Building Area

(Sq. Ft.)
              
Properties Owned and Used by Registrant:

Recreational Vehicle Group

Fitzgerald, Georgia 29.6 5 170,670
Elkhart, Indiana 6.0 1 29,886
Middlebury, Indiana 170.8 27 1,138,643
Centreville, Michigan 105.0 4 84,865

Subtotal 311.4 37 1,424,064

Housing Group

Milliken, Colorado 23.0 1 151,675
Dyersville, Iowa 20.0 1 168,277
Decatur, Indiana 40.0 2 215,995
Rutherfordton, North Carolina 37.8 1 169,177
Rocky Mount, Virginia 44.7 6 137,693

Subtotal 165.5 11 842,817

Other

Elkhart, Indiana 16.2 3 53,841
Middlebury, Indiana 1.3 2 4,800

Subtotal 17.5 5 58,641

Total owned and used 494.4 53 2,325,522

Properties Leased and Used by Registrant:

Recreational Vehicle Group

Chino, California (1) 4.7 3 84,296
Elkhart, Indiana 7.8 1 43,000

Total leased and used 12.5 4 127,296

(1) 65,837 Sq. Ft. sub-leased as of November 1, 2007
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Location Acreage
No. of

Buildings
Building Area

(Sq. Ft.)
                  
Properties Owned by Registrant and Leased to Others:

Other

Crooksville, Ohio 10.0 2 39,310

Total owned and leased 10.0 2 39,310

Properties Owned by Registrant and Available for Sale or Lease:

Recreational Vehicle Group

Edwardsburg, Michigan 30.4 3 115,120
Subtotal 30.4 3 115,120

Housing Group

Decatur, Indiana 3.3 2 86,310
Zanesville, Ohio 23.0 2 129,753

Subtotal 26.3 4 216,063

Other

Middlebury, Indiana 132.8 - -
Pigeon Forge, Tennessee 2.1 - -

Subtotal 134.9 - -

Total owned and available for sale or lease 191.6 7 331,183

Total Company 708.5 66 2,823,311
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During the second quarter of 2004, the Company entered into an agreement to provide financing of up to $4.9 million to a developer for the 
construction of a hotel for which the Company was to provide modular units. The Company provided $2.3 million in financing to the developer 
under this arrangement. No funding has been provided since December 2005. The loans are collateralized by a first priority interest in all tangible 
and intangible property of the borrower. The developer was unable to obtain a building permit, so the Company is pursuing its legal remedies 
through litigation to recoup the financing extended to date. During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company obtained title to the real estate that 
was partial collateral for this note. In the event the sale of the property does not generate proceeds sufficient to cover the financing previously 
provided, the Company will continue pursuing its legal remedies to recover any shortfall. As of December 31, 2007, the Company has reserved 
an amount that Management believes the Company may not recover; however, there is a potential for exposure in excess of the amount
reserved.

During 2005, the Company settled a personal injury suit for $5.0 million, $1.0 million of which was paid by the Company’s primary insurance 
carrier. The Company’s self-insured retention is $250,000. During 2005, the Company paid $1.5 million in addition to the amount paid by its 
primary carrier and recorded another current liability of $2.5 million to recognize the remaining amount to be paid on the settlement and the 
$250,000 retention. During June 2006, the remaining liability of $2.5 million was paid. Since the excess carrier initially denied coverage, the 
Company filed suit against the excess carrier to enforce coverage. During the first quarter of 2006, the matter was settled for $2.9 million, which 
the Company received on March 15, 2006 and was recorded as a reduction to the RV Segment’s general and administrative expenses. There 
remains ongoing litigation against other parties to recover the balance over the retention. 

On November 21, 2006 the Company received a summons from the Internal Revenue Service which requires the Company to produce various
documents relating to its research and development claims filed with the Internal Revenue Service for the tax years 1999 through 2004. On 
March 6, 2007, the Company received an additional summons from the Internal Revenue Service related to this matter regarding tax years 1984 
through 1988. 

The Company was named as a defendant in McGuire v. Gulf Stream Coach, Inc., which was filed as a class action on April 9, 2007 in the United 
States District Court for the Eastern District of Louisiana. The factual basis alleged is that the plaintiffs were exposed to formaldehyde in FEMA 
travel trailers, which exposure constitutes a manifest injury requiring medical monitoring to thwart development of disease. Plaintiffs sought the 
following relief: class certification, which was denied; payment into a court-supervised medical monitoring fund; removal of all formaldehyde-
existing materials from all trailers and modification to provide adequate ventilation; repair and testing to prevent further exposure; attorney’s
fees and costs; and other appropriate relief. Company filed a motion to dismiss on the basis that none of named plaintiffs received a Coachmen 
trailer. The case and motion are currently pending before the U.S. Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation. Other litigation has also been filed, in 
which the Company may become a party. 

The Company is involved in various other legal proceedings, most of which are ordinary disputes incidental to the industry and most of which 
are covered in whole or in part by insurance. Management believes that the ultimate outcome of these matters and any liabilities in excess of 
insurance coverage and self-insurance accruals will not have a material adverse impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, future 
business operations or cash flows. 

No matters were submitted during the quarter ended December 31, 2007 to a vote of security holders, through the solicitation of proxies or 
otherwise.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the executive officers of the Company, as of December 31, 2007:

Richard M. Lavers (age 60) was named Chief Executive Officer of the Company in August 2006. In December 2005, he was named Chief Financial 
Officer and Chief Administrative Officer of the Company. Mr. Lavers assumed the position of Executive Vice President of the Company in May 
2000 and served as General Counsel and Secretary of the Company from March 1999. He joined the Company in October 1997 as General
Counsel. From 1994 through 1997 Mr. Lavers was Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel of RMT, Inc. and Heartland Environmental
Holding Company. Mr. Lavers earned both his B.A. degree and his J.D. degree from the University of Michigan. 

Colleen A. Zuhl (age 41) assumed the position of Chief Financial Officer in August 2006 and had previously served as the Company’s Vice 
President and Controller since joining the Company in April 2004. In December 2005, Mrs. Zuhl also assumed the duties of Chief Accounting
Officer for the Company. From 1988 to 2004, Mrs. Zuhl was employed by Ernst & Young, LLP, most recently as a Senior Audit Manager. Mrs. 
Zuhl earned a B.S. degree from Hillsdale College. 

Michael R. Terlep, Jr. (age 46) was appointed President of Coachmen Recreational Vehicle Company in June 1997. Prior to that he was Executive 
Vice President of Coachmen RV, with retained responsibility for product development, among other duties, since 1993. He was given the 
additional responsibility of General Manager of the Indiana Division in 1995. Prior to his promotion to Executive Vice President, Mr. Terlep 
served as Vice President of Sales and Product Development from 1990 to 1993. He has held several other management positions with the 
Company since joining Coachmen in 1984. He received his B.A. degree from Purdue University. 

Rick J. Bedell (age 55) rejoined the Company as the President of Consolidated Building Industries, LLC, dba The Coachmen Housing Group. Mr. 
Bedell was formerly the President of Miller Building Systems and served on their Board of directors for four years. Prior to that, he was 
Executive Vice President/COO, while Miller was a publicly held company, with overall responsibility for sales, engineering, and plant operations 
since 1998. Prior to his promotion to Executive Vice President, Mr. Bedell served as Vice President of Operations in Miller’s Kansas facility from 
1996 to 1998 and also in the California Division from 1989 to 1996. Before joining Miller Building Systems in 1989, Mr. Bedell’s career in the 
modular construction industry began in 1978, with PBS Building Systems followed by Modulaire Industries in capacities including field project 
management, sales management, and general management. 

Leslie G. Thimlar (age 52) was appointed Vice President, Human Resources for Coachmen Industries in 2001. Prior to that, he was Assistant Vice 
President, Human Resources from 1996 through 2001 with responsibility for corporate human resource functions. From 1986 until 1996 Mr. 
Thimlar served as Vice President, Human Resources for Ancilla Health Care. He received his B.S. and M.P.A. degrees from Indiana University. 

W. Todd Woelfer (age 40) was appointed General Counsel in May of 2007. Mr. Woelfer practices law as a partner at the firm of May Oberfell 
Lorber where he focuses on the representation of corporate clients, including Coachmen Industries. Mr. Woelfer earned both his B.S. in 
Business Administration and his J.D. degrees from Valparaiso University. 

    
Name Position
    
Richard M. Lavers President and Chief Executive Officer
    
Colleen A. Zuhl Chief Financial Officer
    
Michael R. Terlep, Jr. President, CLI dba Coachmen RV Group and President, Coachmen Recreational Vehicle Company, LLC
    
Rick J. Bedell President, CBI dba Coachmen Housing Group
    
Leslie G. Thimlar Vice President, Human Resources

W. Todd Woelfer General Counsel
    



- 17 -

Part II

The following table discloses the high and low sales prices for Coachmen's common stock during the past two years as reported on the New 
York Stock Exchange, along with information on dividends declared per share during the same periods. 

The Company's common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange: stock symbol COA. The number of shareholders of record as of
January 31, 2008 was 1,728.

See Item 12 for the Equity Compensation Table. 

The Company did not repurchase any shares of its stock during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007. 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

    High & Low Sales Prices Dividends Declared
2007 2006 2007 2006

                     
1st Quarter $ 11.74 - 10.53 $ 13.28 - 10.71 $ .03 $ .06

2nd Quarter 11.20 - 9.66 11.95 - 10.30 .03 .06

3rd Quarter 9.76 - 6.35 12.16 - 8.90 - .03

4th Quarter $ 7.02 - 5.00 $ 12.90 - 10.09 $ - $ .03
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Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data 
-Year Ended December 31-

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(1) Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities.

Note: The Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data above has been restated to reflect discontinued operations and should be read in 
conjunction with Note 11, Restructuring Charges and Discontinued Operations, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
appearing in this report. The Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data above has shipping and handling costs reclassified for years prior 
to 2007, and should be read in conjunction with Note 1, Nature of Operations and Accounting Policies, of the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements appearing in this report. 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

                  
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

                  
Net sales $ 480,840 $ 564,382 $ 702,425 $ 802,346 $ 636,891
Gross profit 12,717 20,216 23,198 78,821 64,486
Net income (loss) from continuing operations (38,752) (33,215) (19,360) 14,258 8,443
Discontinued operations:
Loss from operations of discontinued entities - (795) (6,370) (659) (1,078)
Gain (loss) on sale of assets of discontinued entities - 2,205 (620) 1,735 -
Income (loss) from discontinued operations - 1,410 (6,990) 1,076 (1,078)
Net income (loss) $ (38,752) $ (31,805) $ (26,350) $ 15,334 $ 7,365

Earnings (loss) per share - Basic
Continuing operations $ (2.46) $ (2.12) $ (1.24) $ .92 $ .55
Discontinued operations - .09 (.45) .07 (.07)

Net earnings (loss) per share - Basic (2.46) (2.03) (1.69) .99 .48

Earnings (loss) per share - Diluted
Continuing operations (2.46) (2.12) (1.24) .92 .55
Discontinued operations - .09 (.45) .07 (.07)

Net earnings (loss) per share - Diluted $ (2.46) $ (2.03) $ (1.69) $ .99 $ .48

Cash dividends per share $ .06 $ .18 $ .24 $ .24 $ .24

At year-end:

Working capital (1) $ 25,336 $ 62,784 $ 93,308 $ 121,312 $ 95,963
Total assets 207,668 243,134 322,816 357,723 310,688
Long-term debt 3,010 3,862 12,913 14,943 9,419
Shareholders' equity 121,133 160,331 193,803 224,418 211,151
Book value per share $ 7.70 $ 10.20 $ 12.30 $ 14.27 $ 13.58
Number of employees 2,305 2,655 3,677 4,416 4,490
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The analysis of the Company's financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the Selected Financial Data and 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Company was founded in 1964 as a manufacturer of recreational vehicles and began manufacturing system-built homes in 1982. Since that 
time, the Company has evolved into a leading manufacturer in both the recreational vehicle ("RV") and housing business segments through a 
combination of internal growth and strategic acquisitions. 

The Company's business segments are subject to certain seasonal demand cycles and changes in general economic and political conditions.
Demand in the RV Segment and certain portions of the Housing Segment generally declines during the winter season, while sales and profits are 
generally highest during the spring and summer months. Inflation and changing prices have had minimal direct impact on the Company in the 
past in that selling prices and material costs have generally followed the rate of inflation. However, since 2004, rapid escalations of prices for 
certain raw materials combined with a number of price protected sales contracts have at times adversely affected profits in the Housing 
Segment. Material surcharges are added to the price when appropriate and allowed. The RV Segment was also affected adversely by raw 
material inflation, but to a lesser degree due to material surcharges added to the prices of products sold to dealers. Changes in interest rates 
impact both the RV and Housing Segments, with rising interest rates potentially dampening sales. 

In order to supplement the Company’s single-family residential housing business, the Housing Segment continues to pursue opportunities for 
larger projects in multi-family residential and commercial markets for 2007 and beyond. The results of the Company’s All American Building 
Systems (AABS) major projects efforts continue to improve, and did contribute to earnings in 2007, primarily through the production of military 
barracks. During 2006, AABS was a member of a consortium that was awarded a contract for the second phase of barracks construction at Fort 
Bliss in Texas, and contributed in excess of $10 million to revenue in 2007. In addition, in January 2008, AABS signed an agreement to provide 
military housing at Ft. Carson in Colorado. The Housing Group began production of the barracks modules late in 2007 with initial deliveries 
scheduled to commence in the first quarter of 2008. This agreement will result in revenues of over $30 million during 2008. Another opportunity 
for the Housing Group involves the reconstruction of the Gulf Coast regions damaged by hurricanes in 2005. As the infrastructure, including 
basic utilities, vital services and transportation networks are restored, the Company expects to receive contracts for its modular homes and 
multi-family structures which offer better costs, structural integrity and timeliness of completion than other alternatives. 

Intensive Recovery Plan

During 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a comprehensive operational and cost structure realignment and restructuring plan 
(the Intensive Recovery Plan), which was largely implemented by the end of 2006, and undertook further restructuring and consolidation during 
2007 intended to improve operating performance and ensure financial strength. 

Despite the unacceptable bottom line results in 2007, the Company has begun to see positive results from these actions. The Company has 
completed the sale of several businesses and other properties, reduced expenses, and improved operating efficiencies, partially through the 
consolidation of a number of operations. 

When describing the impact of these restructuring plans, all determinations of the fair value of long-lived assets were based upon comparable 
market values for similar assets. 

In September 2005, the Company announced the relocation of Georgie Boy Manufacturing, LLC (GBM) from Edwardsburg, Michigan to a newer, 
more efficient motorhome production facility within its Middlebury, Indiana manufacturing complex. GBM has continued to control and focus 
on its independent product design, sales, and marketing efforts to ensure the continued strength of the GBM brand with consumers and its 
separate dealer body. The relocation was completed late in the fourth quarter of 2005. This internal restructuring improved capacity utilization 
within the RV Segment. 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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On January 13, 2006, the Company sold all operating assets of Prodesign, LLC. The total sales price was $8.2 million, of which the Company 
received $5.7 million in cash, a $2.0 million promissory note and $0.5 million to be held in escrow to cover potential warranty claims and 
uncollectible accounts receivable, as defined in the sale agreement. The promissory note is to be repaid over a period of 10 years, using an 
amortization period of 15 years, and bears interest at 6% per annum with interest only payments being required in the first three years. The 
funds remaining in the escrow account of $0.4 million reverted to the Company in February 2007 per the sales agreement. In accordance with 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, Prodesign qualified as a separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, 
the operating results of Prodesign have been accounted for as a discontinued operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods 
presented have been adjusted to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. In conjunction with the classification of Prodesign as a 
discontinued operation, management allocated goodwill of $0.3 million to the discontinued operations from the RV Segment goodwill based on 
the relative fair value of the discontinued operations to the RV Segment. The $0.3 million of allocated goodwill has been included in the 
calculation of the final gain on sale of assets in the first quarter of 2006. Net sales of Prodesign for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 
were $0.4 million and $14.2 million, respectively, and the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $2.0 million 
and $(0.7) million, respectively. 

The Company ceased operations at the All American Homes operation in Springfield, Tennessee in 2005. The closure of the Tennessee location 
resulted in an asset impairment charge of approximately $1.1 million, which was recorded in the third quarter of 2005. On December 15, 2006 the 
Company completed the sale of this property for approximately $3.2 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of approximately $1.1 million. In 
connection with the sale of this property, $1.2 million of industrial revenue bonds were paid off as of December 15, 2006. During December 2006, 
the Company also terminated the $1.2 million interest rate swap that had been associated with these revenue bonds. The closure and sale of the 
Tennessee facility had minimal impact on revenues, as all existing builders in that region have continued to be served by the Company’s
housing operations in Indiana and North Carolina. 

On December 31, 2005, the Company sold all operating assets of the All American Homes Kansas division. In accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, the division qualified as a separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, the 
operating results of the division have been accounted for as a discontinued operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods 
presented have been restated to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. Net sales of the Kansas division for the years ended 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $0.0 million and $9.7 million, respectively, and the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006 
and 2005 were $(0.4) million and $(2.9) million, respectively.

On March 31, 2006, the Company sold 100% of its interest in the capital stock of Miller Building Systems, Inc. for $11.5 million, consisting of 
cash of $9.0 million and a $2.5 million secured note. The note, which is included in other long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, is 
to be repaid over 5 years and bears interest at the 1 year LIBOR rate plus 2.75% per annum with quarterly interest payments beginning
September 30, 2006. Principal payments of $125,000 per quarter commence on June 30, 2009 and continue through the maturity date of March 31, 
2011. In addition, the Company accepted a $2.0 million contingent earn-out note. In October 2007, a subsequent agreement with Miller Building 
Systems waived the interest on the secured $2.5 million note for two years; hence no interest will be earned from March 31, 2007 to March 31, 
2009. The subsequent agreement with Miller Building Systems also canceled the $2.0 million contingent earn-out note. There is no financial 
impact as a result of this cancellation. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, the division qualified as a 
separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, the operating results of the division have been accounted for as a discontinued 
operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods presented have been restated to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. 
Net sales of Miller Building Systems, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $7.5 million and $41.6 million, respectively, and 
the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $1.5 million and $(8.2) million, respectively. In connection with 
this sale, $1.7 million of industrial revenue bonds were paid off as of March 31, 2006. During April 2006, the Company terminated the $1.5 million 
and $235,000 interest rate swaps that had been associated with these revenue bonds. 

In conjunction with the actions noted above, during the fourth quarter of 2005 management allocated goodwill of $0.7 million to the 
discontinued operations from the Housing Segment goodwill based on the relative fair value of the discontinued operations to the entire 
Housing Segment. The $0.7 million of allocated goodwill consisted of $0.6 million allocated to Miller Building Systems, which was written off as 
part of the 2005 loss from operations of discontinued operations and $0.1 million allocated to All American Homes of Kansas, which was 
included in the 2005 loss on sale of assets of discontinued operations. During the first quarter of 2006, an additional $0.3 million of goodwill was 
allocated to Miller Building Systems based on the final sales price relative to the fair value of the entire Housing Segment. The additional $0.3 
million of allocated goodwill was written off as part of the 2006 gain on sale of assets of discontinued operations. 

On March 31, 2006, the Company completed the sale of a property located in Grapevine, Texas for approximately $2.0 million, consisting of cash 
of $1.7 million and a note receivable of $0.3 million and resulting in a pre-tax gain of approximately $1.8 million. Also during the first quarter, the 
Company completed the sale of vacant farmland in Middlebury, Indiana for cash of approximately $1.0 million, resulting in a pre-tax gain of 
approximately $0.8 million.
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During the third quarter of 2006, a number of smaller properties were sold for a net pre-tax gain of approximately $0.3 million. On June 8, 2006, the 
Company completed the sale of its corporate aircraft for approximately $2.3 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of approximately $1.7 million. 
On June 30, 2006, the Company sold property located in Palm Shores, Florida for $2.5 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of approximately 
$1.2 million. During June 2006, the Company also sold two parcels of the former Georgie Boy Manufacturing complex for total proceeds of $0.7 
million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of approximately $0.4 million. 

On December 28, 2006 the Company contracted for the sale of a property located in Roanoke, Virginia for approximately $1.3 million, consisting 
of cash of $0.1 million and a note receivable of $1.2 million that was paid in 2007, which resulted in pre-tax gain of approximately $1.2 million.

During the first three months of 2007, the Company completed the sale of two parcels of the former Georgie Boy Manufacturing complex for 
approximately $0.6 million, resulting in a pre-tax gain of approximately $0.3 million. Also during the first three months, the Company completed 
the sale of vacant farmland in Middlebury, Indiana for cash of approximately $0.1 million, resulting in a pre-tax gain of approximately $0.1 million.

During the third quarter of 2007, two smaller properties were sold for a net pre-tax gain of approximately $0.1 million.

During July 2007, the Company announced plans to reduce overhead costs by consolidating Class A production into a single facility, relocating 
the paint facility located in Elkhart, Indiana to the main complex in Middlebury, Indiana, and consolidating two towable assembly plants into a 
single facility in order to reduce expenses and improve profitability through improved capacity utilization of fewer facilities. The consolidation 
of the Class A assembly plants was substantially completed in the third quarter of 2007. The consolidation and subsequent mothballing of a 
towable plant was completed in the fourth quarter of 2007. The paint facility was relocated to the main complex in the fourth quarter of 2007. 

On December 5, 2007 the Company sold property and the equipment of a paint facility located in Elkhart, Indiana for $2.9 million consisting of 
cash of $0.3 million and a $2.6 million secured note due in full December 2008. The sale resulted in pre-tax gain of $0.4 million on the equipment 
and a deferred gain of $1.1 million on the property which is included in the accrued expenses and other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet.

The Company announced on September 21, 2007 that it would consolidate its All American Homes production facility located in Zanesville,
Ohio with its larger facility located in Decatur, Indiana. This will increase production backlogs and capacity utilization at the Indiana plant as all 
builders previously served by the Ohio plant will now be served from Indiana. This consolidation occurred during the fourth quarter. The 
closure of the Ohio facility had minimal impact on revenues, as all existing builders in that region have continued to be served by the 
Company’s housing operations in Indiana and North Carolina. 

Housing Segment

The Housing Group faced a challenging housing market in 2007. The December full year figures on housing starts from the U.S. Census Bureau 
show a 28.6% year to year decline in new single-family homes nationwide, and a 27.2% decline in the Midwest region served by the Group’s
plants in Indiana and Iowa. The decline includes the Southeastern and middle Atlantic markets, which are served by the Group’s plants in 
Virginia and North Carolina. Single-family housing starts in the South region showed a year to year decline of 28.7% in December. 

In the backdrop of such a difficult market, the Housing Group has seen weakness in its core Midwestern markets as well as in the Southeast and 
Middle Atlantic regions, negatively impacting the Group’s operations in Indiana, Iowa, North Carolina and Virginia. All of the Group’s markets 
have experienced sharp discounts, larger incentives, and increased levels of new home inventories. As the downward pressure on new home 
sales persists, the Group will likely see the more aggressive discounts and incentives by home builders continue. To mitigate these conditions, 
management is placing more emphasis on providing value to builders and consumers through the Group’s products, including the launch of the 
Green Catalog in the first quarter of 2008. Driven by consumer interest and high energy costs, the housing industry is beginning to recognize 
the increasing need for energy efficiency and the use of sustainable materials in the construction of new homes. The Company has taken a 
leadership position in this market transformation with this initiative. The Green Catalog will allow consumers to choose what technologies and 
earth-friendly materials they want included in their new homes. The Group is working with design/build architectural firms that specialize in 
sustainable, innovative, high-quality modular architecture. Sustainable, well-designed buildings should be accessible to more people. Off-site
modular technology is a means to create beautiful, eco-friendly homes and buildings. This project resulted in the mkSolaire® home which will be 
prominently displayed in the “Smart Home: Green & Wired” exhibit at the Museum of Science and Industry in Chicago from May 2008 through 
January 2009. This endeavor should put modular construction in a new light for the general public and fits well with our commitment to 
sustainable construction. Management’s overriding goal with these actions is to provide the Group’s builders with the products and tools they 
need to best meet the challenges of their markets. 
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Management continued to work to mitigate the Group’s dependence on traditional scattered-lot single-family housing markets by increasing the 
expansion into multi-family residential structures through All American Building Systems, or AABS. Many of these multi-family structures 
markets are “large project” markets such as dormitories, military barracks and apartments that typically have a long incubation period, but 
generally result in a significant contract. In 2007, AABS was a leading member of a consortium that completed the second phase of barracks 
construction at Fort Bliss in Texas. On January 24, 2008, the Company announced that AABS had signed a final agreement to provide modules 
for barracks construction at Fort Carson in Colorado. AABS continues to pursue military opportunities with our partners, and AABS expects to 
make proposals in 2008 for additional military housing contracts. The Company is delivering homes to the Gulf Coast region and our major 
projects sales group is pursuing additional opportunities now that the rebuilding effort is finally gaining momentum. The Group has also 
targeted other “large projects” such as dormitories, condominiums and apartment complexes. 

Overall, 2007 was a difficult year for the Housing Group, but management took aggressive steps to reduce operating costs and maintain 
profitability despite lower revenues. Early in 2007, the Group installed a new senior management team with the talent, experience and drive to 
lead it forward. Management is aggressively seeking new ways to strengthen the Group’s traditional markets while pursuing growth in new 
areas.

Recreational Vehicle Segment

Despite the improvements recognized in the RV Group’s operations throughout 2007, low sales volumes and production levels resulted in 
unacceptable bottom line results for the year. To address the unacceptable level of revenues, the RV Group has embarked on a number of 
actions to drive revenue growth and enhance profitability. 

Management believes that customers of the RV industry are demanding improved quality. Accordingly, management believes it can 
differentiate Coachmen’s products from those of its competitors, and gain a marketing advantage, by improving product quality. The RV Group 
has launched a number of initiatives to this end. The most important new program rewards meaningful, continuous improvement in the quality 
of products at every production facility. The program provides our team members with incentive to meet and exceed concrete, quantifiable
measures of quality applicable to each facility. The incentive program was launched as a pilot program in 2006, and expanded into a company-
wide program in 2007. The incentive program has been very successful in reducing the average number of defects per unit, and has resulted in 
greater satisfaction among dealers. 

With regard to efforts to build upon product line strengths that began in late 2006, the RV Group continued to make significant strides in 
improving its product offerings and reducing product complexity. The Group has achieved a significant transformation of product with its new 
product development process utilizing its Advanced Design Team. At the National RV Trade Show held annually in Louisville, the Company’s
products displayed showed continued improvement in innovation resulting from the Group’s more robust product development process. Over 
40% of the products on display at Louisville were new or redesigned innovative products including the new touring Prism™ Class C motorhome 
featuring yacht inspired interiors and estimated gas mileage of 17-19 miles per gallon, a Freelander™ Class C motorhome with an innovative rear 
wall slide out, a re-engineered Spirit of America® travel trailer line that is fully laminated with aluminum cage construction providing high line 
features at a reduced weight at an entry level price point, total redesign and step out of the Leprechaun® Class C, and a very creative new 
floorplan offered in both the Pursuit® and Mirada™ Class A product lines featuring dual living areas with a unique Murphy bed. 

During July 2007, the Company announced plans to reduce overhead costs by consolidating Class A production into a single facility, relocating 
the paint facility located in Elkhart, Indiana to the main complex in Middlebury, Indiana, and consolidating two towable assembly plants into a 
single facility in order to reduce expenses and improve profitability through improved capacity utilization of fewer facilities. The consolidation 
of the Class A assembly plants was substantially completed in the third quarter of 2007. The consolidation and subsequent mothballing of a 
towable plant was completed in the fourth quarter of 2007. The paint facility was relocated to the main complex in the fourth quarter of 2007. 

Management believes there are still opportunities to reduce material costs, which make up the majority of the Group’s cost of sales. In order to 
quickly achieve significant results, in early 2007, consultants were engaged to assist with identifying and executing strategic sourcing action 
plans, resulting in significant savings. Management has reorganized its strategic sourcing team into a cohesive unit that continues to apply the 
processes and practices developed with the consultants’ guidance. The ultimate goal of these actions is to continue to improve quality and 
reduce cost in order to improve margins. Management is also applying best practices from this effort to purchasing and material sourcing in the 
Housing Group.

Despite the difficult year, management is optimistic that the hard work of its entire team will pay substantial future dividends. Management will 
strive to leverage the many changes and improvements that have been made throughout the RV Group to generate improved results and market 
share gains in 2008 and the years ahead. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage of net sales represented by certain items reflected in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations and the percentage change in the dollar amount of each such item from that in the indicated previous year (in 
thousands):

Note: The Results of Operations above have been restated to reflect discontinued operations and should be read in conjunction with Note 11,
Restructuring Charges and Discontinued Operations, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in this report. The 
Results of Operations above has shipping and handling costs reclassified for years prior to 2007, and should be read in conjunction with Note 
1, Nature of Operations and Accounting Policies, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in this report. 

Percentage
Change

Percentage Percentage Percentage 2007 2006
of of of to to

2007 Net Sales 2006 Net Sales 2005 Net Sales 2006 2005
Net sales: 
Recreational vehicles 
Motorhomes $ 235,873 49.1% $ 266,246 47.2%  $ 350,876 50.0 % (11.4)%  (24.1)%
Travel trailers and fifth wheels 106,779 22.2 118,375 21.0  149,263  21.1 (9.8)  (20.7)
Camping trailers 13,667 2.8 13,549  2.4  15,152  2.2 0.9  (10.6)
Parts and supplies 5,335 1.1 6,540  1.1  6,903  1.0 (18.4)  (5.3)
Total recreational vehicles 361,654 75.2 404,710  71.7  522,194  74.3 (10.6)  (22.5)
Housing 119,186 24.8 159,672  28.3  180,231  25.7 (25.4)  (11.4)
Consolidated total 480,840 100.0 564,382  100.0  702,425  100.0 (14.8)  (19.7)

Gross profit: 
Recreational vehicles (130) (0.1) 283  0.1  (972)  (0.1) (145.9)  129.1
Housing 12,847 2.7 19,933  3.5  24,170  3.4 (35.5)  (17.5)
Consolidated total 12,717 2.6 20,216  3.6  23,198  3.3 (37.1)  (12.9)

Operating expenses: 
Selling 22,712 4.7 23,230  4.1  28,320  4.0 (2.2)  (18.0)
General and administrative 26,310 5.5 21,328  3.8  30,794  4.4 23.4  (30.7)
Asset impairments 3,872 0.8 - -  1,076  0.1 100.0 (100.0)
Gain on sale of assets, net (1.037) (0.2) (8,689)  (1.5)  (163) - (88.1)  n/m
Consolidated total 51,857 10.8 35,869  6.4  60,027  8.5 44.6  (40.2)

Nonoperating expense 1,403 0.3 1,047  0.2  525  0.1 34.0  99.4

Loss from continuing operations before 
income taxes (40,543) (8.5) (16,700)  (3.0)  (37,354)  (5.3) (142.8)  55.3

Income taxes (credit) (1,791) (0.4) 16,515  2.9  (17,994)  (2.5) 110.8 (191.8)

Net loss from continuing operations (38,752) (8.1) (33,215)  (5.9)  (19,360)  (2.8) (16.7)  (71.6)

Discontinued operations: 
Loss from operations of discontinued 

entities - - (795)  (0.1)  (6,370)  (0.9) 100.0  87.5

Gain (loss) on sale of assets of 
discontinued entities - - 2,205  0.4  (620)  (0.1) (100.0)  455.6

Income (loss) from discontinued 
operations - - 1,410  0.3  (6,990)  (1.0) (100.0)  120.2

Net loss $ (38,752) (8.1)% $ (31,805)  (5.6)%  $  (26,350)  (3.8)% (21.8)%  (20.7)%

 n/m - not meaningful
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The following table presents key items impacting the results of operations for the periods presented (in thousands):  

n/m - not meaningful 

2007    2006  2005  
Warranty - additional expense incurred related to RV sidewall issues and lift 

system recall (see Note 1) $ - $ - $ 14,000

(Gain) loss on sale of assets:
Continuing operations:
Tennessee facility (All American) - (1,061) -
Virginia property (71) (1,202) -
Texas property (Grapevine, TX) - (1,674) -
Florida property (Palm Shores, FL) - (1,180) -
Michigan property (Georgie Boy) (380) (650) -
Indiana property (various) (138) (815) -
Paint facility equipment (408) - -
Corporate aircraft - (1,792) -
Other (40) (315) (163)

Total (1,037) (8,689) (163)

Discontinued operations (see Note 11):
Miller - (2,522) -
Prodesign - (1,899) -
All American Homes - Kansas - 76 1,051
Colfax - - -

Total - (4,345) 1,051

Total (gain) loss on sale of assets $ (1,037) $ (13,034) $ 888

Asset impairments:
Miller Building Systems $ - $ - $ 7,895
All American Homes - Tennessee - - 1,077
Other - - 269

Total asset impairments $ - $ - $ 9,241

Legal expense recoveries (see Note 12) $ - $ (3,620) $ (4,425)

Litigation reserve (see Note 12) $ - $ n/m $ 4,000

Goodwill impairment charge $ 3,872 $ - $ -
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Comparison of 2007 to 2006

NET SALES

Consolidated net sales from continuing operations decreased $83.5 million or 14.8% to $480.8 million in 2007 from $564.4 million in 2006. The 
Company's RV Segment experienced a net sales decrease from continuing operations of $43.1 million, or 10.6%, from 2006. Throughout 2007, as 
in 2006, the RV Segment worked through an industry slowdown in retail activity and higher dealer inventories, in part related to falling consumer 
confidence and significantly higher fuel costs, in addition to the impact from the sub-prime and credit market crisis during 2007. Full-year
recreational vehicle wholesale unit shipments for the Company were down 12.9% compared to 2006, while the industry was down 9.5%. For the 
full year, the Company’s wholesale market share declined from 3.8% to 3.5% across all product types. The Company’s retail market share for the 
same period declined from 3.7% to 3.2% across all product types. Detailed market share data for 2007 and 2006 for each product type are set 
forth in the following table: 

The Company’s Class A shipments declined 30.3% while the industry shipments were flat (up 0.6%) in 2007 following a decline in industry 
shipments of 13.7% in 2006 and 18.1% in 2005. The Company’s Class C shipments outperformed the market as industry shipments of Class C 
motorhomes declined 4.0%, but the Company’s Class C shipments increased a significant 17.8%. The non-motorized side of the industry has 
been very challenging of late as the wholesale shipments of travel trailers have declined year over year 11.5% compared to 2006 while the 
Company’s shipments of travel trailers declined 20.9%. The Company’s fifth wheel trailer shipments outperformed the market, declining only 
4.4% in 2007, less than the industry decline of 8.2%. The Company’s camping trailer shipments also performed favorably compared to the 
wholesale market, declining 9.4% in 2007, while industry shipments declined 15.3%. Total RV backlogs declined 7.6% to 1,505 units at December 
31, 2007 compared to 1,628 units at December 31, 2006.

The Housing Segment had a net sales decrease from continuing operations in 2007 of $40.5 million, or 25.4%. Wholesale unit shipments
declined 29.7% compared with the prior year. The Segment’s results were impacted by continuing weakness in its core Midwest, Southeast and 
Middle Atlantic housing markets. The most recent statistics on new home sales from the U.S. Census Bureau showed a 28.6% year to year 
decline in new single-family homes nationwide, a 27.2% decline in year over year comparison in the Midwest region, and a 28.7% decline in the 
South. This is consistent with the challenges faced by the Housing Group operations in Indiana, Iowa, North Carolina, Colorado and Virginia 
throughout 2007. 

GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit from continuing operations was $12.7 million, or 2.6% of net sales, in 2007, compared to $20.2 million, or 3.6% of net sales, in 2006. 
Gross profit was negatively impacted in 2007 as a result of decreased sales, discounting and corresponding production volume decrease,
resulting in lower utilization of the Company's manufacturing facilities yielding reduced operating leverage. 

During 2007, the Company took several actions to reduce costs and improve capacity utilization including consolidation of Class A motorhome 
production into one facility from two, consolidation of two RV towable plants into one plant, and consolidation of a housing plant in Ohio into 
the larger Indiana facility. 

      Wholesale Share     Retail Share
      2007     2006      2007  2006
Class A Motorhomes  3.9 %  5.6 % 5.2 %  6.5 %

Gasoline  n/a  n/a  6.2  8.4
Diesel  n/a  n/a 4.3  4.7

Class C Motorhomes  11.6  9.5  11.9  10.6
Travel Trailers  2.7  3.0  3.3  2.7
Fifth Wheels  1.7  1.7  1.8  1.8
Camping Trailers  9.2  8.6  7.8  8.1

Total  3.5 %  3.8 %  3.9 %  3.7 %

n/a - not available 

Wholesale share based on wholesale unit shipment data as reported by the Recreational Vehicle Industry Association.
Retail share based on data provided by Statistical Surveys, Inc. 
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OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses for continuing operations, consisting of selling and general and administrative expenses, were $49.0 million and $44.6 
million, or as a percentage of net sales, 10.2% and 7.9% for 2007 and 2006. Selling expenses for 2007 were $22.7 million, or 4.7% of net sales, a 0.6 
percentage point increase from the $23.2 million, or 4.1% of net sales, experienced in 2006. The $0.5 million decrease in selling expense was 
primarily the result of reductions in payroll related expenses of $1.3 million offset by increased promotional expenses of $0.8 million. General and 
administrative expenses were $26.3 million in 2007, or 5.5% of net sales, compared with $21.3 million, or 3.8% of net sales, in 2006. The increase 
of $5.0 million in general and administrative expenses was primarily related to increases in professional services and litigation settlements 
expense of $7.1 million, offset by decreases in payroll related expenses and bad debt expense. The litigation expense increase largely resulted 
from insurance settlements recovered in 2006 of approximately $3.6 million, resulting in reductions to the 2006 expense. 

GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT CHARGE

At December 31, 2006, the Company had $16.9 million of goodwill, $13.0 million attributable to the Housing reporting unit and $3.9 million 
attributable to the RV reporting unit. The RV reporting unit goodwill originated from the Company’s purchase of recreational vehicle assets. The 
Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as required by FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, during 
the fourth quarter of 2006 and the results indicated that the estimated fair value of each of the Company’s reporting units exceeded their 
carrying value. As a result of the continued weakness in the RV market, combined with continuing losses incurred by the RV reporting unit, 
SFAS No. 142 required the Company to perform an interim goodwill impairment evaluation during the quarter ended June 30, 2007. Because the 
carrying value of the RV reporting unit exceeded its fair value as calculated using the expected present value of future cash flows, the Company 
concluded that the goodwill was impaired as of June 30, 2007. Accordingly, the Company recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of 
$3.9 million in the quarter ended June 30, 2007. The Company has performed the required annual impairment tests and has determined that there 
was no impairment indicated for remaining Housing reporting unit goodwill as of December 31, 2007. 

GAIN ON THE SALE OF ASSETS, NET

In 2007, the Company had gains on the sale of assets of $1.0 million, compared to gains on the sale of assets of $8.7 million in 2006. Gains on the 
sale of assets in 2007 resulted from the Company’s asset sales including properties in Edwardsburg, Michigan and Rocky Mount, Virginia as 
well as paint equipment. Gains on the sale of assets in 2006 resulted from the Company’s restructuring plan and resulting asset sales including 
the former All American Homes facility in Tennessee resulting in a $1.1 million gain, property from the former Georgie Boy Manufacturing
facilities resulting in a $0.7 million gain, the Company’s aircraft resulting in a $1.7 million gain, and other idle properties in Indiana, Virginia, 
Texas and Florida resulting in a $5.2 million gain. Assets are continually analyzed and every effort is made to sell or dispose of properties that 
are determined to be excess or unproductive.  

OPERATING LOSS

Operating loss from continuing operations in 2007 of $39.1 million increased $23.4 million compared with the operating loss of $15.7 million in 
2006. This increase is the result of the $7.5 million decrease in gross profit combined with a $4.4 million increase in operating expenses, a 
goodwill impairment charge of $3.8 million and a decrease in gain on sale of assets of $7.7 million. 

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense from continuing operations for 2007 and 2006 was $3.5 million and $3.8 million, respectively. Interest expense decreased due to 
the lower amount of average outstanding balances of short-term borrowings incurred by the Company combined with lower applicable interest 
rates. During 2007, the Company continued to borrow from its line of credit ($20.1 million outstanding at December 31, 2007) and continued to 
borrow against the cash surrender value of its investment in life insurance contracts ($17.6 million outstanding at December 31, 2007). 

INVESTMENT INCOME

Investment income from continuing operations for 2007 and 2006 was $1.5 million and $1.6 million, respectively. Investment income is principally 
attributable to earnings of the life insurance policies held (see Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 
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PRE-TAX LOSS

Pre-tax loss from continuing operations for 2007 was $40.5 million compared with a pre-tax loss from continuing operations of $16.7 million for 
2006. The Company's RV Segment generated pre-tax loss from continuing operations of $33.9 million, or 9.4% of recreational vehicle net sales in 
2007, compared with a pre-tax loss from continuing operations of $25.4 million, or 6.3% of the RV Segment's net sales in 2006. The Housing 
Segment recorded 2007 pre-tax loss from continuing operations of $7.4 million or 6.2% of segment net sales compared with pre-tax income from 
continuing operations of $2.7 million, or 1.7% of segment net sales in 2006 (see Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 

INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes related to continuing operations was a credit of $1.8 million for 2007 versus an expense of $16.5 million for 2006. 
Given the losses incurred by the Company over the last two years, a non-cash charge from continuing operations of $13.3 million and $24.4 
million was recorded to establish a valuation allowance for the full value of its deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 
2006, respectively (see Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On December 31, 2005, the Company sold all operating assets of the All American Homes Kansas division. In accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, the division qualified as a separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, the 
operating results of the division have been accounted for as a discontinued operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods 
presented have been restated to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. Net sales of the Kansas division for the years ended 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $0.0 million and $9.7 million, respectively, and the pre-tax losses for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 
2005 were $(0.4) million and $(2.9) million, respectively.

On January 13, 2006, the Company sold all operating assets of Prodesign, LLC. The total sales price was $8.2 million, of which the Company 
received $5.7 million in cash, a $2.0 million promissory note and $0.5 million to be held in escrow to cover potential warranty claims and 
uncollectible accounts receivable, as defined in the sale agreement. The promissory note is to be repaid over a period of 10 years, using an 
amortization period of 15 years, and bears interest at 6% per annum with interest only payments being required in the first three years. The 
funds remaining in the escrow account of $0.4 million reverted to the Company in February 2007 per the sales agreement. In accordance with 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, Prodesign qualified as a separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, 
the operating results of Prodesign have been accounted for as a discontinued operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods 
presented have been adjusted to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. In conjunction with the classification of Prodesign as a 
discontinued operation, management allocated goodwill of $0.3 million to the discontinued operations from the RV Segment goodwill based on 
the relative fair value of the discontinued operations to the RV Segment. The $0.3 million of allocated goodwill has been included in the 
calculation of the final gain on sale of assets in the first quarter of 2006. Net sales of Prodesign for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 
were $0.4 million and $14.2 million, respectively, and the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $2.0 million 
and $(0.7) million, respectively. 

On March 31, 2006, the Company sold 100% of its interest in the capital stock of Miller Building Systems, Inc. for $11.5 million, consisting of 
cash of $9.0 million and a $2.5 million secured note. The note, which is included in other long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, is 
to be repaid over 5 years and bears interest at the 1 year LIBOR rate plus 2.75% per annum with quarterly interest payments beginning
September 30, 2006. Principal payments of $125,000 per quarter commence on June 30, 2009 and continue through the maturity date of March 31, 
2011. In addition, the Company accepted a $2.0 million contingent earn-out note. In October 2007, a subsequent agreement with Miller Building 
Systems waived the interest on the secured $2.5 million note for two years; hence no interest will be earned from March 31, 2007 to March 31, 
2009. The subsequent agreement with Miller Building Systems also canceled the $2.0 million contingent earn-out note. There is no financial 
impact as a result of this cancellation. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, the division qualified as a 
separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, the operating results of the division have been accounted for as a discontinued 
operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods presented have been restated to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. 
Net sales of Miller Building Systems, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $7.5 million and $41.6 million, respectively, and 
the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $1.5 million and $(8.2) million, respectively. In connection with 
this sale, $1.7 million of industrial revenue bonds were paid off as of March 31, 2006. During April 2006, the Company terminated the $1.5 million 
and $235,000 interest rate swaps that had been associated with these revenue bonds. 

NET LOSS

Net loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $38.8 million (a loss of $2.46 per diluted share) compared to net 
loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 of $33.2 million (a loss of $2.12 per diluted shared). Net loss for the year 
ended December 31, 2007 was $38.8 million (a loss of $2.46 per diluted share) compared to net loss of $31.8 million (loss of $2.03 per diluted 
share) for 2006. 
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Comparison of 2006 to 2005

NET SALES

Consolidated net sales from continuing operations decreased $138.0 million or 19.7% to $564.4 million in 2006 from $702.4 million in 2005. The 
Company's RV Segment experienced a net sales decrease from continuing operations of $117.4 million, or 22.5%, from 2005. Throughout 2006, as 
in 2005, the RV Segment worked through an industry slowdown in retail activity and higher dealer inventories, in part related to falling consumer 
confidence and significantly higher fuel costs and interest rates. Full-year recreational vehicle wholesale unit shipments for the Company were 
down 21.9% compared to 2005, while the industry was up 1.6%. For the full year, the Company’s wholesale market share declined from 4.9% to 
3.8% across all product types. The Company’s retail market share for the same period declined from 4.9% to 3.7% across all product types. 
Detailed market share data for 2006 and 2005 for each product type are set forth in the following table: 

The decrease in wholesale Class A market share is partially attributable to an overall slowdown in the Class A market, which declined 13.7% in 
2006 following a decline of 18.1% in 2005, as well as, being attributable to the sidewall warranty issue that has damaged our reputation among 
RV dealers and consumers. While industry shipments of Class C motorhomes declined 3.3%, the Company’s Class C shipments declined 1.2%. 
The non-motorized side of the industry has been very challenging of late as wholesale shipments of travel trailers have declined year over year 
in excess of 30% for each of the last three months. Even though industry travel trailer shipments were up 3.6% in 2006, comparisons are difficult 
with the heavy 2005 shipments of FEMA-related units both by Coachmen and within the industry as a whole. Camping trailers saw an increase 
in industry shipments of 3.7%, while the Company experienced a decline in wholesale shipments of approximately 11.8% during 2006, as issues 
surrounding the recall of the Company’s products due to the lift mechanism employed in the product negatively impacted sales. RV backlogs 
the end of 2006 decreased to 1,628 units from 3,964 in 2005, primarily due to late 2005 hurricane relief related travel trailer orders. Total travel 
trailer backlog declined from 2,857 units at the end of 2005 to 607 units at the end of 2006. 

The Housing Segment had a net sales decrease from continuing operations in 2006 of $20.5 million, or 11.4%. Wholesale unit shipments
declined 15.4% compared with the prior year and backlogs at December 31, 2006 decreased to $33.2 million, compared with $45.4 million at 
December 31, 2005. The Segment’s results were impacted by continuing weakness in its core Midwest housing market, which has spread into 
the Southeast and Middle Atlantic regions. The most recent statistics on new home sales from the U.S. Census Bureau showed a 2.9% decline 
in year over year comparison in the Midwest region, and an 8.9% decline in the South. This is consistent with the challenges faced at the All 
American Homes operations in Ohio, Indiana and Iowa through much of 2005 and throughout 2006, and the 2006 challenges faced by the
Company’s operations in North Carolina and Virginia. For 2006, the Housing Segment experienced an 11.9% increase in the average sales price
per unit largely due to a shift in product mix, which partially offset the decline in unit sales. Historically, the Company's first and fourth quarters 
are the slowest for sales in both segments. 

     Wholesale Share    Retail Share
     2006  2005     2006     2005
Class A Motorhomes  5.6%  7.6%  6.5%  7.9%

Gasoline  n/a  n/a  8.4  10.2
Diesel  n/a  n/a  4.7  5.5

Class C Motorhomes  9.5  9.3  10.6  12.5
Travel Trailers  3.0  4.4  2.7  4.0
Fifth Wheels  1.7  1.7  1.8  2.1
Camping Trailers  8.6  10.0  8.1  9.9

Total  3.8%  4.9%  3.7%  4.9%

n/a - not available 

Wholesale share based on wholesale unit shipment data as reported by the Recreational Vehicle Industry Association.
Retail share based on data provided by Statistical Surveys, Inc.
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GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit from continuing operations was $20.2 million, or 3.6% of net sales, in 2006 compared to $23.2 million, or 3.3% of net sales, in 2005. 
For the RV Segment, gross profit in dollars declined in 2006 as a result of decreased sales and corresponding production volume decrease, 
resulting in lower utilization of the Company's manufacturing facilities. For the Housing Segment, gross profit in dollars declined due to the 
11.4% decrease in sales combined with higher insurance and workers compensation. Gross profit as a percentage of sales increased due to 
expense reductions and operating efficiencies, partially through the consolidation of a number of operations. Margins were also squeezed by 
increases in commodity prices that were unusual in terms of size and number of commodities affected in 2006. 

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses for continuing operations, consisting of selling, general and administrative expenses, were $44.5 million and $59.1 million, or 
as a percentage of net sales, 7.9% for 2006 and 8.4% for 2005. Selling expenses for 2006 were $23.2 million, or 4.1% of net sales, a 0.1 percentage 
point increase from the $28.3 million, or 4.0% of net sales, experienced in 2005. The $5.1 million decrease in selling expense was primarily the 
result of reductions in payroll related expenses and reductions in sales promotions expenses. General and administrative expenses were $21.3 
million in 2006, or 3.8% of net sales, compared with $30.8 million, or 4.4% of net sales, in 2005. The decrease of $9.5 million in general and 
administrative expenses was primarily related to reductions in professional services and litigation settlements expense of $6.3 million, plus 
reductions in payroll related expenses, insurance expenses and property tax expenses. The litigation expense reduction largely resulted from 
insurance settlements recovered of approximately $3.6 million. 

GAIN ON THE SALE OF ASSETS, NET

In 2006, the Company had gains on the sale of assets of $8.7 million, compared to gains on the sale of assets of $0.2 million in 2005. Gains on the 
sale of assets in 2006 resulted from the Company’s restructuring plan and resulting asset sales including the former All American Homes facility 
in Tennessee resulting in a $1.1 million gain, property from the former Georgie Boy Manufacturing facilities resulting in a $0.7 million gain, the 
Company’s aircraft resulting in a $1.7 million gain, and other idle properties in Indiana, Virginia, Texas and Florida resulting in a $5.2 million gain. 
Assets are continually analyzed and every effort is made to sell or dispose of properties that are determined to be excess or unproductive.

OPERATING LOSS

Operating loss from continuing operations in 2006 of $15.7 million decreased $21.1 million compared with the operating loss of $36.8 million in 
2005. This decrease is the result of the $6.5 million decrease in gross profit offset by a significant decrease in operating expenses of $18.1 
million, a decrease of $1.1 million in asset impairments and an increase in gain on sale of assets of $8.5 million. 

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense from continuing operations for 2006 and 2005 was $3.8 million and $3.2 million, respectively. Interest expense increased due to 
the higher amount of average outstanding balances of short-term borrowings incurred by the Company combined with higher applicable 
interest rates. During 2006, the Company continued to borrow from its line of credit ($9.3 million outstanding at December 31, 2006) and 
continued to borrow against the cash surrender value of its investment in life insurance contracts ($15 million outstanding throughout 2006 and 
at December 31, 2006).

INVESTMENT INCOME

Investment income from continuing operations for 2006 and 2005 was $1.6 million and $2.2 million, respectively. Investment income is principally 
attributable to earnings of the life insurance policies held and in 2005 also included realized gains on the sale of preferred stock. (see Note 1 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 

PRE-TAX LOSS

Pre-tax loss from continuing operations for 2006 was $16.7 million compared with a pre-tax loss from continuing operations of $37.4 million for 
2005. The Company's RV Segment generated pre-tax loss from continuing operations of $25.4 million, or 6.3% of recreational vehicle net sales in 
2006, compared with a pre-tax loss from continuing operations of $40.8 million, or 7.8% of the RV Segment's net sales in 2005. The Housing 
Segment recorded 2006 pre-tax income from continuing operations of $2.7 million or 1.7% of segment net sales compared with a pre-tax loss from 
continuing operations of $2.4 million, or 1.3% of segment net sales (see Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 
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INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes related to continuing operations was an expense of $16.5 million for 2006 versus a benefit of $18.0 million for 
2005. Given the losses incurred by the Company over the last two years, a non-cash charge from continuing operations of $24.4 million was 
recorded to establish a valuation allowance for the full value of its deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2006 (see Note 10 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements). 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On December 31, 2005, the Company sold all operating assets of the All American Homes Kansas division. In accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, the division qualified as a separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, the 
operating results of the division have been accounted for as a discontinued operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods 
presented have been restated to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. Net sales of the Kansas division for the years ended 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $0.0 million and $9.7 million, respectively, and the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006 
and 2005 were $(0.4) million and $(2.9) million, respectively.

On January 13, 2006, the Company sold all operating assets of Prodesign, LLC. The total sales price was $8.2 million, of which the Company 
received $5.7 million in cash, a $2.0 million promissory note and $0.5 million to be held in escrow to cover potential warranty claims and 
uncollectible accounts receivable, as defined in the sale agreement. The promissory note is to be repaid over a period of 10 years, using an 
amortization period of 15 years, and bears interest at 6% per annum with interest only payments being required in the first three years. Any 
funds remaining in the escrow account after a period of 13 months will revert to the Company. In accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 144, Prodesign qualified as a separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, the operating results of 
Prodesign have been accounted for as a discontinued operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods presented have been 
restated to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. In conjunction with the classification of Prodesign as a discontinued operation, 
management allocated goodwill of $0.3 million to the discontinued operations from the RV Segment goodwill based on the relative fair value of 
the discontinued operations to the RV Segment. The $0.3 million of allocated goodwill has been included in the calculation of the final gain on 
sale of assets in the first quarter of 2006. Net sales of Prodesign for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $0.4 million and $14.2 
million, respectively, and the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $2.0 million and $(0.7) million, 
respectively.

On March 31, 2006, the Company sold 100% of its interest in the capital stock of Miller Building Systems, Inc. for $11.5 million, consisting of 
cash of $9.0 million and a $2.5 million secured note. The note, which is included in other long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, is 
to be repaid over 5 years and bears interest at the 1 year LIBOR rate plus 2.75% per annum with quarterly interest payments beginning
September 30, 2006. Principal payments of $125,000 per quarter commence on June 30, 2009 and continue through the maturity date of March 31, 
2011. In addition, the Company accepted a $2.0 million contingent earn-out note. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standard No. 144, the division qualified as a separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, the operating results of the 
division have been accounted for as a discontinued operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods presented have been restated 
to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. Net sales of Miller Building Systems, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 
were $7.5 million and $41.6 million, respectively, and the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $1.5 million 
and $(8.2) million, respectively. In connection with the sale of Miller Building Systems, $1.7 million of industrial revenue bonds were paid off as 
of March 31, 2006. During April 2006, the Company terminated the $1.5 million and $235,000 interest rate swaps that had been associated with 
these revenue bonds. 

NET LOSS

Net loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $33.2 million (a loss of $2.12 per diluted share) compared to net 
loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2005 of $19.4 million (a loss of $1.24 per diluted shared). Net loss for the year 
ended December 31, 2006 was $31.8 million (a loss of $2.03 per diluted share) compared to net loss of $26.4 million (loss of $1.69 per diluted 
share) for 2005. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company generally relies on funds from operations as its primary source of working capital and liquidity. In addition, the Company
maintains a $55.0 million line of credit to meet its seasonal working capital needs that expires in 2011 (see Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements). At December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 there were $20.1 million, $9.3 million and $12.3 million in outstanding borrowings, 
respectively. At December 31, 2007, the Company has $26.1 million available for borrowing under the unsecured line of credit. The Company 
also borrowed against the cash surrender value of the Company's investment in life insurance contracts. As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 
2005, $17.6 million, $16.4 million and $15.0 million, respectively, had been borrowed against the cash surrender value of Company-owned life 
insurance contracts. The Company has paid the premiums on these contracts in 2007 and 2006 with borrowings against the cash surrender
value of the contracts, resulting in the increase in borrowings of $1.2 million at December 31, 2007 compared to December 31, 2006 and an 
increase of $1.4 million at December 31, 2006 compared to December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2007, the cash surrender value of life 
insurance is approximately $51.5 million, with $17.6 million borrowed, resulting in a cash surrender value net of loans of $33.9 million. 

During 2007 operations used cash of $6.8 million as reductions in accounts receivable and refundable income taxes were offset by the net loss. 
Accounts receivable decreased as a result of lower sales in 2007, and several refundable income tax payments were received in early 2007. 
During 2006 operations used cash of $5.0 million as significant reductions in inventory and accounts receivable were offset by the net loss, 
reduction in accounts payable, and a reduction in accrued expenses. The 2006 decreases in accounts receivable and inventories resulted from 
management’s continued focus on effectively managing these assets. The 2006 reduction in accounts payable resulted from reduced 
production and inventory levels and the reduced accrued expenses was largely due to warranty repairs made during 2006. During 2005,
operations generated cash of $7.6 million as the net loss and increases in accrued expenses, deferred tax assets and refundable taxes were offset 
by decreases in accounts receivable and inventories and losses on sales of assets. The decreases in accounts receivable and inventories were a 
result of management’s focus on the reduction of these assets.  

Investing activities used cash of $3.2 million in 2007, provided cash of $20.4 million in 2006, and used cash of $4.4 million in 2005. In 2007, 
premiums on life insurance policies of $1.7 million and purchases of property and equipment of $3.6 million were partially offset by proceeds 
from sales of assets and properties of $1.8 million. In 2006, proceeds from sales of assets and properties of $28.1 million offset purchases of 
property and equipment of $4.6 million and premiums on life insurance policies of $2.6 million. In 2005, cash of $5.7 million was used to acquire 
machinery and equipment for both operating segments while cash of $1.8 million was generated from the sale of assets. Purchases of 
investments, net of sales, used cash flows of $0.6 million. 

In 2007, financing activities provided cash flows of $8.9 million. Proceeds from borrowings on the line of credit offset payments on long-term
debt, providing cash of $9.7 million. Additionally, $0.9 million in dividends were paid in 2007. In 2006, financing activities used cash flows of 
$15.5 million. Payments on borrowings on the line of credit, and the long-term debt, net of borrowings, used cash of $13.4 million. Additionally, 
$2.8 million in dividends were paid in 2006. In 2005, financing activities used cash flows of $15.4 million. Payments on borrowings on the line of 
credit, including a short-term loan from 2004, and the long-term debt, net of borrowings, used cash of $12.4 million. In addition, dividends of $3.8 
million were paid in 2005. For a more detailed analysis of the Company's cash flows for each of the last three years, see the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows.

The Company's cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2007 were $1.5 million or a decrease of $1.1 million from 2006. At December 31, 2007, 
the Company has $26.1 million available for borrowing under the unsecured line of credit. The Company has another source of cash through the 
cash surrender value of life insurance policies. As of December 31, 2007, the cash surrender value of life insurance is approximately $51.5 million, 
with $17.6 million borrowed, resulting in a cash surrender value net of loans of $33.9 million. The Company can borrow an additional maximum 
amount of $31.3 million against the net cash surrender value at December 31, 2007. The Company anticipates that available funds, together with 
anticipated cash flows generated from future operations and amounts available under its existing credit facility, will be sufficient to fund future 
planned capital expenditures and other operating cash requirements through the end of 2008. 

Any downturn in the U.S. economy, decline in consumer confidence and other factors may adversely impact the RV and housing industries.
This may have a negative impact on the Company's sales and also increases the Company's risk of loss under repurchase agreements with 
lenders to the Company's independent dealers and builders (see Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). Increases in interest 
rates could also adversely affect the sale of RV's and of single-family homes. 

In 2007, working capital decreased $37.5 million, to $25.3 million from $62.8 million. The $30.3 million decrease in current assets at December 31, 
2007 versus December 31, 2006 was primarily due to decreases in trade receivables, and refundable income taxes. Current liabilities at December 
31, 2007 were $7.2 million higher than at December 31, 2006, primarily due to the increase in short-term borrowings. 

The Company anticipates capital expenditures in 2008 of approximately $4.0 million. The planned capital expenditures for 2008 will be for 
purchase or replacement of machinery and equipment and transportation equipment to be used in the ordinary course of business. The
Company plans to finance these expenditures with funds generated from operating cash flows. 
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Principal Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The Company's future contractual obligations are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Notes:

The Company's commercial commitments, along with the expected expiration period of the commitment, are summarized as follows (in
thousands):

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The following discussion of accounting policies is intended to supplement the summary of significant accounting policies presented in Note 1
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. These policies were selected because they are broadly applicable within our operating units and 
they involve additional management judgment due to the sensitivity of the methods, assumptions and estimates necessary in determining the 
related income statement, asset and/or liability amounts. 

Long-Lived Assets - Long-lived assets held and used by the Company, including property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable (see Note 11 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for asset impairments recorded in 2007 and 2005, including impairments of intangible assets). 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of acquired businesses. 
Goodwill assets deemed to have indefinite lives are not amortized, but are subject to impairment tests at least annually in accordance with SFAS 
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The Company reviews the carrying amounts of goodwill assets annually by segment to 
determine if such assets may be impaired. If the carrying amounts of these assets are not recoverable based upon a discounted cash flow 
analysis, such assets are reduced by the estimated shortfall of fair value to recorded value. SFAS No. 142 required the Company to perform an 
interim goodwill impairment evaluation during the quarter ended June 30, 2007. Because the carrying value of the RV reporting unit exceeded its 
fair value as calculated using the expected present value of future cash flows, the Company concluded that the goodwill was impaired as of 
June 30, 2007. Accordingly, the Company recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $3.9 million in the quarter ended June 30, 
2007. The Company has performed the required annual impairment tests and has determined that there was no impairment indicated for the 
remaining Housing reporting unit goodwill at December 31, 2007. Our estimates of fair value of the Housing reporting unit could change as a 
result of our actual cash flows differing from our forecasted cash flows, which were used in our estimate of fair value. Further, a variance in the 
discount rate used could have an impact on the amount of goodwill impairment recorded. 

Payment Period
2008  2009   2010   2011   2012  Thereafter Total

 Credit facility borrowings (1)  $ 20,072.9 $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - $ - $ 20,072.9
 Long-term debt 852.2 819.4 819.9 770.4 150.0 450.0 3,861.9
 Floorplan note payable 4,116.0 - - - - - 4,116.0
 Operating leases 1,309.9 1,086.0 978.6 747.9 222.5 - 4,344.9
 Deferred compensation obligations 889.6 406.0 659.1 460.9 482.4 5,624.3 8,522.3
 Open purchase orders and purchase 

obligations 14,895.8 - - - - - 14,895.8

 Interest payments on long-term debt 128.1 96.4 65.5 35.9 19.1 24.5 369.5

 Total  $ 42,264.5 $ 2,407.8  $ 2,523.1  $ 2,015.1  $ 874.0 $ 6,098.8 $ 56,183.3

(1) Credit facility expires in 2011

- Projected interest payments for variable-rate debt were calculated based on the outstanding principal amounts and prevailing market 
rates as of December 31, 2007.

- The open purchase orders and purchase obligations displayed in the table represent amounts the Company anticipates will become
payable within the next year for goods and services it has negotiated for delivery.

    Total Amounts Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period
Committed Less Than One Year In Excess of One Year

Letters of credit $ 4,745.4 $ 4,745.4 $ -
Guarantees 3,978.9 3,584.8 394.1
Standby repurchase obligations 190,535.7 175,985.0 14,550.7
Chassis pool obligations 14,492.4 14,492.4 -

 Total $ 213,752.4 $ 198,807.6 $ 14,944.8
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Revenue Recognition - For the RV Segment, the shipping terms are free on board ("FOB") shipping point and title and risk of ownership are 
transferred to the independent dealers at that time. Accordingly, sales are recognized as revenue at the time the products are shipped. For the 
Housing Segment, the shipping terms are either FOB shipping point or FOB destination. For traditional home sales, shipping terms are generally 
FOB destination and title and risk of ownership are generally transferred when the Company completes installation of the product. For 
traditional homes FOB destination shipping terms, the Company generally recognizes the revenue at the time delivery and installation are 
completed. Revenue from final set-up procedures, which are perfunctory, is deferred and recognized when such set-up procedures are 
completed. Major projects shipping terms are usually detailed in the contract, and title and risk of ownership are transferred per the contract. In 
the case of these major projects, the Company recognizes the revenue when title and risk of ownership are transferred according to the terms of 
the contract. 

Warranty Reserves - The Company provides customers of its products with a warranty covering defects in material or workmanship for periods 
generally ranging from one to two years in length and up to ten years on certain structural components. The Company records a liability based 
on its estimate of the amounts necessary to settle future and existing claims on products sold as of the balance sheet date. Estimated costs 
related to product warranty are accrued at the time of sale and included in cost of sales. General warranty reserves are estimated based upon 
past warranty claims and unit sales history and adjusted as required to reflect actual costs incurred, as information becomes available. Specific 
warranty reserves are based on specific identified issues with the amounts accrued based on the estimated cost to correct the problem. While 
the Company believes this method to be consistent and appropriate, changes in estimates could materially affect the Company’s recorded 
liability for loss. Warranty expense from continuing operations totaled $16.8 million, $21.6 million and $34.8 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively. Accrued liabilities for warranty expense at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $8.1 million and $11.1 million, respectively.

The decrease in warranty accrual for 2007 of $3.0 million to $8.1 million is the result of specific reserves established in 2005 related to the recall of 
defective camping trailer lift systems and the repair of defective material used in laminated sidewalls of certain of the Company’s recreational 
vehicles, lower sales levels and improvements in quality. Most of the claims against these specific reserves were paid by the Company in 2006 
and in the first quarter of 2007. 

Litigation and Insurance Reserves - At December 31, 2007 the Company had reserves for certain other loss exposures, such as product liability, 
workers compensation and group health insurance ($8.5 million) and litigation ($0.9 million) (see Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements). The Company's litigation reserve is determined based on an individual case evaluation process. The Company is self-insured for a 
portion of its product liability, workers compensation and group health insurance and certain other liability exposures. Depending on the nature 
of the claim and the date of occurrence, the Company's maximum exposure ranges from $250,000 to $500,000 per claim. The Company accrues an 
estimated liability based on historical losses, insurance coverage and the amount of outstanding claims. Management believes the liability 
recorded (see Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) is adequate to cover the Company's self-insured risk. The Company's 
estimated loss reserves for product liability, workers compensation and group health insurance are determined using loss triangles established 
by the Company's management reflecting historical claims incurred by the Company. While the Company believes this method to be consistent
and appropriate, changes in estimates based on historical trends could materially affect the Company's recorded liabilities for loss. 

Income Taxes - The Company recognizes income tax expense in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are established for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or 
tax returns using enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse and are subject to ongoing assessment 
of realizability. Deferred income tax expense (benefit) represents the change in net deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year. Deferred tax 
assets may be recognized for temporary differences that will result in deductible amounts in future periods and for loss carry forwards. A 
valuation allowance is recognized if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred 
tax asset will not be realized. Primarily due to the Company’s losses from continuing operations over the last three years, noncash charges from 
continuing operations of $13.3 million and $24.4 million were recorded as a valuation allowance for the full value of its deferred tax assets as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Depending on future operating results it is possible the valuation allowance could be reversed which 
would increase deferred tax assets and the Company’s income tax benefit. 

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 
Taxes. The implementation of FIN 48 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. 

New and Pending Accounting Policies

(See New Accounting Pronouncements in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.) 
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K Report contains certain statements that are "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities 
Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements are based on management’s
expectations and beliefs concerning future events. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, and are dependent on 
various factors, many of which are outside the control of the Company. These uncertainties and other factors include, but are not limited to: 

In addition, investors should be aware that generally accepted accounting principles prescribe when a company must disclose or reserve for 
particular risks, including litigation exposures. Accordingly, results for a given reporting period could be significantly affected if and when a 
reserve is established for a major contingency. Reported results may therefore appear to be volatile in certain accounting periods. The foregoing 
lists are not exhaustive, and the Company disclaims any obligation to subsequently revise any forward-looking statements to reflect events or 
circumstances after the date of such statements. 

• the ability of the management team to achieve desired results;
• interest rates, which affect the affordability of the Company's products;
• consumer confidence and the availability of credit;
• the Company’s ability to utilize manufacturing resources efficiently;
• the Company’s ability to introduce new models that achieve consumer acceptance;
• the margins associated with the mix of products the Company sells in a particular period;
• the availability of floorplan financing for the Company's recreational vehicle dealers and corresponding availability of cash to the 

Company;
• oil supplies and the availability and price of gasoline and diesel fuel, which can impact the sale of recreational vehicles;
• the Company's dependence on chassis and other suppliers;
• potential liabilities under repurchase agreements and guarantees;
• consolidation of distribution channels in the recreational vehicle industry;
• legislation governing the relationships of the Company with its recreational vehicle dealers, which may affect the Company’s options and 

liabilities in the event of a general economic downturn;
• the price volatility of materials used in production and the ability to pass on rapidly increasing costs of product components and raw 

materials to end buyers;
• the availability and cost of real estate for residential housing;
• the increased size and scope of work of military housing projects, and other major projects, as compared to the Company's traditional

single-family homes business, with increased reliance on third parties for performance which could impact the Company; 
• the ability to perform in new market segments or geographic areas where it has limited experience;
• the impact of performance on the valuation of intangible assets;
• the supply of existing homes within the Company’s markets;
• the impact of home values on housing demand;
• uncertainties and timing with respect to sales resulting from recovery efforts in the Gulf Coast;
• adverse weather conditions affecting home deliveries;
• changing government regulations, including those covering accounting standards;
• environmental matters or product warranties and recalls, which may affect costs of operations, revenues, product acceptance and

profitability;
• the state of the recreational vehicle and housing industries in the United States;
• changes in property taxes and energy costs;
• changes in federal income tax laws and federal mortgage financing programs;
• competition in the industries in which the Company operates;
• further developments in the war on terrorism and related international crises;
• uncertainties of matters in litigation and other risks and uncertainties;
• the ability of the Company to generate taxable income in future years to utilize deferred tax assets and net operating loss carryforwards

that are available;
• the availability of financing under the Company’s line of credit;
• the Company’s ability to increase gross margins which are critical whether or not there are increased sales;
• the Company’s use of incentives at either the wholesale or retail level;
• the impact of sub-prime lending on the availability of credit for the broader housing market;
• the dependence on key customers within certain product types;
• the potential fluctuation in the Company’s operating results;
• uncertainties regarding the impact of the disclosed restructuring steps in both the Recreational Vehicle and Housing Segments.
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At times, the Company's actual performance differs materially from its projections and estimates regarding the economy, the recreational vehicle 
and building industries and other key performance indicators. Readers of this Report are cautioned that reliance on any forward-looking
statements involves risks and uncertainties. Although the Company believes that the assumptions on which the forward-looking statements 
contained herein are reasonable, any of those assumptions could prove to be inaccurate given the inherent uncertainties as to the occurrence or 
nonoccurrence of future events. There can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements contained in this Report will prove to be 
accurate. The inclusion of a forward-looking statement herein should not be regarded as a representation by the Company that the Company's 
objectives will be achieved. 

In the normal course of business, operations of the Company are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. These fluctuations can vary the costs 
of financing and investing yields. Accordingly, changes in interest rates would impact both the Company's short and long-term debt. During 
2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company has utilized its revolving credit facility to meet short-term working capital needs. The Company had $20.1 
million outstanding against the revolving credit facility on December 31, 2007. The Company had $9.3 million outstanding against the revolving 
credit facility on December 31, 2006 and $12.3 million outstanding against the revolving credit facility on December 31, 2005. At December 31, 
2007, the Company had $3.9 million of long-term debt, including current maturities. Long-term debt consists mainly of industrial development 
revenue bonds of approximately $3.6 million. 

Based upon the amount of variable-rate debt outstanding at the end of the year, and holding the variable-rate debt balance constant, each one 
percentage point increase in interest rates occurring on the first day of an annual period would result in an increase in interest expense of 
approximately $0.4 million.

At December 31, 2007, the Company had one interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $2.4 million that was used to convert the 
variable interest rates on an industrial development revenue bond to a fixed rate. In accordance with the terms of the swap agreement, the 
Company pays a 3.71% interest rate, and receives the Bond Market Association Index (BMA), calculated on the notional amount, with net 
receipts or payments being recognized as adjustments to interest expense. This swap agreement, along with those terminated in 2006 and 2005, 
is designated as a cash flow hedge for accounting purposes and effectively converts a portion of the Company's variable-rate borrowing to a 
fixed-rate basis through November of 2011, thus reducing the impact of changes in interest rates on future interest expense. The fair value of the 
Company's interest rate swap agreement represents the estimated receipts or payments that would be made to terminate the agreements. A 
cumulative loss of $39,000, net of taxes, attributable to changes in the fair value of interest rate swap agreements was recorded as a component 
of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2007. If in the future the interest rate swap agreements were 
determined to be ineffective or were terminated before the contractual termination dates, or if it became probable that the hedged variable cash 
flows associated with the variable-rate borrowings would stop, the Company would be required to reclassify into earnings all or a portion of the 
unrealized losses on cash flow hedges included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
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All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes 
thereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Coachmen Industries, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Coachmen Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December
31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2007. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)2. These financial 
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements and schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Coachmen 
Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, 
the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all 
material respects the information set forth therein. 

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2007, the Company changed its method of accounting
related to the classification of delivery expenses. 

As discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2007 the Company changed its method of accounting for 
uncertain tax positions in connection with the required adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48 Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Coachmen
Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 
February 20, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Grand Rapids, Michigan
February 20, 2008
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Coachmen Industries, Inc. 

We have audited Coachmen Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, Coachmen Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Coachmen Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 of Coachmen Industries, Inc. 
and subsidiaries and our report dated February 20, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

Grand Rapids, Michigan
February 20, 2008
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Coachmen Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

as of December 31
(in thousands)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2007 2006
Assets          
CURRENT ASSETS          

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,549 $ 2,651
Trade receivables, less allowance for doubtful receivables 2007 - $744 and 2006 - $1,134 9,122 25,874
Other receivables 3,819 2,332
Refundable income taxes 1,628 10,820
Inventories 79,268 83,511
Prepaid expenses and other 3,804 3,957
Assets held for sale - 288

Total current assets 99,190 129,433

Property, plant and equipment, net 52,932 57,018
Goodwill 12,993 16,865
Cash value of life insurance, net of loans 33,936 31,119
Other 8,617 8,699

TOTAL ASSETS $ 207,668 $ 243,134

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Short-term borrowings $ 20,073 $ 9,284
Accounts payable, trade 15,042 16,998
Accrued income taxes 536 18
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 33,235 35,116
Floorplan notes payable 4,116 4,156
Current maturities of long-term debt 852 1,077

Total current liabilities 73,854 66,649

Long-term debt 3,010 3,862
Deferred income taxes 1,990 4,524
Postretirement deferred compensation benefits 7,632 7,768
Other 49 -

Total liabilities 86,535 82,803

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 12)

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common shares, without par value: authorized 60,000 shares; issued 2007 - 21,180 shares and 2006 -

21,156 shares 92,552 92,382
Additional paid-in capital 7,856 7,648
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (48) (10)
Retained earnings 79,927 119,623
Treasury shares, at cost, 2007 - 5,402 shares and 2006 - 5,433 shares (59,154) (59,312)

Total shareholders' equity 121,133 160,331

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 207,668 $ 243,134
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Coachmen Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

for the years ended December 31
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2007 2006 2005
              

Net sales $ 480,840 $ 564,382 $ 702,425
Cost of sales 468,123 544,166 679,227

Gross profit 12,717 20,216 23,198

Operating expenses:
Selling 22,712 23,230 28,320
General and administrative 26,310 21,328 30,794
Asset impairments 3,872 - 1,076
Gain on sale of assets, net (1,037) (8,689) (163)

51,857 35,869 60,027

Operating loss (39,140) (15,653) (36,829)

Nonoperating (income) expense:
Interest expense 3,497 3,829 3,168
Investment income (1,488) (1,617) (2,182)
Other income, net (606) (1,165) (461)

1,403 1,047 525

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (40,543) (16,700) (37,354)

Income taxes (credit) (1,791) 16,515 (17,994)

Net loss from continuing operations (38,752) (33,215) (19,360)

Discontinued operations
Loss from operations of discontinued entities (net of tax credits of $0, $(546) and 

$(4,426), respectively) - (795) (6,370)
Gain (loss) on sale of assets of discontinued entities (net of taxes (credits) of $0,

$2,140 and $(431), respectively) - 2,205 (620)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 1,410 (6,990)

Net loss $ (38,752) $ (31,805) $ (26,350)

Earnings (loss) per share - Basic
Continuing operations $ (2.46) $ (2.12) $ (1.24)
Discontinued operations - .09 (.45)

Net loss per share (2.46) (2.03) (1.69)
Earnings (loss) per share - Diluted

Continuing operations (2.46) (2.12) (1.24)
Discontinued operations - .09 (.45)

Net loss per share $ (2.46) $ (2.03) $ (1.69)

Number of common shares used in the computation of earnings (loss) per share:
Basic 15,727 15,633 15,551
Diluted 15,727 15,633 15,551



- 41 -

Coachmen Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

               Accumulated                
             Additional     Other             Total  
    Comprehensive  Common  Shares   Paid-In  Unearned  Comprehensive  Retained  Treasury  Shares   Shareholders'  
    Income (Loss)   Number  Amount   Capital   Compensation   Income(Loss)    Earnings   Number   Amount    Equity  
Balance at January 1, 2005 21,108 $ 91,850 $ 8,894 $ (1,700)$ 92 $ 184,284 (5,384)$ (59,002)$ 224,418
Net loss $ (26,350) - - - - - (26,350) - - (26,350)
Reversal of unrealized gain on 

securities net of taxes of $116 (188) - - - - (188) - - - (188)
Net unrealized gain on cash flow 

hedges 90 - - - - 90 - - - 90
Total comprehensive loss $ (26,448)
Issuance of common shares upon 

the exercise of stock options net 
of tax benefit of $7 - - 164 - - - 28 165 329

Issuance of common shares under 
employee stock purchase plan 26 314 - - - - - - 314

Issuance (cancellations) of 
common shares from treasury - - (2,593) 1,558 - - (19) (87) (1,122)

Other - - - - - 68 - - 68
Cash dividends of $.24 per 

common share - - - - - (3,756) - - (3,756)
Balance at December 31, 2005 21,134 92,164 6,465 (142) (6) 154,246 (5,375) (58,924) 193,803

Comprehensive Income - 2006
Net loss $ (31,805) - - - - - (31,805) - - (31,805)
Net unrealized (loss) on cash flow 

hedges (4) - - - - (4) - - - (4)
Total comprehensive loss $ (31,809)
Issuance of common shares upon 

the exercise of stock options net 
of tax benefit of $25 - - 284 - - - 64 376 660

Issuance of common shares under 
employee stock purchase plan 22 218 - - - - - - 218

Issuance (cancellations) of 
common shares from treasury - - 899 142 - - (122) (764) 277

Cash dividends of $.18 per 
common share - - - - - (2,818) - - (2,818)

Balance at December 31, 2006 21,156 92,382 7,648 - (10) 119,623 (5,433) (59,312) 160,331

Comprehensive Income - 2007
Net loss $ (38,752) - - - - - (38,752) - - (38,752)
Net unrealized (loss) on cash flow 

hedges  (38) - - - - (38) - - - (38)
Total comprehensive loss $ (38,790)
Issuance of common shares under 

employee stock purchase plan 24 170 - - - - - - 170
Issuance (cancellations) of 

common shares from treasury - - 208 - - - 31 158 366
Cash dividends of $.06 per 

common share - - - - - (944) - - (944)
Balance at December 31, 2007 21,180 $ 92,552 $ 7,856 $ - $ (48) $ 79,927 (5,402)$ (59,154)$ 121,133
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Coachmen Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

for the years ended December 31
(in thousands)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 2007 2006 2005
Net loss $ (38,752) $ (31,805) $ (26,350)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities:
Depreciation 5,790 6,533 8,554
Provision for doubtful receivables 512 1,631 988
Provision for write-down of assets to net realizable value - - 9,241
Net realized and unrealized gains on marketable securities and derivatives (38) (4) (311)
Goodwill impairment charge 3,872 - -
(Gain) loss on sale of properties and other assets, net (1,037) (13,183) 1,592
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance policies (1,129) (317) (1,142)
Deferred income tax provision (benefit) (2,534) 20,224 (13,198)
Tax benefit from stock options exercised - 25 7
Other 1,100 127 (848)
Changes in certain assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and 

dispositions:
Trade receivables 15,977 16,642 12,883
Inventories 4,243 25,627 14,784
Prepaid expenses and other 153 (582) 152
Accounts payable, trade (1,956) (13,150) (2,147)
Income taxes - accrued and refundable 9,710 (1,051) (11,986)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (2,687) (15,750) 15,390

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (6,776) (5,033) 7,609

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities - - 1,933
Proceeds from sale of properties and other assets 1,787 28,104 1,846
Investments in marketable securities and cash surrender value (1,688) (2,574) (2,549)
Purchases of property and equipment (3,618) (4,622) (5,696)
Other 310 (517) 48

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (3,209) 20,391 (4,418)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 11,037 11,713 232
Payments of short-term borrowings (288) (14,910) (10,581)
Proceeds from long-term debt - 255 241
Payments of long-term debt (1,077) (10,452) (2,243)
Issuance of common shares under stock incentive plans 170 878 643
Tax benefit from stock options exercised - (25) (7)
Cash dividends paid (944) (2,818) (3,756)
Purchases of common shares for treasury (15) (129) -
Other - 1 68

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 8,883 (15,487) (15,403)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,102) (129) (12,212)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of year 2,651 2,780 14,992
End of year $ 1,549 $ 2,651 $ 2,780

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 663 $ 1,383 $ 2,314
Cash paid (refunded) during the year for income taxes (9,032) (127) 2,240
Operating cash received related to insurance settlement - 2,875 2,213
Gain on sale of assets - Continuing operations (1,037) (8,689) (163)
(Gain) loss on sale of assets - Discontinued operations - (4,345) 1,051
Provision for write-down of assets to net realizable value - Continuing operations - - 1,077
Provision for write-down of assets to net realizable value - Discontinued operations $ - $ - $ 8,164
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Nature of Operations - Coachmen Industries, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") manufacture a full array of recreational vehicles and 
system-built housing. Recreational vehicles are sold through a nationwide dealer network. The system-built products (single-family homes, 
multi-family dwellings, military housing, motels/hotels, group living facilities, and residential subdivisions) are sold to builders/dealers or 
directly to the end user for certain specialized structures. 

Principles of Consolidation - The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Coachmen Industries, Inc. and 
its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly or majority-owned. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Revenue Recognition - For the RV Segment, the shipping terms are free on board ("FOB") shipping point and title and risk of ownership are 
transferred to the independent dealers at that time. Accordingly, sales are recognized as revenue at the time the products are shipped. For 
the Housing Segment, the shipping terms are either FOB shipping point or FOB destination. For traditional home sales, shipping terms are 
generally FOB destination and title and risk of ownership are generally transferred when the Company completes installation of the
product. For traditional homes FOB destination shipping terms, the Company generally recognizes the revenue at the time delivery and 
installation are completed. Revenue from final set-up procedures, which are perfunctory, is deferred and recognized when such set-up
procedures are completed. Major projects shipping terms are usually detailed in the contract, and title and risk of ownership are transferred 
per the contract. In the case of these major projects, the Company recognizes the revenue when title and risk of ownership are transferred
according to the terms of the contract. 

Cash Flows and Non-cash Activities - For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash, 
cash investments and any highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less. 

Non-cash investing and financing activities are as follows (in thousands): 

Concentrations of Credit Risk - Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash and 
cash equivalents and trade receivables. 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, cash and cash equivalents invested in money market accounts or certificates of deposit were $0 million and 
$0.6 million, respectively.

The Company has a concentration of credit risk in the recreational vehicle industry, although there is no geographic concentration of credit 
risk. A single recreational vehicle dealer network accounts for approximately 12% of the Company's 2007 consolidated net sales. No single 
customer accounted for more than 10% of consolidated net sales in 2006 or 2005. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its 
customers' financial conditions and sales to its recreational vehicle dealers are generally subject to pre-approved dealer floorplan financing 
whereby the Company is paid upon delivery or shortly thereafter. The Company generally requires no collateral from its customers. Future 
credit losses are provided for currently through the allowance for doubtful receivables, and actual credit losses are charged to the 
allowance when incurred. 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES.

2007 2006 2005
Issuance (cancellations) of common shares, at market value, in lieu of cash compensation $ 116 $ 125 $ (1,122)
Notes receivable received in connection with the sale of certain assets (see Note 11) $ 2,610 $ 5,920 $ -
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Investment income from continuing operations consists of the following for the years ended December 31 (in thousands): 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and accounts payable approximated 
fair value as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, because of the relatively short maturities of these instruments. The carrying amount of long-
term debt, including current maturities, approximated fair value as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, based upon terms and conditions
currently available to the Company in comparison to terms and conditions of the existing long-term debt. The Company has investments in 
life insurance contracts principally to fund obligations under deferred compensation agreements (see Note 9). At December 31, 2007 and 
2006, the carrying amount of life insurance policies, which equaled their fair value, was $33.9 million ($51.5 million, net of $17.6 million of 
policy loans) and $31.1 million ($47.5 million, net of $16.4 million of policy loans), respectively. 

SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on the 
balance sheet at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded each period in current earnings or other
comprehensive income, depending on whether a derivative is designated as part of a hedge transaction and, if it is, the type of hedge 
transaction. The Company has entered into various interest rate swap agreements to manage the economic risks associated with 
fluctuations in interest rates by converting a portion of the Company's variable rate debt to a fixed rate basis, thus reducing the impact of 
changes in interest rates on future interest expense. These financial instruments have been designated as cash flow hedges, with changes 
in fair value being included as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders' equity. Hedge effectiveness is 
evaluated by the hypothetical derivative method and any hedge ineffectiveness is reported as interest expense. Hedge ineffectiveness was 
not material in 2007 or 2006.

Inventories - Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. 

Property, Plant and Equipment - Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Amortization of assets 
held under capital leases is included in depreciation and amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset. Depreciation is computed 
using the straight-line method on the costs of the assets, at rates based on their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Upon sale or retirement of property, plant and equipment, including long-lived assets held for sale and rental properties, the asset cost and 
related accumulated depreciation is removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in earnings. 

Long-Lived Assets - Long-lived assets held and used by the Company, including property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable (see Note 
11 for asset impairments recorded in 2007 and 2005, including impairments of intangible assets). 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued.

2007 2006 2005
Interest income $ 478 $ 474 $ 510
Increase in cash value of life insurance policies 1,003 1,138 1,116
Dividend income on preferred stocks 7 5 54
Net realized gains on sale of preferred stocks and bond funds - - 505
Net realized losses on closed U.S. Treasury bond futures options - - (12)
Unrealized gains on open U.S. Treasury bond futures options - - 9

Total $ 1,488 $ 1,617 $ 2,182

Land improvements 3-15 years
Buildings and improvements 10-30 years
Machinery and equipment 3-10 years
Transportation equipment 2-7 years
Office furniture and fixtures, including capitalized computer software 2-10 years
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Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of acquired
businesses. Goodwill assets deemed to have indefinite lives are not amortized, but are subject to impairment tests at least annually in 
accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The Company reviews the carrying amounts of goodwill assets 
annually by segment to determine if such assets may be impaired. If the carrying amounts of these assets are not recoverable based upon a 
discounted cash flow analysis, such assets are reduced by the estimated shortfall of fair value to recorded value. At December 31, 2006, the 
Company had $16.9 million of goodwill, $13.0 million attributable to the Housing reporting unit and $3.9 million attributable to the RV 
reporting unit. The RV reporting unit goodwill originated from the Company’s purchase of recreational vehicle assets. The Company 
conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as required by FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, during the 
fourth quarter of 2006 and the results indicated that the estimated fair value of each of the Company’s reporting units exceeded their 
carrying value. As a result of the continued weakness in the RV market, combined with continuing losses incurred by the RV reporting unit, 
SFAS No. 142 required the Company to perform an interim goodwill impairment evaluation during the quarter ended June 30, 2007. Because
the carrying value of the RV reporting unit exceeded its fair value as calculated using the expected present value of future cash flows, the 
Company concluded that the goodwill was impaired as of June 30, 2007. Accordingly, the Company recorded a non-cash goodwill 
impairment charge of $3.9 million in the quarter ended June 30, 2007. The Company has performed the required annual impairment tests and 
has determined that there was no impairment indicated for the remaining Housing reporting unit goodwill at December 31, 2007.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows (in thousands): 

Warranty Expense - The Company provides to its customers a variety of warranties on its products ranging from 1 to 2 years in length and 
up to ten years on certain structural components. Estimated costs related to product warranty are accrued at the time of sale and included 
in cost of sales. General warranty reserves are based upon past warranty claims and sales history and adjusted as required to reflect actual 
costs incurred, as information becomes available. Specific warranty reserves are based on specific identified issues with the amounts
accrued based on the estimated cost to correct the problem. Warranty expense from continuing operations totaled $16.8 million, $21.6
million and $34.8 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The higher warranty expense for 2005 is primarily the result of specific 
reserves established related to the recall of camping trailer lift systems and the repair of laminated sidewalls of certain of the Company’s
recreational vehicles. The decrease in 2007 is primarily a result of decreased sales and improvements in quality. 

Changes in the Company's warranty liability during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows (in thousands): 

The decrease in warranty accrual for 2007 of $3.0 million to $8.1 million is the result of specific reserves established in 2005 related to the 
recall of defective camping trailer lift systems and the repair of defective material used in laminated sidewalls of certain of the Company’s
recreational vehicles, lower sales levels and improvements in quality. Most of the claims against the specific reserves were paid by the 
Company in 2006 and in the first quarter of 2007. 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued.

   
Balance at January 1, 2006 $ 17,383
Allocation to discontinued operations (518)

Balance at December 31, 2006 16,865
Impairment charge (3,872)

Balance at December 31, 2007 $ 12,993

2007 2006
Balance of accrued warranty at January 1 $ 11,099 $ 20,005
Warranties issued during the period and changes in liability for pre-existing warranties 16,787 21,598
Cash settlements made during the period (19,763) (30,504)

Balance of accrued warranty at December 31 $ 8,123 $ 11,099



- 46 -

Coachmen Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

Stock-Based Compensation - Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its stock-based compensation plans under the 
recognition and measurement provision of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations, as 
permitted by FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the 
fair value recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, using the modified-prospective-transition method 
and accordingly, the Company has not restated the consolidated results of income from prior interim periods and fiscal years. Under SFAS 
123R, the Company is required to measure compensation cost for all stock-based awards at fair value on date of grant and recognize 
compensation expense over the period that the awards are expected to vest. Restricted stock and stock options issued under the 
Company’s equity plans, as well as, stock purchases under the employee stock purchase plan are subject to the provisions of SFAS 123R. 
Since the adoption of SFAS 123R, there have been no modifications to outstanding stock-based awards. 

Prior to the adoption of Statement 123(R), the Company presented all tax benefits of deductions resulting from the exercise of stock options 
as operating cash flows in the Statement of Cash Flows. Statement 123(R) requires the cash flows resulting from the tax benefits resulting 
from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized for those options (excess tax benefits) to be classified as financing cash 
flows. Excess tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was not significant. 

Stock options generally vest over a four-year service period. The Company has not granted any stock option awards since 2003. The 
remaining unvested stock options, net of forfeitures, at December 31, 2007 were not significant. 

Compensation expense related to the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan was not significant for the year ended December 31, 2007.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 
2005:

The Company did not grant any stock options in 2007, 2006 or 2005. 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued.

2005
Net loss, as reported $ (26,350)
Add: Stock-based compensation credit under variable plan included in earnings, net of taxes (865)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation credit determined under fair value method for all awards, net of 

taxes 761

Pro forma net loss $ (26,454)

Loss per share:

Basic - as reported (1.69)
Basic - pro forma (1.70)

Diluted - as reported (1.69)
Diluted - pro forma (1.70)
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS No. 157). 
SFAS No. 157 establishes a framework for measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities. This framework is intended to provide increased 
consistency in how fair value determinations are made under various existing accounting standards which permit, or in some cases require, 
estimates of fair market value. SFAS No. 157 also expands financial statement disclosure requirements about a company’s use of fair value 
measurements, including the effect of such measures on earnings. SFAS No. 157 is required to be adopted at the beginning of the fiscal 
year ending December 31, 2008. Management is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS No. 157 will have on the consolidated financial
statements.

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities (SFAS No. 159). SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings. The objective is 
to improve financial reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring 
related assets and liabilities differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. SFAS No. 159 will be effective for 
the Company at the beginning of the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008. Management is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS No. 
159 will have on the consolidated financial statements. 

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 141(revised 2007), Business Combinations, (SFAS 
No. 141R). SFAS No. 141R provides revised guidance on how acquirers recognize and measure the consideration transferred, identifiable
assets acquired, liabilities assumed, noncontrolling interests, and goodwill acquired in a business combination. SFAS No. 141R also
expands required disclosures surrounding the nature and financial effects of business combinations. SFAS No. 141R is effective, on a 
prospective basis, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. Management is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS No. 141R 
will have on the consolidated financial statements. 

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated 
Financial Statements, (SFAS No. 160). SFAS No. 160 changes the accounting and reporting for minority interests, which will be 
characterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as a component of equity. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2008. Management is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS No. 160 will have on the consolidated financial statements.

Research and Development Expenses - Research and development expenses charged to continuing operations were $6.3 million, $6.7 
million, and $7.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

Shipping and Handling Costs - The Company records freight billed to customers as sales. Effective January 1, 2007, the Company changed 
its classification of delivery expenses in the statement of operations to include these expenses as a component of cost of sales. Prior to 
January 1, 2007, the Company classified delivery expenses as an operating expense. This change is considered a change in accounting
principle pursuant to the provisions of FASB Statement No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, and was reported by 
retrospective application to prior periods' financial statements. This change in accounting principle is considered preferable as it was made 
to conform the classification of these expenses on the statement of operations to the classification of such expenses by other companies in 
our industry. 

The effect of this change on the year ended December 31, 2007 was an increase of cost of sales and a decrease of operating expenses by 
approximately $27.8 million. The Company applied the change retrospectively by reclassifying approximately $29.2 million and $32.8 million 
of delivery expenses from operating expenses to cost of sales for the years ending December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.
This change has no effect on income from continuing operations, net income or per share amounts for any period presented. 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Comprehensive income (loss) represents net earnings and any revenues, expenses, gains and losses that, 
under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, are excluded from net earnings and recognized directly as a
component of shareholders' equity. 

Volume-Based Sales and Dealer Incentives - The Company nets certain dealer incentives, including volume-based bonuses, interest 
reimbursements and other rebates, against revenue in accordance with EITF 00-22 and EITF 01-09.

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued.
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Income Taxes - The Company accounts for corporate income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” 
which requires the Company to evaluate the need to establish a valuation allowance to reduce the carrying value of its deferred tax assets 
on the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets arise as a result of tax loss carryforwards and various differences between the book value of 
assets and the values used for income tax purposes. SFAS No 109 states that a valuation allowance is generally required if a company has 
cumulative losses in recent years. Given the losses incurred by the Company over the last three years, noncash charges from continuing
operations of $13.3 million and $24.4 million were recorded as a valuation allowance for the full value of its deferred tax assets as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

The Company has determined that its reportable segments are those that are based on the Company's method of internal reporting, which 
disaggregates its business by product category. The Company's two reportable segments are Recreational Vehicles and Housing. The
Company evaluates the performance of its segments based primarily on net sales and pre-tax income and allocates resources to them based 
on performance. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1 and there are no inter-segment
revenues. The Company allocates certain corporate expenses to these segments based on three dimensions: revenues, subsidiary structure
and number of employees. In addition, the data excludes the results of the discontinued operations (see Note 11). Differences between 
reported segment amounts and corresponding consolidated totals represent corporate income or expenses for administrative functions and 
income, costs or expenses relating to property and equipment that are not allocated to segments. 

The table below presents information about segments, including product class information within the Recreational Vehicle Segment, used 
by the chief operating decision maker of the Company for the years ended December 31 (in thousands): 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued.

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION.

2007 2006 2005
Net sales:

Recreational vehicles
Motorhomes $ 235,873 $ 266,246 $ 350,876
Travel trailers and fifth wheels 106,779 118,375 149,263
Camping trailers 13,667 13,549 15,152
Parts and supplies 5,335 6,540 6,903

Total recreational vehicles 361,654 404,710 522,194
Housing 119,186 159,672 180,231

Total $ 480,840 $ 564,382 $ 702,425

Gross profit
Recreational vehicles $ (130) $ 283 $ (972)
Housing 12,847 19,933 24,170

Total $ 12,717 $ 20,216 $ 23,198

Operating expenses
Recreational vehicles $ 33,772 $ 25,659 $ 38,769
Housing 20,200 17,284 26,853
Other reconciling items (2,115) (7,074) (5,595)

Total $ 51,857 $ 35,869 $ 60,027
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The following specified amounts from continuing operations are included in the measure of segment pre-tax income or loss reviewed by the 
chief operating decision maker (in thousands): 

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION, Continued.

2007 2006 2005
Operating income (loss)

Recreational vehicles $ (33,902) $ (25,376) $ (39,741)
Housing (7,353) 2,649 (2,683)
Other reconciling items 2,115 7,074 5,595

Total $ (39,140) $ (15,653) $ (36,829)

Pre-tax income (loss) from continuing operations
Recreational vehicles $ (33,908) $ (25,383) $ (40,760)
Housing (7,434)  2,665  (2,403)
Other reconciling items 799  6,018  5,809

Total $ (40,543) $  (16,700) $  (37,354)

Total assets
Recreational vehicles $ 86,816 $ 113,627 $ 152,501
Housing 54,601 57,968 83,338
Other reconciling items 66,251 71,539 86,977

Total $ 207,668 $ 243,134 $ 322,816

Total goodwill
Recreational vehicles $ - $ 3,872 $ 4,132
Housing 12,993 12,993 13,251

Total $ 12,993 $ 16,865 $ 17,383

2007 2006 2005
Interest expense

Recreational vehicles $ 532 $ 840 $ 1,171
Housing 341 281 339
Other reconciling items 2,624 2,708 1,658

Total $ 3,497 $ 3,829 $ 3,168

Depreciation
Recreational vehicles $ 3,156 $ 3,547 $ 3,515
Housing 2,295 2,522 2,879
Other reconciling items 339 453 709

Total $ 5,790 $ 6,522 $ 7,103
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Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

3. INVENTORIES.

December 31, December 31,
2007 2006

Raw materials
Recreational vehicles $ 11,789 $ 13,874
Housing 5,989 6,065

Total 17,778 19,939

Work in process
Recreational vehicles 12,913 15,661
Housing 2,941 3,466

Total 15,854 19,127

Improved lots
Housing 645 221

Total 645 221

Finished goods
Recreational vehicles 34,038 35,079
Housing 10,953 9,145

Total 44,991 44,224

Total $ 79,268 $ 83,511

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT.

2007 2006
          

Land and improvements $ 11,452 $ 11,562
Buildings and improvements 59,765 61,043
Machinery and equipment 24,429 24,798
Transportation equipment 14,654 14,310
Office furniture and fixtures 17,274 17,481

Total 127,574 129,194
Less, accumulated depreciation 74,642 72,176

Property, plant and equipment, net $ 52,932 $ 57,018
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On August 2, 2006, the Company executed a $55 million, five-year, secured Revolving Credit Facility with Bank of America (formerly LaSalle 
Business Credit, LLC) to meet its seasonal working capital needs. At December 31, 2007 there were short-term borrowings of 
$20.1 million outstanding against this bank line of credit, and outstanding letters of credit totaling $4.7 million. At December 31, 2006 there 
were short-term borrowings of $9.3 million outstanding against this bank line of credit, and outstanding letters of credit totaling $5.0 million.
As of December 31, 2007 and, 2006, $17.6 million and $16.4 million, respectively, had been borrowed against the cash surrender value of 
company-owned life insurance contracts. 

The five-year credit facility executed August 2, 2006 replaced the previous $35 million facility that was due to expire on August 31, 2006.
Under the new facility, available borrowings are based on 85% of eligible accounts receivable plus the lesser of 60% of eligible inventory or 
85% liquidation value of inventory, 70% of appraised value of mortgaged real estate. The new agreement expires August 2, 2011. 
Outstanding borrowings under the new agreement bear interest at rates based on the prime or LIBOR rates as outlined in the agreement.
The new credit facility is secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company except the cash surrender value of life insurance
contracts. Financial covenant ratios are required to be calculated only in the event a Funds Control Event occurs, as defined in the 
agreement. No Funds Control Events occurred during the years ended December 31, 2007 or December 31, 2006. 

At December 31, 2007, the new and used recreational vehicle inventory of the Company-owned dealership was pledged as collateral on 
floorplan notes aggregating $4.1 million. The interest rate on these floorplan notes is tiered based on the outstanding note balance. The 
effective rate at December 31, 2007 was 7.08%. 

Long-term debt consists of the following (in thousands): 

Principal maturities of long-term debt during the four fiscal years succeeding 2008 are as follows: 2009 - $820,000; 2010 - $820,000; 2011 -
$770,000 and 2012 - $150,000.

In connection with the industrial development revenue bond obligations, the Company obtained, as a credit enhancement for the 
bondholders, irrevocable letters of credit in favor of the bond trustees. Under the industrial revenue bond for the Mod-U-Kraf Homes 
manufacturing facility in Virginia, the issuer of the letter of credit holds a first lien and security interest on that facility.

5. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS.

6. LONG-TERM DEBT.

2007 2006
Obligations under industrial development revenue bonds, variable rates (effective weighted-

average interest rates of 3.6% and 4.1% at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively), with 
various maturities through 2015 $ 3,600 $ 4,350

Obligations under capital leases, interest imputed at rates ranging from 4.7% to 5.4%, with 
maturities through 2008 332 292

Other 228 297

Subtotal 3,861 4,939

Less, current maturities of long-term debt 852 1,077

Long-term debt $ 3,010 $ 3,862



- 52 -

Coachmen Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

In January of 2003, the Company entered into various interest rate swap agreements that became effective beginning in October of 2003. 
These swap agreements are designated as cash flow hedges under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, 
"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," and are used to manage the economic risks associated with fluctuations 
in interest rates by converting a portion of the Company's variable-rate debt to a fixed-rate basis through November of 2011, thus reducing 
the impact of changes in interest rates on future interest expense. Hedge effectiveness is evaluated by the hypothetical derivative method. 
Any hedge ineffectiveness is reported within the interest expense caption of the statements of income. Hedge ineffectiveness was not 
material in 2007, 2006 or 2005. The fair value of the Company's interest rate swap agreements represents the estimated receipts or payments 
that would be made to terminate the agreements. If, in the future, the interest rate swap agreements are determined to be ineffective hedges 
or are terminated before the contractual termination dates, or if it became probable that the hedged variable cash flows associated with the 
variable-rate borrowings would stop, the Company would be required to reclassify into earnings all or a portion of the unrealized amounts
on cash flow hedges included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders' equity. 

At December 31, 2007, the Company had one remaining interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $2.4 million that was used to 
convert the variable interest rates on certain industrial development revenue bonds to fixed rates. In accordance with the terms of the swap 
agreement, the Company pays a 3.71% interest rate, and receives the Bond Market Association Index (BMA), calculated on the notional
amount, with net receipts or payments being recognized as adjustments to interest expense. The Company recorded a liability for the 
potential early settlements of these swap agreements in the amount of $49,000 at December 31, 2007 and $17,000 at December 31, 2006. This 
exposure represents the fair value of the swap instruments and has been recorded in the balance sheets in accordance with SFAS No. 133 
as a noncurrent liability. The effective portion of the cash flow hedge has been recorded, net of taxes, as a reduction of shareholders' equity 
as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities at year-end consist of the following (in thousands): 

6. LONG-TERM DEBT, Continued.

7. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES.

2007 2006
Wages, salaries, bonuses and commissions $ 2,432 $ 3,135
Dealer incentives, including volume bonuses, dealer trips, interest reimbursement, co-op

advertising and other rebates 1,577 4,140
Warranty 8,123 11,099
Insurance-products and general liability, workers compensation, group health and other 8,519 7,593
Customer deposits and unearned revenues 4,208 3,865
Litigation 930 345
Interest 751 955
Sales and property taxes 1,837 1,226
Deferred gain on sale of real estate 1,145 -
Other current liabilities 3,713 2,758

Total $ 33,235 $ 35,116
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Stock Option Plan

The Company has stock option plans, including the 2000 Omnibus Stock Incentive Program (the "2000 Plan"), which was approved by the 
shareholders on May 4, 2000. The 2000 Plan provides for 1.0 million common shares to be reserved for grants under the Company's stock 
option and award plans. The Company's stock option plan provides for the granting of options to directors, officers and eligible key 
employees to purchase common shares. The 2000 Plan permits the issuance of either incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options. 
Stock Appreciation Rights ("SAR's") may be granted in tandem with stock options or independently of and without relation to options.
There were no SAR's outstanding at December 31, 2007 or 2006. The option price for incentive stock options shall be an amount of not less 
than 100% of the fair market value per share on the date of grant and the option price for nonqualified stock options shall be an amount of 
not less than 90% of the fair market value per share on the date the option is granted. No such options may be exercised during the first 
year after grant, and are exercisable cumulatively in four installments of 25% each year thereafter. Outstanding options have terms of ten 
years.

The following table summarizes stock option activity (number of shares in thousands): 

Options outstanding at December 31, 2007 are exercisable at prices ranging from $10.00 to $18.68 per share and have a weighted-average
remaining contractual life of 3.5 years. The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at 
December 31, 2007 (in thousands): 

8. COMMON STOCK MATTERS AND EARNINGS PER SHARE.

Number
of Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise

Price
Outstanding, January 1, 2005 327  $ 12.26

Granted - -
Canceled (15) 14.69
Exercised (28) 11.66

Outstanding, December 31, 2005 284 12.19
Granted - -
Canceled (71)  13.60
Exercised (64) 9.95

Outstanding, December 31, 2006  149  12.48
Granted - -
Canceled (15) 14.80
Exercised - -

Outstanding, December 31, 2007 134 $ 12.20

   Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
        

Range of Exercise Number Outstanding at
Weighted-Average

Remaining Weighted-Average Number Exercisable at Weighted-Average
Price December 31, 2007 Contractual Life Exercise Price December 31, 2007 Exercise Price

$10.00 - $12.00 90 3.1 $10.17 90 $10.17
  12.01 -   17.00 39 4.3   16.01 39   16.01
$17.01 - $18.68 5 4.3 $18.68 5 $18.68

134 134
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At December 31, 2005 there were exercisable options to purchase 252,000 shares, at weighted-average exercise prices of $11.85. There were 
no options granted during 2007 or 2006. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, 1.4 million shares were reserved for the granting of future stock 
options and awards. 

Stock Award Programs

The 2000 Plan also permits the granting of restricted and unrestricted stock awards to the Company's key employees and non-employee
directors. In accordance with the provisions of the 2000 Plan, the Board of Directors may grant shares of stock to eligible participants for 
services to the Company. Restricted shares vest over a period of time as determined by the Board of Directors and are granted at no cost to 
the recipient. For restricted shares that are not subject to pre-established Company performance objectives, compensation expense is 
recognized over the vesting period at an amount equal to the fair market value of the shares on the grant date. Compensation expense for 
discretionary unrestricted stock awards is recognized at date of grant. There were 22,517, 21,728, and 22,490 restricted non-contingent stock 
awards granted at a weighted-average per share grant-date fair value of $10.51, $11.03, and $11.80, in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
Compensation expense of $269,306, $238,000, and $259,000 was recognized in the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively.

On March 1, 2003, the Company adopted the Performance Based Restricted Stock Plan covering 115,000 shares of common stock per 
performance period for officers and other key employees. During 2005, the Company determined that it was probable that the requirements
for the 2003, 2004 and 2005 plans would not be achieved and as a result, reversed the expenses that had been previously recorded related to 
these three plans. For the year 2005, the Company reduced compensation expense, which is a component of general and administrative
expenses, by $1.4 million related to these three plans. 

On March 28, 2006, the Company granted Restricted Stock Awards to certain key employees as a means of retaining and rewarding them for 
performance and to increase their ownership in the Company. Participants earn the restricted shares awarded to them based on attainment
of certain performance goals for the calendar year 2006. A total of 110,000 shares, assuming 100% of the performance goal was achieved,
were granted with a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $11.05 per share. At December 31, 2006, the Company determined that the 
performance goal was not achieved; therefore, no compensation expense has been recorded related to this plan for the year ended
December 31, 2006. Due to termination of employment or as a condition to receiving the 2006 Restricted Stock Awards, the participants
forfeited all rights to the 99,600 shares and 75,600 shares awarded in 2004 and 2005, respectively, under the Performance Based Restricted 
Stock Plan. Shares awarded under this plan in 2003 were forfeited as of December 31, 2005 due to failure to meet the performance goals. 

On January 10, 2007, the Company granted Restricted Stock Awards to certain key employees as a means of retaining and rewarding them 
for performance and to increase their ownership in the Company. The awards are governed by the Company’s 2000 Omnibus Stock Plan. 
Participants will earn the restricted shares awarded to them based on attainment of certain performance goals for the calendar year 2007. If 
the Company meets the minimum threshold and maximum target levels of pre-tax profits, the participants will earn corresponding levels of 
awards. To the extent the Company meets the performance goals for the year, and the participant remains employed by the Company during 
the vesting period, the earned restricted shares will vest and be delivered to the participants over a three-year vesting period: one-third on 
January 1, 2009, one-third on January 1, 2010 and one-third on January 1, 2011. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the requisite service period as the awards contingently vest over the performance and service periods. A total of 139,500 shares,
assuming 100% of the performance goal is achieved, were granted with a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $10.80 per share. At 
December 31, 2007, the Company determined that the performance goal was not achieved; therefore, no compensation expense has been
recorded related to this plan for the year ended December 31, 2007. Due to termination of employment or due to failure to meet the
performance goals condition to receiving the 2007 Restricted Stock Awards, the participants forfeited all rights to the 139,500 shares. 

8. COMMON STOCK MATTERS AND EARNINGS PER SHARE, Continued.
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The following table summarizes the activity of the Performance Based Restricted Stock Awards program (in thousands): 

The following table summarizes, by plan year, the number of contingent shares awarded, forfeited and the remaining contingent shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2007: 

Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an employee stock purchase plan under which a total of 800,000 shares of the Company's common stock are reserved for 
purchase by full-time employees through weekly payroll deductions. Shares of the Company's common stock are purchased quarterly by 
the employees at a price equal to 90% of the market price. The market price was based on the lower of the beginning or the ending day of 
the quarter until June 30, 2006, and subsequently is based on the market price at the end of the quarter. As of December 31, 2007, there were 
149 employees actively participating in the plan. Since its inception, a total of 462,000 shares have been purchased by employees under the 
plan. The Company sold to employees 24,000, 21,830 and 25,700 shares at weighted average fair values of $7.62, $10.02 and $11.07 in 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively. Certain restrictions in the plan limit the amount of payroll deductions an employee may make in any one 
quarter. There are also limitations as to the amount of ownership in the Company an employee may acquire under the plan. 

8. COMMON STOCK MATTERS AND EARNINGS PER SHARE, Continued.

Number
of Shares

Outstanding, January 1, 2005 169,110
Granted 75,600
Forfeited (102,410)

Outstanding, December 31, 2005 142,300
Granted 110,000
Forfeited (252,300)

Outstanding, December 31, 2006 -
Granted 139,500
Forfeited 139,500

 Outstanding, December 31, 2007 -

Plan Year

2007 2006 2005
Contingent shares awarded 139,500 110,000 75,600

Shares forfeited 139,500 110,000 75,600

Contingent shares outstanding as of December 31, 2007 - - -
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Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common 
share is based on the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period, after consideration of the dilutive effect of stock 
options and awards and shares held in deferred compensation plans. Basic and diluted earnings per share were calculated using the
average shares as follows (in thousands): 

As the Company reported a net loss for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the dilutive effect of stock options and awards 
did not enter into the computation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have been antidilutive. 

The sum of quarterly earnings per share may not equal year-to-date earnings per share due to rounding and changes in diluted potential 
common shares. 

Shareholder Rights Plan

On October 21, 1999, the Company's Board of Directors adopted a new shareholder rights plan which became effective January 12, 2000 (the 
"Record Date"), provides for a dividend distribution of one common share purchase right (the "Rights") for each outstanding common
share to each shareholder of record on the Record Date. The Rights will be represented by common share certificates and will not be 
exercisable or transferable apart from the common shares until the earlier to occur of (i) ten (10) business days following a public
announcement that a person or group of persons (an "Acquiring Person") has acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, beneficial
ownership of 20% or more of the outstanding common shares or (ii) ten (10) business days following the commencement of (or 
announcement of an intention to make) a tender offer or exchange offer if, upon consummation thereof, such an Acquiring Person would be 
the beneficial owner of 20% or more of the outstanding common shares. Upon the occurrence of the certain events and after the Rights
become exercisable, each right would entitle the rightholder (other than the Acquiring Person) to purchase one fully paid and 
nonassessable common share of the Company at a purchase price of $75 per share, subject to anti-dilutive adjustments. The Rights are 
nonvoting and expire February 1, 2010. At any time prior to a person or a group of persons becoming an Acquiring Person, the Company's
Board of Directors may redeem the Rights in whole, but not in part, at a purchase price $.01 per Right. 

Share Repurchase Programs

Periodically, the Company has repurchased its common stock as authorized by the Board of Directors. Under the repurchase program,
common shares are purchased from time to time, depending on market conditions and other factors, on the open market or through 
privately negotiated transactions. There were no shares repurchased in 2005. During August 2006, the Company announced that the Board 
of Directors had authorized a share repurchase of up to one million shares. During the third quarter of 2006, the Company repurchased
11,700 shares for a total cost, including commissions, of $128,516. During the second quarter of 2007, the Company repurchased 1,500
shares for a total cost, including commissions, of $15,050. At December 31, 2007, there are 986,800 shares remaining authorized for 
repurchase by the Board of Directors. 

8. COMMON STOCK MATTERS AND EARNINGS PER SHARE, Continued.

2007 2006 2005
Numerator:
Net loss available to common stockholders $ (38,752) $ (31,805) $ (26,350)

Denominator:
Number of shares outstanding, end of period:
Weighted-average number of common shares used in Basic EPS 15,727 15,633 15,551
Stock options and awards - - -

Weighted-average number of common shares used in Diluted EPS 15,727 15,633 15,551
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Incentive Compensation

The Company has incentive compensation plans for its officers and other key personnel. The amounts charged to expense for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 aggregated $753,000, $363,000, and $920,000, respectively.

Deferred Compensation

The Company has established a deferred compensation plan for executives and other key employees. The plan provides for benefit 
payments upon termination of employment, retirement, disability, or death. The Company recognizes the cost of this plan over the
projected service lives of the participating employees based on the present value of the estimated future payment to be made. The plan is 
funded by insurance contracts on the lives of the participants. At December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the carrying amount of these 
policies, which equaled their fair value, was $26.9 million ($44.5 million, net of $16.0 million of policy loans and $1.6 million interest on policy 
loans) and $25.9 million ($42.3 million, net of $15.0 million of policy loans and $1.4 million interest on policy loans), respectively. The 
deferred compensation obligations, which aggregated $5.3 million and $5.9 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are included 
in other non-current liabilities, with the current portion ($889,000 and $731,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively) included in 
other current liabilities. 

In connection with the acquisition of Mod-U-Kraf Homes in 2000, the Company assumed obligations under existing deferred compensation 
agreements. The remaining liability recognized in the consolidated balance sheet aggregated $37,000 and $38,000 at December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively. As part of the Mod-U-Kraf acquisition, the Company assumed ownership of life insurance contracts and trust accounts 
established for the benefit of participating executives. Such assets, which are valued at fair value, aggregated $65,000 and $63,000 at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Supplemental Deferred Compensation

The Company has established a supplemental deferred compensation plan (Mirror Plan) for key employees as determined by the Board of 
Directors. The plan allows participants to defer compensation only after they have deferred the maximum allowable amount under the
Company's 401(k) Plan. The participants select certain mutual fund investments and Company stock whose performance is tracked by the 
Company. The Company matches a certain level of participant contributions that vests over a five-year period. Under the plan, the 
investments are not funded directly, including the matching contributions and investments in Company stock. Instead, the plan 
administrator tracks the performance of investments in mutual funds and Company stock as directed by the participant and a liability to the 
participants is recorded by the Corporation based on the performance of the phantom investments. Participant benefits are limited to the 
value of the vested benefits recorded on their behalf. 

The Company has also established a supplemental deferred compensation plan (Executive Savings Plan) for certain key executive 
management as determined by the Board of Directors. This plan allows participants to defer compensation without regard to participation in 
the Company's 401(k) plan. The participants select certain mutual funds investments and Company stock whose performance is tracked by 
the Company. In addition, the Company matches a certain level of participant contributions that vests after a five-year period. Under the 
plan, the investments are not funded directly, including the matching contributions and investments in Company stock. Instead, the plan 
administrator tracks the performance of investments in mutual funds and Company stock as directed by the participant and a liability to the 
participants is recorded by the Corporation based on the performance of the phantom investments. Participant benefits are limited to the 
value of the vested benefits recorded on their behalf. The plan is funded by insurance contracts on the lives of the participants. At 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying amount of these policies, which equaled their fair value, was $6.8 million and $5.0 million,
respectively. Liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheets related to these plans as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are $2.3 million 
and $1.8 million, respectively. 

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a retirement plan (the "Plan"), under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRS) that covers all eligible
employees. The Plan is a defined contribution plan and allows employees to make voluntary contributions up to 20% of annual 
compensation. Effective January 1, 2005, the Plan was amended to allow for voluntary contributions of up to 50% of annual compensation,
not to exceed IRS limits. Under the Plan, the Company may make discretionary matching contributions on up to 6% of participants'
compensation. Expenses under the Plan aggregated $1.0 million, $1.0 million, and $1.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 
and 2005, respectively. 

9. COMPENSATION AND BENEFIT PLANS.
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Income taxes (benefit) attributable to continuing operations are summarized as follows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

The following is a reconciliation of the provision for income taxes attributable to continuing operations computed at the federal statutory 
rate (35% for all years presented) to the reported provision for income taxes (in thousands): 

The Company accounts for corporate income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which requires the
Company to evaluate the need to establish a valuation allowance to reduce the carrying value of its deferred tax assets on the balance
sheet. Deferred tax assets arise as a result of tax loss carryforwards and various differences between the book value of assets and the 
values used for income tax purposes. SFAS No 109 states that a valuation allowance is generally required if a company has cumulative
losses in recent years. Given the losses incurred by the Company over the last three years, noncash charges from continuing operations of 
$13.2 million and $24.4 million were recorded as a valuation allowance for the full value of its deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2007 
and 2006, respectively. At December 31, 2007 the Company had a tax benefit of $20.9 million related to Federal net operating loss
carryforwards which may be utilized to offset future taxable income, and if not utilized, $7.5 million will expire in 2026 and $13.4 million will 
expire in 2027. Further, at December 31, the Company had state tax benefits of certain state net operating loss carryforwards in states that 
do not permit carrybacks of net operating losses. These state net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in certain states after 5 years. 
At December 31, 2007, the cumulative benefit of certain state net operating loss carryforwards approximated $4.2 million, which have been 
included as part of the valuation allowance referred to above. 

10. INCOME TAXES.

2007 2006 2005
Federal:

Current $ 656 $ (2,119) $ (8,673)
Deferred (2,296) 15,255 (5,888)

(1,640) 13,136 (14,561)
State:

Current 21 448 (2,964)
Deferred (171) 2,931 (469)

(150) 3,379 (3,433)

Total $ (1,790) $ 16,515 $ (17,994)

2007 2006 2005
Computed federal income tax at federal statutory rate $ (14,190) $ (5,845) $ (13,074)
Changes resulting from:

Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance contracts (449) (370) (397)
Loss on sale of stock of Miller Building Systems, Inc. - (1,690) -
Current year state income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit (1,407) (652) (1,942)
Preferred stock dividend exclusion - - (9)
Extraterritorial income exclusion - - (71)
Tax benefit on prior years' federal and state research and development (R&D) 

credits - - (2,378)
Tax benefit of current years' federal R&D tax credit carryforward, AMT credit 

carryforward and other credits - - (454)
Decrease in federal tax reserves, net of additional state tax reserves - 325 53
Valuation allowance for NOL, AMT, deferred tax assets and general business 

credits 13,292 24,360 -
Other, net 964 387 278

Total $ (1,790) $ 16,515 $ (17,994)
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The components of the net deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows (in thousands): 

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various states jurisdictions. With few 
exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal or state income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2004. In 
2006, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) commenced an examination of the Company’s U.S. income tax returns specifically for the purpose 
of reviewing claims for Research and Expenditure credits for the years 1999 through 2004. The audit of these claims is nearing its
conclusion and the Company anticipates that a settlement can be concluded within the next year. The Company does not anticipate that 
any adjustments associated with the settlement of this audit will result in a material change to its financial position. 

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, on January 
1, 2007. The implementation of FIN 48 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. A 
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows: 

Recognition of unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized would affect the effective tax rate by approximately $1.6 million at December 31, 
2007. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits through interest and operating expenses,
respectively. The amounts accrued for interest and penalties as of December 31, 2007 were not considered to be significant. 

10. INCOME TAXES, Continued.

2007 2006
Current deferred tax asset (liability):

Accrued warranty expense $ 2,623 $  3,484
Accrued self-insurance 2,172  2,137
Inventories 826  959
Receivables 283  431
Prepaid insurance (533)  (564)
Litigation reserve 353  131
Other 392  278
Valuation allowance (6,116)  (6,856)

Net current deferred tax asset $ - $ -

Noncurrent deferred tax asset (liability):
Deferred compensation $ 3,225 $  3,548
Property and equipment and other real estate (948)  (1,823)
Intangible assets (702)  (2,557)
Notes receivable 348  348
Federal net operating loss carryforward credits 20,883  8,597
Alternative minimum tax credit carryover 623  623
Federal & state research and development credit carryover 1,738 1,102
State net operating loss carryforward credits 4,152  3,378
Other 598  135
Valuation allowance (31,907)  (17,875)

Net noncurrent deferred tax liability $ (1,990) $  (4,524)

(in thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2007 $ 2,416

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year -
Additions for tax positions of prior years -
Reductions for tax positions of prior years -
Settlements -

Balance at December 31, 2007 $ 2,416



- 60 -

Coachmen Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

During 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a comprehensive operational and cost structure realignment and restructuring 
plan (the Intensive Recovery Plan), which was largely implemented during 2006 and is intended to improve operating performance and
ensure financial strength. Additional plans and actions to reduce the Company’s cost structure were implemented and completed during 
2007.

When describing the impact of this restructuring plan, determinations of the fair value of long-lived assets were based upon comparable 
market values for similar assets. 

On December 5, 2007 the company sold property and the equipment of a paint facility located in Elkhart, Indiana for $2,900,000 consisting of 
cash of $0.3 million and a $2.6 million secured note due in full December 2008. The sale resulted in pre-tax gain of $0.4 million on the 
equipment and a deferred gain of $1.1 million on the property which is included in the accrued expenses and other liabilities on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

During July 2007, the Company announced plans to reduce overhead costs by consolidating Class A production into a single facility,
relocating the paint facility located in Elkhart, Indiana to the main complex in Middlebury, Indiana and consolidating two towable assembly 
plants into a single facility in order to reduce expenses and improve profitability through improved capacity utilization of fewer facilities. 
The consolidation of the Class A assembly plants was substantially completed in the third quarter of 2007. The consolidation and
subsequent mothballing of a towable plant was completed in the fourth quarter of 2007. The paint facility was relocated to the main complex 
in the fourth quarter of 2007. 

The Company announced on September 21, 2007 that it would consolidate its All American Homes production facility located in Zanesville,
Ohio with its larger facility located in Decatur, Indiana. This will increase production backlogs and capacity utilization at the Indiana plant 
as all builders previously served by the Ohio plant will now be served from Indiana. This consolidation occurred during the fourth quarter. 
The closure of the Ohio facility had minimal impact on revenues, as all existing builders in that region have continued to be served by the 
Company’s housing operations in Indiana and North Carolina. There was no impairment of fixed assets in conjunction with this action. 

During the third quarter of 2007, two smaller properties were sold for a net pre-tax gain of approximately $0.1 million.

During the first three months of 2007, the Company completed the sale of two parcels of the former Georgie Boy Manufacturing complex for 
approximately $0.6 million, resulting in a pre-tax gain of approximately $0.3 million. Also during the first three months, the Company 
completed the sale of vacant farmland in Middlebury, Indiana for cash of approximately $0.1 million, resulting in a pre-tax gain of 
approximately $0.1 million.

On March 31, 2006, the Company completed the sale of a property located in Grapevine, Texas for approximately $2.0 million, consisting of 
cash of $1.7 million and a note receivable of $0.3 million and resulting in a pre-tax gain of approximately $1.8 million. Also during the first 
quarter, the Company completed the sale of vacant farmland in Middlebury, Indiana for cash of approximately $1.0 million, resulting in a 
pre-tax gain of approximately $0.8 million.

During the third quarter of 2006, a number of smaller properties were sold for a net pre-tax gain of approximately $0.3 million. On June 8, 
2006, the Company completed the sale of its corporate aircraft for approximately $2.3 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of 
approximately $1.7 million. On June 30, 2006, the Company sold property located in Palm Shores, Florida for $2.5 million, which resulted in a 
pre-tax gain of approximately $1.2 million. During June 2006, the Company also sold two parcels of the former Georgie Boy Manufacturing
complex for total proceeds of $0.7 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of approximately $0.4 million. 

On December 28, 2006 the Company contracted for the sale of a property located in Roanoke, Virginia for approximately $1.3 million,
consisting of cash of $0.1 million and a note receivable of $1.2 million, which resulted in pre-tax gain of approximately $1.2 million.

During 2005, approximately 140 salaried positions were eliminated throughout the Company. Severance costs related to the eliminations
were approximately $0.7 million, of which $0.5 million was paid by December 31, 2005 and $0.2 million was paid in 2006.

11. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS.
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Housing Segment

On December 31, 2005, the Company sold all operating assets of the All American Homes Kansas division. In accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, the division qualified as a separate component of the Company’s business and as a result, the 
operating results of the division have been accounted for as a discontinued operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods 
presented have been restated to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. Net sales of the Kansas division for the years ended 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $0.0 million and $9.7 million, respectively, and the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 
2006 and 2005 were $(0.4) million and $(2.9) million, respectively.

On March 31, 2006, the Company sold 100% of its interest in the capital stock of Miller Building Systems, Inc. for $11.5 million, consisting 
of cash of $9.0 million and a $2.5 million secured note. The note, which is included in other long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet, is to be repaid over 5 years and bears interest at the 1 year LIBOR rate plus 2.75% per annum with quarterly interest payments
beginning September 30, 2006. Principal payments of $125,000 per quarter commence on June 30, 2009 and continue through the maturity
date of March 31, 2011. In addition, the Company accepted a $2.0 million contingent earn-out note, which will be paid to the Company if 
certain income metrics are achieved by the acquiring entity. In October 2007, a subsequent agreement with Miller Building Systems waived 
the interest on the secured $2.5 million note for two years; hence no interest will be earned from March 31, 2007 to March 31, 2009. The 
subsequent agreement with Miller Building Systems also canceled the $2.0 million contingent earn-out note. There is no financial impact as 
a result of this cancellation. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, the division qualified as a separate 
component of the Company’s business and as a result, the operating results of the division have been accounted for as a discontinued 
operation. Previously reported financial results for all periods presented have been restated to reflect this business as a discontinued
operation. Net sales of Miller Building Systems, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $7.5 million and $41.6 million, 
respectively, and the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $1.5 million and $(8.2) million, respectively. 
In connection with this sale, $1.7 million of industrial revenue bonds were paid off as of March 31, 2006. During April 2006, the Company 
terminated the $1.5 million and $235,000 interest rate swaps that had been associated with these revenue bonds. 

In conjunction with the actions noted above, during the fourth quarter of 2005 management allocated goodwill of $0.7 million to the 
discontinued operations from the Housing Segment goodwill based on the relative fair value of the discontinued operations to the entire 
Housing Segment. The $0.7 million of allocated goodwill consisted of $0.6 million allocated to Miller Building Systems, which was written 
off as part of the 2005 loss from operations of discontinued operations and $0.1 million allocated to All American Homes of Kansas, which 
was included in the 2005 loss on sale of assets of discontinued operations. During the first quarter of 2006, an additional $0.3 million of 
goodwill was allocated to Miller Building Systems based on the final sales price relative to the fair value of the entire Housing Segment. 
The additional $0.3 million of allocated goodwill was written off as part of the 2006 gain on sale of assets of discontinued operations.

Assets and liabilities of All American Homes of Kansas and Miller Building Systems, which are included in the consolidated balance sheet, 
were as follows at December 31, 2005 (in thousands): 

11. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, Continued.

2005
Cash $ 242
Accounts and other receivables 4,401
Prepaid Expenses 510
Inventories 10,423
Other long-term assets 124
Fixed assets 34
Accounts payable (1,777)
Other current liabilities (5,341)

Net assets held for sale $ 8,616
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Recreational Vehicle Segment

On January 13, 2006, the Company sold all operating assets of Prodesign, LLC. The total sales price was $8.2 million, of which the Company 
received $5.7 million in cash, a $2.0 million promissory note and $0.5 million to be held in escrow to cover potential warranty claims and 
uncollectible accounts receivable, as defined in the sale agreement. The promissory note is to be repaid over a period of 10 years, using an 
amortization period of 15 years, and bears interest at 6% per annum with interest only payments being required in the first three years. The 
funds remaining in the escrow account of $0.4 million reverted to the Company in February 2007 per the sales agreement. In accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, Prodesign qualified as a separate component of the Company’s business and as 
a result, the operating results of Prodesign have been accounted for as a discontinued operation. Previously reported financial results for 
all periods presented have been adjusted to reflect this business as a discontinued operation. In conjunction with the classification of 
Prodesign as a discontinued operation, management allocated goodwill of $0.3 million to the discontinued operations from the RV Segment 
goodwill based on the relative fair value of the discontinued operations to the RV Segment. The $0.3 million of allocated goodwill has been 
included in the calculation of the final gain on sale of assets in the first quarter of 2006. Net sales of Prodesign for the years ended 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $0.4 million and $14.2 million, respectively, and the pre-tax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 
2006 and 2005 were $2.0 million and $(0.7) million, respectively.

Assets and liabilities of Prodesign, which are included in the consolidated balance sheet, were as follows at December 31, 2005 (in 
thousands):

Goodwill Impairment

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of acquired
businesses. Goodwill assets deemed to have indefinite lives are not amortized, but are subject to impairment tests at least annually in 
accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The Company reviews the carrying amounts of goodwill assets 
annually by segment to determine if such assets may be impaired. If the carrying amounts of these assets are not recoverable based upon a 
discounted cash flow analysis, such assets are reduced by the estimated shortfall of fair value to recorded value. At December 31, 2006, the 
Company had $16.9 million of goodwill, $13.0 million attributable to the Housing reporting unit and $3.9 million attributable to the RV 
reporting unit. The RV reporting unit goodwill originated from the Company’s purchase of recreational vehicle assets. The Company 
conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as required by FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, during the 
fourth quarter of 2006 and the results indicated that the estimated fair value of each of the Company’s reporting units exceeded their 
carrying value. As a result of the continued weakness in the RV market, combined with continuing losses incurred by the RV reporting unit, 
SFAS No. 142 required the Company to perform an interim goodwill impairment evaluation during the quarter ended June 30, 2007. Because
the carrying value of the RV reporting unit exceeded its fair value as calculated using the expected present value of future cash flows, the 
Company concluded that the goodwill was impaired as of June 30, 2007. Accordingly, the Company recorded a non-cash goodwill 
impairment charge of $3.9 million in the quarter ended June 30, 2007. The Company has performed the required annual impairment tests and 
has determined that there was no impairment indicated for remaining Housing reporting unit goodwill at December 31, 2007.

11. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, Continued.

2005  
Accounts and other receivables $ 781
Prepaid expenses 51
Inventories 909
Other long-term assets 437
Fixed assets 4,144
Accounts payable (116)
Other current liabilities (495)

Net assets held for sale $ 5,711
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Lease Commitments

The Company leases various manufacturing and office facilities under non-cancelable agreements that expire at various dates through 
November 2011. Several of the leases contain renewal options and options to purchase and require the payment of property taxes, normal 
maintenance and insurance on the properties. Certain office and delivery equipment is also leased under non-cancelable agreements that 
expire at various dates through October 2012. The above-described leases are accounted for as operating leases. 

Future minimum annual operating lease commitments at December 31, 2007 aggregated $4.3 million and are payable during the next 5 years 
as follows: 2008 - $1.3 million, 2009 - $1.1 million, 2010 - $1.0 million, 2011 - $0.7 million, and 2012 - $0.2 million. Total rental expense for the 
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 aggregated $1.5 million, $1.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively. 

Obligation to Purchase Consigned Inventories

The Company obtains vehicle chassis for its recreational vehicle products directly from automobile manufacturers under converter pool 
agreements. The agreements generally provide that the manufacturer will provide a supply of chassis at the Company's various production
facilities under the terms and conditions as set forth in the agreement. Chassis are accounted for as consigned inventory until assigned to a 
unit in the production process. At that point, the Company is obligated to purchase the chassis and it is recorded as inventory. At 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, chassis inventory, accounted for as consigned inventory, approximated $14.5 million and $11.4 million,
respectively.

Repurchase Agreements

The Company was contingently liable at December 31, 2007 to banks and other financial institutions on repurchase agreements in 
connection with financing provided by such institutions to most of the Company's independent dealers in connection with their purchase
of the Company's recreational vehicle products. These agreements provide for the Company to repurchase its products from the financing
institution in the event that they have repossessed them upon a dealer's default. Products repurchased from dealers under these
agreements are accounted for as a reduction in revenue and cost of sales at the time of repurchase. Although the estimated contingent
liability approximates $176 million at December 31, 2007 ($187 million at December 31, 2006), the risk of loss resulting from these agreements 
is spread over the Company's numerous dealers and is further reduced by the resale value of the products repurchased. Based on losses
previously experienced under these obligations, the Company has established a reserve for estimated losses under repurchase agreements.
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, $0.7 million and $0.3 million, respectively, was recorded as an accrual for estimated losses under repurchase 
agreements.

The Company was also contingently liable at December 31, 2007 to a financial institution on repurchase agreements in connection with 
financing provided by the institution to certain of the Company's independent home builders in connection with their purchase of the 
Company's housing products. This agreement provides for the Company to repurchase its products from the financing institution in the 
event that they have repossessed them upon a builder's default. Products repurchased from builders under this agreement are accounted
for as a reduction in revenue and cost of sales at the time of repurchase. Although the estimated contingent liability approximates $14.6 
million at December 31, 2007 ($16.2 million at December 31, 2006), the risk of loss resulting from these agreements is spread over the 
Company's numerous builders and is further reduced by the resale value of the products repurchased. The Company has evaluated the
potential for losses under this agreement and has recorded an accrual of $0.2 million at December 31, 2007 and $0.2 million at December 31, 
2006 for estimated losses under the repurchase agreement. 

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES.
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Corporate Guarantees

The Company was contingently liable under guarantees to financial institutions of their loans to independent dealers for amounts totaling 
approximately $2.6 million at December 31, 2007 and $3.9 million at December 31, 2006. The Company has an agreement with a financial
institution to form a private-label financing program to provide wholesale inventory financing to the Company's dealers in the RV Segment. 
The agreement provides for a preferred program that provides financing that is subject to the standard repurchase agreement described
above. In addition, the agreement provides for a reserve pool whereby the financial institution makes available an aggregate line of credit 
not to exceed $40 million that will provide financing for dealers that may not otherwise qualify for credit approval under the preferred
program. No dealer being provided financing from the reserve pool can receive an aggregate line of credit exceeding $5 million. In addition 
to the standard repurchase agreement described above, as of December 31, 2007 the Company was contingently liable to the financial
institutions up to a maximum of $2.0 million of aggregate losses, as defined by the agreement, incurred by the financial institutions on 
designated dealers with higher credit risks that are accepted into the reserve pool financing program. The Company has recorded a loss 
reserve of $0.1 million at December 31, 2007 and $0.1 million at December 31, 2006 associated with these guarantees. 

The Company is liable under an agreement to guarantee the indebtedness incurred by a recreational vehicle dealer towards the purchase of 
a dealership facility. The guarantee is in the principal amount of $1 million for a period of five years or until all indebtedness has been fully 
paid, whichever occurs first. The guarantee period expires in March 2009. The Company has evaluated the potential for losses under this 
agreement and has determined that the resolution of any claims that may arise in the future would not materially affect the Company's
financial statements. 

In addition, the Company is liable under a guarantee to a financial institution for model home financing provided to certain independent
builders doing business with the Company's Housing Segment. The amount outstanding under this agreement at December 31, 2007 is $0.4 
million ($0.4 million at December 31, 2006). Any losses incurred under this guarantee would be offset by the proceeds from the resale of the 
model home and losses are limited to 20% of the original contract price, and cannot exceed a total of $2.0 million. As of December 31, 2007, 
no losses have been incurred by the Company under the model home financing program. 

Financing Obligation

During the second quarter of 2004, the Company entered into an agreement to provide financing of up to $4.9 million to a developer for the 
construction of a hotel for which the Company was to provide modular units. As of December 31, 2007, the Company provided $2.3 
million in financing to the developer under this arrangement. No funding has been provided since December 2005. The loans are 
collateralized by a first priority interest in all tangible and intangible property of the borrower. The developer was unable to obtain a 
building permit, so the Company is pursuing its legal remedies through litigation to recoup the financing extended to date. During the 
fourth quarter of 2006, the Company obtained title to the real estate that was partial collateral for this note. In the event the sale of the 
property does not generate proceeds sufficient to cover the financing previously provided, the Company will continue pursuing its legal 
remedies to recover any shortfall. As of December 31, 2007, the Company has reserved an amount that Management believes the Company
may not recover; however, there is a potential for exposure in excess of the amount reserved. 

Change of Control Agreements

On February 3, 2000, the Company entered into Change of Control Agreements with key executives. Under the terms of these agreements,
in the event of a change in control of the Company, as defined, the Company would be obligated to pay these key executives for severance
and other benefits. These agreements had aggregated obligations of approximately $6.2 million and $8.3 million based on salaries and 
benefits at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. In addition, in the event of a change of control of the Company, all outstanding stock 
options and SAR's shall become immediately exercisable, restrictions are removed from restricted stock, and all stock awards shall
immediately be deemed fully achieved. 

Also on February 3, 2000, the Company established a rabbi trust, which in the event of a change of control, as defined, will be funded to 
cover the Company's obligations under its Change of Control Agreements and its deferred compensation plan. 

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES, Continued.
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Self-Insurance

The Company is self-insured for a portion of its product liability and certain other liability exposures. Depending on the nature of the claim 
and the date of occurrence, the Company's maximum exposure ranges from $250,000 to $500,000 per claim. The Company accrues an 
estimated liability based on various factors, including sales levels, insurance coverage and the amount of outstanding claims. Management
believes the liability recorded (see Note 7) is adequate to cover the Company's self-insured risk. 

Litigation

On March 21, 2005, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with The Coleman Company, Inc. to resolve the licensing agreement
suit. Pursuant to the settlement agreement, the Company has received $4.4 million from The Coleman Company, Inc. in exchange for
releasing all claims in the suit. The settlement of $4.4 million was paid in two installments of $2.2 million, one of which was received by the 
Company on March 23, 2005 and the second of which was received on April 20, 2005, plus interest. In addition, the agreement provides for 
the potential of an additional payment of $0.5 million if certain provisions of the agreement are breached. The settlement of $4.4 million was 
recorded in the first quarter of 2005 as a reduction of $1.7 million to cost of sales and a reduction of $0.5 million to operating expenses at the 
RV Segment plus a reduction of $2.2 million to the Company’s general and administrative expenses. 

During 2005, the Company settled a personal injury suit for $5.0 million, $1.0 million of which was paid by the Company’s primary insurance 
carrier. The Company’s self-insured retention is $250,000. During 2005, the Company paid $1.5 million in addition to the amount paid by its 
primary carrier and recorded another current liability of $2.5 million to recognize the remaining amount to be paid on the settlement and the 
$250,000 retention. During June 2006, the remaining liability of $2.5 million was paid. Since the excess carrier initially denied coverage, the 
Company filed suit against the excess carrier to enforce coverage. During the first quarter of 2006, the matter was settled for $2.875 million, 
which the Company received on March 15, 2006 and was recorded as a reduction to the RV Segment’s general and administrative expenses. 
There remains ongoing litigation against other parties to recover the balance over the retention. 

During the first quarter of 2006, the Company also entered into a partial settlement of another insurance matter for $0.75 million, net of a 
contingency fee. This amount was recorded as a reduction to the Company's general and administrative expenses in the first quarter. The 
settlement was received during the second quarter of 2006. 

The Company finalized arbitration with a housing customer over damages resulting from a construction project during the third quarter of 
2006 and the final settlement did not exceed the amount the Company had previously accrued for this matter. 

On November 21, 2006 the Company received a summons from the Internal Revenue Service which requires the Company to produce 
various documents relating to its research and development claims filed with the Internal Revenue Service for the tax years 1999 through 
2004. On March 6, 2007 the Company received an additional summons from the Internal Revenue Service related to this matter regarding tax 
years 1984 through 1988. 

The Company was named as a defendant in McGuire v. Gulf Stream Coach, Inc., which was filed as a class action on April 9, 2007 in the 
United States District Court for the Eastern District of Louisiana. The factual basis alleged is that the plaintiffs were exposed to 
formaldehyde in FEMA travel trailers, which exposure constitutes a manifest injury requiring medical monitoring to thwart development of 
disease. Plaintiffs sought the following relief: class certification, which was denied; payment into a court-supervised medical monitoring 
fund; removal of all formaldehyde-existing materials from all trailers and modification to provide adequate ventilation; repair and testing to 
prevent further exposure; attorney’s fees and costs; and other appropriate relief. Company filed a motion to dismiss on the basis that none 
of named plaintiffs received a Coachmen trailer. The case and motion are currently pending before the U.S. Judicial Panel on Multidistrict
Litigation. Other litigation has also been filed, in which the Company may become a party. 

The Company is involved in various other legal proceedings, most of which are ordinary disputes incidental to the industry and most of 
which are covered in whole or in part by insurance. Management believes that the ultimate outcome of these matters and any liabilities in 
excess of insurance coverage and self-insurance accruals will not have a material adverse impact on the Company's consolidated financial 
position, future business operations or cash flows. 

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES, Continued.
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Certain selected unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 is as follows (in thousands):

Note: The Unaudited Interim Financial Information above has shipping and handling costs reclassified for years prior to 2007, and should 
be read in conjunction with Note 1, Nature of Operations and Accounting Policies.

13. UNAUDITED INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION.

    2007
    Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
             

Net sales $ 130,244 $ 149,763 $ 123,854 $ 76,979
Gross profit 1,427 5,994 7,758 (2,462)
Net loss from continuing operations (10,448) (10,123) (4,344) (13,837)
Net loss (10,448) (10,123) (4,344) (13,837)
Net loss per common share - Basic 

Continuing operations (.67) (.64) (.28) (.87)
Discontinuing operations - - - -

(.67) (.64) (.28) (.87)
Net loss per common share - Diluted 

Continuing operations (.67) (.64) (.28) (.87)
Discontinuing operations - - - -

$ (.67) $ (.64) $ (.28) $ (.87)

2006
Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Net sales $ 162,554 $ 155,321 $ 130,715 $ 115,792
Gross profit 6,413 8,070 5,981 (248)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 404 480 (2,733) (31,366)
Net profit (loss) 2,910 304 (3,516) (31,503)
Net profit (loss) per common share - Basic 

Continuing operations .03 .03 (.17) (2.01)
Discontinuing operations .16 (.01) (.05) (0.01)

.19 .02 (.22) (2.02)
Net profit (loss) per common share - Diluted 

Continuing operations .03 .03 (.17) (2.01)
Discontinuing operations .16 (.01) (.05) (0.01)

$ .19 $ .02 $ (.22) $ (2.02)
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Not Applicable in 2007. 

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's management, with the participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an 
evaluation, as of December 31, 2007, of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures; as such term is defined under Exchange Act Rule 
13a-15(e). Based on this evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report. 

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company's internal control 
over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree or compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In making this 
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment and those criteria, management believes that the Company maintained 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. 

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent 
registered public accounting firm as stated in their report, which appears on page 38.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f)) occurred during 
the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2007 that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control 
over financial reporting. 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

• Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the Company;

• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors; and

• Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Part III.

(a) Identification of Directors

Information regarding the Registrant's directors is contained under the caption "Election of Directors" in the Company's Proxy Statement dated 
March 27, 2008 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

(b) Executive Officers of the Company

See "Executive Officers of the Registrant" contained herein. 

(c) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Information for "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" is contained under that caption in the Company's Proxy Statement 
dated March 27, 2008 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

(d) Code of Ethics

The Company has adopted a code of ethics that applies to all of its directors, officers (including its chief executive officer, chief operating 
officer, chief financial officer, chief accounting officer and any person performing similar functions) and employees. The Company has made the 
Code of Ethics available on its website at http://www.coachmen.com.

(e) Audit Committee and Financial Expert of the Audit Committee

Information regarding the Registrant's Audit Committee, including the committee members designated as Financial Experts is contained under 
the caption "Audit Committee" in the Company's Proxy Statement dated March 27, 2008 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

(f) Nominations for Director

Information regarding the Registrant's procedures for nominations for director is contained under the caption "Nomination for Director" in the 
Company's Proxy Statement dated March 27, 2008 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

Information for Item 11 is contained under the headings "Management Development/Compensation Committee," “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis,” and "Outside Director Compensation" in the Company's Proxy Statement dated March 27, 2008 and is incorporated herein by 
reference.

Information for Item 12 is contained under the captions "Directors' and Officers' Stock Ownership" and "Stock Ownership Information" in the 
Company's Proxy Statement dated March 27, 2008 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
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The following table summarizes share and exercise price information about the Company's equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2007: 

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Information for Item 13 is contained under the heading “Determination of Independence of Directors” in the Company’s Proxy Statement dated 
March 27, 2008 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

Information regarding the Principal Accountant Fees and Services is contained under the caption "Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm" in the Company's Proxy Statement dated March 27, 2008 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

Part IV.

1. Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2007 and 2006
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules required by Form 10-K Annual Report have been omitted because they were inapplicable, included in the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements, or otherwise not required under instructions contained in Regulation SX. 

3. Exhibits

See Index to Exhibits.

Plan Category

# of securities
to be issued

upon exercise of
outstanding

options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding
options,

warrants and 
rights

# of securities 
remaining

available for future 
issuance under 

equity
compensation

plans
           

Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders 133,650 $ 12.20 1,386,157

Equity compensation plans not approved by shareholders - - -

Total 133,650 $ 12.20 1,386,157

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(a) The following Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule are included in Item 8 herein.
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SCHEDULE II

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in thousands)

Description

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Additions Charged
to Costs

and Expenses
Payment or
Utilization

Balance at End
of Period

                
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2007:

Allowance for doubtful accounts: $ 1,134 $ 512 $ 902  (A) $ 744

Product warranty reserves: $ 11,099 $ 16,787 $ 19,763  (B) $ 8,123

Repurchase agreement and Corporate guarantee loss 
reserves: $ 635 $ 618 $ 327 $ 926

Valuation allowance against deferred tax assets: $ 24,731 $ 13,292 $ - $ 38,023

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2006:

Allowance for doubtful accounts: $ 1,240 $ 1,631 $ (1,737) (A) $ 1,134

Product warranty reserves: $ 20,005 $ 21,598 $ (30,504
  (B) 
) (C) $ 11,099

Repurchase agreement and Corporate guarantee loss 
reserves: $ 775 $ 356 $ (496) $ 635

Valuation allowance against deferred tax assets: $ - $  24,731  (D)$ - $ 24,731

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2005:

Allowance for doubtful accounts: $ 919 $ 988 $ (667) (A) $ 1,240

Product warranty reserves: $ 10,140 $ 34,771  (C)$ (24,906) (B) $ 20,005

Repurchase agreement and Corporate guarantee loss 
reserves: $ 726 $ 225 $ (176) $ 775

(A)   Write-off of bad debts, less recoveries.
(B) Claims paid, less recoveries.
(C) Reflects increase due to specific warranty issues which occurred in 2005, primarily camping trailer lift systems and sidewall lamination

issues within the RV Segment.
(D)   Allowance charged to Continuing Operations $24,360, Discontinued Operations $371.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant and in the capacities as of February 28, 2008.  

   COACHMEN INDUSTRIES, INC.
    
Date: February 28, 2008
    
    
   /s/ R. M. Lavers
   R. M. Lavers
   (Chief Executive Officer)
    
    
    
   /s/ C. A. Zuhl
   C. A. Zuhl
   (Chief Financial Officer)
    
    
   /s/ M. L. Miranda
   M. L. Miranda
   (Vice President, Treasurer and Corporate Controller)

/s/ G. B. Bloom /s/ D. W. Hudler
G. B. Bloom D. W. Hudler
(Director) (Director)
    
    
    
/s/ R. J. Deputy /s/ W. P. Johnson
R. J. Deputy W. P. Johnson
(Director) (Director, Chairman of the Board)
    
    
    
/s/ J. A. Goebel /s/ E. W. Miller
J. A. Goebel E. W. Miller
(Director) (Director)
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Coachmen Industries, Inc.

Performance Graph (New Peer Group)

The following graph sets forth the cumulative total shareholder return of the Company's Common Stock as compared to the S&P 500 and a 
group of peer issuers selected by the Company. The stock price performance shown on the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future 
price performance. Due to the bankruptcy and subsequent de-listing of National R.V. Holdings, Inc., the Peer Group was altered for 2007 to 
include Champion Enterprises, Inc. which replaces National R.V. Holdings, Inc. The companies comprising the New Peer Group are Champion
Enterprises, Inc., Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc., Monaco Coach Corporation, Skyline Corporation, Thor Industries, Inc., and Winnebago
Industries, Inc. The total return of each company in the Peer Group has been weighted according to Coachmen's stock market capitalization as 
of the beginning of each period. 

Assumes $100 invested at the close of trading on the last trading day preceding the first day of the fifth preceding fiscal year in Coachmen 
common stock, S&P 500, and New Peer Group. The S&P 500 Index returns were obtained directly by COACHMEN INDS from the S&P web site,
www.standardandpoors.com.

*Cumulative total return assumes reinvestment of dividends.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
        

Coachmen Industries, Inc. $100.00 $116.79 $113.61 $78.81 $74.59 $40.59
S&P 500 Index 100.00 128.68 142.67 149.65 173.28 182.81
New Peer Group 100.00 160.65 198.16 192.13 185.08 152.89

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of $100

(Performance Results through 12/31/07)
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Coachmen Industries, Inc.

Performance Graph (Old Peer Group)

The following graph sets forth the cumulative total shareholder return of the Company's Common Stock as compared to the S&P 500 and a 
group of peer issuers selected by the Company. The stock price performance shown on the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future 
price performance. The companies comprising the Old Peer Group are Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc., Monaco Coach Corporation, National RV 
Holdings, Skyline Corporation, Thor Industries, Inc., and Winnebago Industries, Inc. The total return of each company in the Peer Group has 
been weighted according to Coachmen's stock market capitalization as of the beginning of each period. 

Assumes $100 invested at the close of trading on the last trading day preceding the first day of the fifth preceding fiscal year in Coachmen 
common stock, S&P 500, and Old Peer Group. The S&P 500 Index returns were obtained directly by COACHMEN INDS from the S&P web site,
www.standardandpoors.com.

*Cumulative total return assumes reinvestment of dividends.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
        

Coachmen Industries, Inc. $100.00 $116.79 $113.61 $78.81 $74.59 $40.59
S&P 500 Index 100.00 128.68 142.67 149.65 173.28 182.81
Old Peer Group 100.00 156.50 185.18 173.09 175.95 139.48

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of $100

(Performance Results through 12/31/07)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

RICHARD M. LAVERS age 60

President & Chief Executive Officer

COLLEEN A. ZUHL age 41

Chief Financial Officer

Coachmen Recreational Vehicle Company, LLC
Middlebury, Indiana
574-825-5821
www.coachmenrv.com

All American Homes, LLC
Decatur, Indiana
260-724-8044
www.allamericanhomes.com

All American Homes of Colorado, LLC
Milliken, Colorado
970-587-0544

All American Homes of Indiana, LLC
Decatur, Indiana
260-724-9171

HOUSING GROUP

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE GROUP
SUBSIDIARIES

(Excludes d iscont inued operat ions)

(Excludes d iscont inued operat ions)

Coachmen Industries, Inc.
Financial Department
P.O. Box 30
Middlebury, IN 46540
For more information visit our 
website: www.coachmen.com

Independent Auditors:
Ernst & Young LLP
Grand Rapids, MI

Stock
Symbol:

10-K Furnished:
Securities and Exchange
Commission Form 10-K is
available without charge to
shareholders upon written
request to the Company or 
via the Internet at 
www.coachmen.com

The Company has filed its annual certification to the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) stating the CEO is not aware of any violation by the
Company of the NYSE corporate governance listing standards.

The Company has filed with the SEC as exhibits to the 2007 Form 10-K the required CEO and CFO certifications (Section 302 and 906 certifications),
which are required to be filed with the SEC regarding the quality of the Company’s public disclosures.

Investor Contact:
Jeffery A. Tryka, CFA
Corporate Secretary
Director of Planning &
Investor Relations
574-825-8238
jtryka@coachmen.com

Committee Memberships:     (1) Audit     (2) Governance     (3) Management Development/Compensation

RICK J. BEDELL age 55

President, Housing Group

LESLIE G. THIMLAR age 52

Vice President of Human Resources

Coachmen Recreational Vehicle 
Company of Georgia, LLC
Fitzgerald, Georgia
229-423-5471

Georgie Boy Manufacturing, LLC
Middlebury, Indiana
877-876-9024
www.georgieboy.com

All American Homes of Iowa, LLC
Dyersville, Iowa
563-875-2421

All American Homes of North Carolina, LLC
Rutherfordton, North Carolina
828-245-2140

All American Building Systems, LLC
Decatur, Indiana
260-724-9171

Mod-U-Kraf Homes, LLC
Rocky Mount, Virginia
540-483-0291
www.mod-u-kraf.com

MICHAEL R. TERLEP, JR. age 46

President, RV Group; Coachmen
Recreational Vehicle Company, LLC

TODD WOELFER age 40

General Counsel

WILLIAM P. JOHNSON 1,2 age 65

Chairman of the Board 
Coachmen Industries, Inc.
Chairman of the Board and CEO
Flying J, LLC

GEOFFREY B. BLOOM 2,3 age 66

Past Chairman of the Board (Retired 2005)

Wolverine World Wide, Inc.

ROBERT J. DEPUTY 2,3 age 69

Past President and CEO (Retired 2006)

Godfrey Marine

JOHN A. GOEBEL 1, 2 age 64

Past President (Retired 2003) 

Homecrest Corp.

DONALD W. HUDLER 3 age 73

President and CEO
DDH Investments of Texas

RICHARD M. LAVERS age 60

President & Chief Executive Officer
Coachmen Industries, Inc.

EDWIN W. MILLER 1 age 62

Chairman of the Board and CEO
Millennium Capital Group

Viking Recreational Vehicles, LLC
Centreville, Michigan
269-467-6321
www.vikingrv.com

CORPORATE OFFICE:
423 North Main Street
Middlebury, IN 46540

Transfer Agent & Registrar:
National City Bank
Shareholder Services Operations
Dept. 5352
P.O. Box 92301
Cleveland, OH 44193-0900



COACHMEN INDUSTRIES, INC.
P.O. Box 30

Middlebury, IN 46540

(574) 825-5821
www.coachmen.com

© 2008 Coachmen Industries, Inc.
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